
Please note:  Certain or all items on this agenda may be recorded

Principal Scrutiny Adviser:
Angela Brogden
Tel: 24 74553

Produced on Recycled Paper

A

SCRUTINY BOARD (ENVIRONMENT AND HOUSING)

Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds, LS1 1UR on
Thursday, 19th January, 2017 at 10.00 am

(A pre-meeting will take place for ALL Members of the Board at 9.30 a.m.)

MEMBERSHIP

Councillors

 J Bentley Weetwood;
A Blackburn Farnley and Wortley;

K Bruce Rothwell;
D Collins Horsforth;
A Gabriel Beeston and Holbeck;

A Garthwaite Headingley;
P Grahame Cross Gates and Whinmoor;

A Khan Burmantofts and Richmond Hill;
A Lamb (Chair) Wetherby;

M Lyons Temple Newsam;
K Ritchie Bramley and Stanningley;

G Wilkinson Wetherby;

Public Document Pack



B

A G E N D A

Item
No

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No

1  APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS

To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 25* of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded).

(* In accordance with Procedure Rule 25, notice of 
an appeal must be received in writing by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting).

2  EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

1 To highlight reports or appendices which 
officers have identified as containing exempt 
information, and where officers consider that 
the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report.

2 To consider whether or not to accept the 
officers recommendation in respect of the 
above information.

3 If so, to formally pass the following 
resolution:-

RESOLVED – That the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the 
agenda designated as containing exempt 
information on the grounds that it is likely, in 
view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, 
that if members of the press and public were 
present there would be disclosure to them of 
exempt information, as follows:

No exempt items have been identified.



Item
No

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No

C

3  LATE ITEMS

To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration.

(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes.)

4  DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY 
INTERESTS

To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable 
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31 
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct.

5  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND 
NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTES

To receive any apologies for absence and 
notification of substitutes.

6  MINUTES - 8 DECEMBER 2016

To confirm as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting held on 8th December 2016.

1 - 6

7  HOUSING RELATED MATTERS

To receive a report from the Director of 
Environment and Housing covering particular 
areas of housing policy/activity as requested by the 
Scrutiny Board.

7 - 26

8  PERFORMANCE UPDATE

To receive a report from the Director of 
Environment and Housing presenting a 
performance update surrounding those areas 
relevant to the Board’s remit.

27 - 
48



Item
No

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No

D

9  FINANCIAL HEALTH MONITORING

To receive a report from the Head of Governance 
and Scrutiny Support presenting the latest 
Financial Health Monitoring information for the 
Board’s consideration.

49 - 
82

10  2017/18 INITIAL BUDGET PROPOSALS

To receive a report from the Head of Governance 
and Scrutiny Support presenting the initial budget 
proposals for 2017/18.

83 - 
136

11  WORK SCHEDULE

To consider the Board’s work schedule for the 
forthcoming municipal year.

137 - 
160

12  DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

Thursday, 16 February 2017 at 10.00 am 
(Pre-meeting for all Board Members at 9.30 am)



Item
No

Ward/Equal 
Opportunities

Item Not
Open

Page
No

E

THIRD PARTY RECORDING

Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable 
those not present to see or hear the proceedings 
either as they take place (or later) and to enable 
the reporting of those proceedings.  A copy of the 
recording protocol is available from the contacts on 
the front of this agenda.

Use of Recordings by Third Parties – code of 
practice

a) Any published recording should be 
accompanied by a statement of when and 
where the recording was made, the context 
of the discussion that took place, and a 
clear identification of the main speakers 
and their role or title.

b) Those making recordings must not edit the 
recording in a way that could lead to 
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of 
the proceedings or comments made by 
attendees.  In particular there should be no 
internal editing of published extracts; 
recordings may start at any point and end 
at any point but the material between those 
points must be complete. 



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 19th January, 2017

SCRUTINY BOARD (ENVIRONMENT AND HOUSING)

THURSDAY, 8TH DECEMBER, 2016

PRESENT: Councillor G Wilkinson in the Chair

Councillors A Blackburn, K Bruce, 
D Collins, A Gabriel, A Garthwaite, 
P Grahame, A Khan, A Lamb, M Lyons and 
K Ritchie

53 Appointment of Chair 

Having been unable to attend the Board’s November meeting, Councillor P 
Grahame wished to express her disappointment that Councillor J Procter had 
resigned as Chair of the Board, following his recent appointment as a Member 
of the European Parliament (MEP).

RESOLVED – That Councillor G Wilkinson be appointed Chair for the 
duration of the December Board meeting.

54 Late Items 

There were no late items.

55 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

There were no disclosable pecuniary interests declared to the meeting.

56 Apologies for Absence and Notification of Substitutes 

Apologies for absence were submitted by Councillors J Bentley and J Procter.  

Notification had been received that Councillor A Lamb was to substitute for 
Councillor J Procter.

57 Minutes - 24 November 2016 

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 24 November 2016 be 
approved as a correct record.

58 Matters arising from the minutes 

Minute No. 51 – Work Schedule

The Board was advised that the working group meeting of the Strategy and 
Resources Scrutiny Board in relation to the Best Council Plan had been 
moved to Monday, 16 January 2017 at 9.30 am.  It was reported that 
Councillor A Blackburn had agreed to attend the working group meeting.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 19th January, 2017

Councillor A Garthwaite had submitted her apologies.  Any other Board 
Members interested in attending were advised to contact Angela Brogden, 
Principal Scrutiny Adviser.

59 Scrutiny Inquiry into improving air quality in Leeds - session 2 

The Head of Governance and Scrutiny Support submitted a report which 
presented information in relation to session 2 of the Board’s inquiry into 
improving air quality in Leeds.

The following were in attendance:

- Councillor Lucinda Yeadon, Executive Member for Environment and 
Sustainability

- Councillor Rebecca Charlwood, Executive Member for Health, 
Wellbeing and Adults

- Councillor Denise Ragan, Scrutiny Board Member (City Development) 
- Neil Evans, Director of Environment and Housing
- Polly Cook, Executive Programme Manager, Strategy and Resources
- Andrew Hall, Head of Transportation
- Kevin McGready, Advanced Health Improvement Specialist 
- Dr Judith Y T Wang, Associate Professor in Transport Engineering – 

Resilient Transportation, University of Leeds
- Jane Astrid Devane, Shire Oak Primary School.

The key areas of discussion were:

 Utilising the Council’s website to help raise awareness and share 
information – the Board acknowledged that the Council’s website 
would act as an information hub, including signposting to other 
relevant webpages.

 State of the City workshop - a suggestion was made that the 
presentation provided at the recent State of the City workshop meeting 
regarding air quality be publicised on the Council’s website.

 Other consultation and engagement initiatives – the Board 
acknowledged the range of existing and proposed initiatives targeted 
at key stakeholder groups which had been categorised as businesses, 
residents and schools (parents and children).

 Engaging with local schools – the Board discussed the importance of 
working with children and parents in terms of exploring alternative 
greener options for travelling to school and welcomed the input of Dr 
Wang from the University of Leeds in this regard.  

 ‘Green Week’ pilot initiative - particular reference was made to the pilot 
initiative undertaken with Shire Oak Primary School in Headingley, 
which had a particular focus on Air Quality.  The Board welcomed the 
attendance of the Headteacher of Shire Oak Primary School who 
highlighted the key outcomes arising from this initiative and also 
shared her views on expanding this work to other schools. 

 The importance of joined up working involving planning and highways – 
concerns were raised about the impact of poor air quality, particularly 

Page 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 19th January, 2017

in relation to planned development close to main roads.  As such, the 
Board emphasised the importance of a joined up approach involving 
planning and highways and agreed to explore this further as part of its 
ongoing inquiry.

 Instigating behaviour change towards more sustainable transport 
modes – it was recognised that more information was needed to help 
inform members of the public about the environmental benefits of 
electric and hybrid cars.  Particular reference was also made to the 
Council’s efforts in working with bus companies and taxi and private 
hire licensing surrounding more sustainable transport modes.  
However, it was noted that the Board’s next inquiry session would be 
focusing on transport related matters in more detail. 

 Working closely with Small and Medium Enterprises – it was 
acknowledged that further work was needed to engage with local small 
and medium sized businesses. Linked to this, the Board was informed 
that the local Chamber of Commerce had been unable to send a 
representative to attend today’s meeting, but welcomed the 
opportunity to submit views in writing and also attend future inquiry 
sessions.

 Industry pollution data - a request was made for the Board to receive 
further information regarding the impacts of local industry pollution.

RESOLVED – 

(a) That the above issues raised as part of session 2 of the Board’s inquiry 
into improving air quality in Leeds, be noted.

(b) That the requests for information be provided.

(Councillor A Khan joined the meeting at 10.50am during the consideration of 
this item.)

(Councillor D Collins left the meeting at 11.30am at the conclusion of this 
item.)

60 Peckfield Landfill Site - Update 

The Head of Governance and Scrutiny Support submitted a report which 
presented a general update and written response from the Environment 
Agency in relation to Peckfield Landfill Site.

The following were in attendance:

- Councillor James Lewis, Ward Member for Kippax and Methley
- Louise White, Minerals & Waste Team Leader, City Development
- Christine Boothroyd, Local resident and member of the Peckfield 

Liaison Committee.

The key areas of discussion were:

Page 3



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 19th January, 2017

 The Board noted the written response of the Area Environment 
Manager (West Yorkshire) at the Environment Agency as well as 
acknowledging the meeting held between her and the Scrutiny Board 
Chair on 24th November.  In Councillor Procter’s absence, the Principal 
Scrutiny Adviser gave a brief overview of the issues raised during this 
meeting, with particular reference made to the existing demands 
placed upon the Environment Agency resources available across the 
district.

 Concerns were still raised that the Environment Agency had declined 
an invitation to attend today’s meeting.  Whilst the Board 
acknowledged the willingness of the Area Environment Manager (West 
Yorkshire) to also meet with the new Scrutiny Board Chair, it was felt 
that this should be extended to the full Scrutiny Board.  As such, the 
Board requested that the new Scrutiny Board Chair continues to liaise 
with the Environment Agency to stress the importance of their 
attendance and to make arrangements for them to meet with the full 
Scrutiny Board. 

 The Board discussed the role of the Peckfield Liaison Committee and it 
was suggested that Board Members may also wish to attend and 
observe a future meeting of this Committee. 

 The Board noted that local residents had now sought the assistance of 
the local MP to escalate this matter and were also seeking support to 
declare the current situation as a statutory nuisance under the 
Environment Protection Act 1990 with a proposal to seek a reduction in 
council tax for the residents of Micklefield and Peckfield.

 The Board continued to discuss the role of the Council and the 
Environment Agency, particularly in terms of holding the operator to 
account.  Linked to this, the Board discussed the distinctions between 
the role of the Environment Agency and the Council’s Environmental 
Action Teams.

 The Minerals & Waste Team Leader provided an update from a 
planning perspective and highlighted the operator’s intention to submit 
a S73 Variation of Condition planning application aimed at addressing 
existing phasing and access issues on site.  The Board discussed 
potential submission deadlines and noted that this was likely to be 
February/March 2017.

 Particular clarification was sought regarding the operator’s 
environmental management system.  It was suggested that the 
Environment Agency be asked to provide further details regarding this.

RESOLVED – 

(a) That the written response provided by the Environment Agency, be 
noted.

(b) That the progress update provided by the Council’s Minerals & Waste 
Planning Team, be noted.

(c) That the above requests for information be provided.
(d) That the new Scrutiny Board Chair continues to liaise with the 

Environment Agency to stress the importance of their attendance and 
to make arrangements for them to meet with the full Scrutiny Board.

Page 4



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Thursday, 19th January, 2017

(Councillor A Khan left the meeting at 12.20pm during the consideration of 
this item.)

61 Work Schedule 

The Head of Governance Services and Scrutiny Support submitted a report 
which invited Members to consider the Board’s work schedule for the 2016/17 
municipal year.

The Board was advised that the January meeting was themed around housing 
and was to include an update on Tenant Scrutiny Board.  It was noted that the 
Board would also be considering the initial 2017/18 budget proposals during 
its January meeting.

RESOLVED – That subject to any on-going discussions and scheduling 
decisions, the Board’s outline work schedule be approved.

62 Date and Time of Next Meeting 

Thursday, 19 January 2017 at 10.00am (Pre-meeting for all Board Members 
at 9.30am)

(The meeting concluded at 12.40pm)

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Report of Director of Environment and Housing

Report to Environment & Housing Scrutiny Board

Date: 19 January 2017

Subject: Housing Theme – Update 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes X  No
If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion 
and integration?

  Yes X No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No
If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 
This report provides an update on four key housing issues which were identified by 
Environment and Housing Scrutiny Board as particular areas of interest at the October 
meeting.  They are as follows:

 Implications and progress relating to the 2016 Housing and Planning Act;
 The quality of private rented sector housing;
 Issues with Right to Buy properties after completion;
 Turnaround times for filling void Council properties.

The report also includes an update on the Tenant Scrutiny Board and their recent enquiry 
work.

Recommendations

Scrutiny Board is requested to note the content of this report and identify areas for further 
investigation. 

Report author:  Mandy Sawyer
Tel: 276430

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



2

1. Purpose of this report
The report covers areas of housing policy / activity highlighted by the Board and sets 
out the context, current position and the key challenges or next steps. 

2. Main Issues

2.1 Housing and Planning Act

2.2 The Housing and Planning Bill gained Royal Ascent on 12 May 2016.  The Act 
provided the necessary legislation to implement a number of Government proposals 
including:
 Provision of Starter homes;
 The sale of higher value vacant local authority homes;
 Pay to Stay;
 Mandatory use of fixed term tenancies;
 Extension of right to buy to Housing Associations; and
 Reforms to private rented sector.

2.3 An overview of the provisions in the Act was presented at the October meeting of 
Scrutiny Board. An update on the latest position for each of the major strands is 
detailed below:

2.4 Starter Homes
 We are still waiting for the government to make changes to national planning 

policy.  At the moment we don’t know how many homes will be built, whether 
Starter Homes will replace affordable housing, or the qualifying criteria for 
buying a Starter Home.  There has also been a significant shift in housing policy 
in recent months which may impact upon the government’s desire to deliver 
starter homes. More detail is expected in the forthcoming Housing White Paper.

2.5 Sale of Higher Value Vacant Local Authority Homes
 Government announced in November 2016 that this policy will be delayed for at 

least 12 months, with an expected implementation date of April 2018. The 
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) have not yet 
issued further guidance on how ‘higher value’ will be determined. This makes it 
impossible to assess the likely impact on the Housing Revenue Account 
Business Plan and to consider alternative options to pay the levy ahead of the 
expected implementation date.

 It is also unclear at this stage how the proceeds raised through the sale of high 
value homes will be used to fund a replacement property and subsidise right to 
buy in Registered Provider homes.

2.6 Higher Income Social Tenants: Mandatory Rents or ‘Pay to Stay’
 It was announced in November 2016 that the government will no longer be 

implementing pay to stay.

Page 8



3

2.7 Mandatory Fixed Term Tenancies
 The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) are expected 

to issue draft guidance and regulations for consultation in early 2017. Leeds is 
represented on the national working group and will respond formally to the 
consultation. Once the final guidance and regulations are issued the council will 
need to review the tenancy agreement. The tenancy agreement was last 
reviewed in 2008, and in addition to the statutory changes required there are a 
number of amendments the council proposes to make sure the agreement 
remains fit for purpose.

 The council will also need to review its existing Tenancy Strategy and Tenancy 
Policy to incorporate the proposed changes and ensure we have a robust 
process in place for managing fixed term tenancies.

 To date we are aware of limited circumstances where existing secure tenants 
will retain their security of tenure if they transfer to another property. These are 
likely to be tenants who downsize to a smaller property and tenants who are 
required to move due to regeneration schemes. 

 Further discussions are taking place regarding other management moves and 
moves due to domestic violence and abuse. 

 At present we anticipate the new regulations will not be in place before Autumn 
2017.

2.8 Private Rented Sector
 The Act is broadly welcomed in terms of the Private Rented Sector. Again 

Leeds is represented on one of the DCLG working groups, but no detailed 
guidance has been issued to date. The main proposals include:

- Introduction of the option to serve Civil Penalties as an alternative to 
Prosecution.
We welcome the broad proposals but have requested further clarity and 
guidance on the parameters for use and levels of penalties.
We expect full consultation to commence shortly and the new proposals are 
likely to be implemented by April 2017.

- Extending the use of Rent Repayment Orders.
Again, we broadly welcome these proposals but have asked for further guidance 
and clarity on the detail and expect full consultation to commence shortly with a 
view to implementation in April 2017.

- Banning Orders / Rogue Landlord Database
Further detail is still awaited on the use of banning orders and which offences 
will be included in the criteria. Government /DCLG have now commenced 
technical work on developing a national database and we await further advice 
on this. Implementation is not expected until October 2017.

- Electrical Safety
Discussions are still ongoing and DCLG have requested evidence on proposals 
to require greater electrical safety checks in the PRS. We await further 
information but as yet there is no indication as to the extent or likely 
implementation for this proposal.

Page 9



4

- Improved Data Sharing
We are awaiting consultation on proposals to improve data sharing between 
Departments / Agencies that will improve intelligence on the sector. We expect 
this to be positive but do not yet have an implementation date for this proposal.

2.9 Further updates will be provided to Scrutiny Board on the Housing and Planning Act 
when DCLG guidance/regulations have been published.

2.10 Quality of Private Rented Sector Housing

2.11 The private rented sector continues to grow within the city with an estimated 60,000 
properties. This includes all privately rented accommodation – including university 
accommodation. There is no single market and the majority of these properties 
provide good quality homes for individuals and families. However, it is estimated that 
25% of the market is low market rents with some of the poorest housing in the city. 
This market has seen a significant growth in recent years and provides the biggest 
challenge to the Council.

2.12 The Council has mandatory and discretionary powers under the Housing Act 2004 to 
address standards in the sector.  Last year the Council:
 Received 2600 requests for service from tenants in the private rented sector;
 Inspected all properties under the Temporary Accommodation contract and let 

via the Private Sector Letting Scheme;
 Undertook work to improve the standards of 5500 individuals living in the sector.

2.13 The Council has a mandatory duty to licence all houses in multiple occupation which 
are 3 storeys and above and are occupied by 2 or more households and 5 or more 
people. The city has the largest number of such properties in the country, with 
around 2800 at any one time. Currently preparations have commenced for the third 
phase of licensing, where the majority of these will need relicensing in April/May next 
year. The cost of licensing to the Council is covered by the licence fee charged to 
owners.

2.14 In addition, the Government has recently issued further draft consultation to local 
authorities on proposals to widen the scope of Mandatory HMO Licensing. The 
Council has already made written representations and broadly welcomes this. 
However, the proposals appear to be limited in that they will remove the number of 
storey criteria but still retain the minimum number of tenants at the existing level of 5 
or more. In Leeds, this is likely to have a limited impact, although until full details are 
known it is difficult to accurately predict. It is anticipated that full details will be 
provided by Government early in the New Year with implementation during 2017.

2.15 Further initiatives were agreed by Executive Board in March 2016 to further enhance 
standards within the private rented sector. The service has begun to implement two 
further strategies:

a) Replace the existing Leeds Landlord Accreditation Scheme (LLAS) with a 
new sector led Leeds Rental Standard. The aim is to introduce an element of self-
regulation in the market whereby good landlords will voluntarily meet agreed 
property and management standards. This will be overseen by a governing body 

Page 10



5

administered by the sector and with Council approval. The successful introduction 
of such a scheme will be unique across the country and will allow the Council to 
target its limited resources on the areas of greatest need.

Detailed preparations and discussions have now taken place with key private sector 
groups including the Residential Landlord Association (RLA), the National Landlord 
Association (NLA) and Unipol. Significant progress has been achieved and the 
sector has now proposed a singular approach, detailed governance procedures, 
and a detailed business case and costing plan. These are being discussed further 
with the intention that a new Leeds Rental Standard will be launched early in the 
New Year. 

b) Creation of a rogue landlord unit – this is a specific small team of officers 
(taken from existing resources) that are tasked with identifying those landlords who 
consistently act in a criminal or rogue manner. The proactive action will be robust 
and co-ordinated with other services and agencies to maximise impact. 

Although this new Unit has only been operational for a number of months, it has 
already taken significant targeted action against a number of poorly performing 
rogue/criminal landlords. This action has included the use of Prohibition Orders, 
Improvement Notices, charging notices and Formal Prosecutions.
In addition, closer working relationships have been developed with other 
Departments (Revenues and Resources, Planning etc) and agencies (Police, 
Immigration etc) to ensure all enforcement is fully co-ordinated to maximise the 
actions taken.

2.16 As part of addressing standards in the sector the Council continued with its Leeds 
Neighbourhood Approach in Holbeck, targeting 185 properties in the Recreations to 
address poor quality homes, return empty homes back into occupation and working 
with partners to address issues affecting individuals concerns. These include access 
to health services, addressing social and financial exclusion, fire safety, security and 
jobs and skills. In the first area all properties have been inspected and 370 hazards 
identified which are being addressed. 206 referrals have been made to partners to 
address issues and 50 out of the 70 empty homes returned to occupation. In July 
2016, Executive Board agreed that the approach should remain in Holbeck for a 
further 3 years. This will allow all properties to be visited and inspected, including all 
of the Council’s own stock to ensure full compliance with the relevant legislation. In 
November 2016 Executive Board agreed a further initiative to support more 
investment into Holbeck which will see an additional £4.5M funding.

2.17 Empty homes continue to be a priority for the service. The Core Planning Strategy 
has a target of a net reduction of 2000 empty homes from April 2012 to March 2017. 
As of August 2016 the net reduction was actually 2252. The Council has adopted a 
new Empty Homes Strategy for 2016 to 2019. This continues the work to address 
empty homes, not just by the work of the Council but also with partners in the 
Community Led Housing Sector. At its November meeting, Executive Board agreed 
to extend the support to the Empty Homes Doctor for a further 3 years at a cost of 
£100K per annum.

Page 11



6

2.18 Issues with Right to Buy (RTB) properties after completion.

2.19 Properties becoming private rented

2.20 At the October meeting of Environment and Housing Scrutiny Board, Members asked 
for an update on the number of RTBs that become private rented.  

2.21 Members queried the current ownership status of RTBs and what covenants are in 
place in relation to the use of property and permissions to use as private rented 
property.  A number of members queried whether we could expand covenants to be 
more prescriptive about controls, as they are aware of a number that are let as 
private rented housing as soon as they are sold.

2.22 Once a property is sold through RTB, the council do not have any control over what 
happens to the occupancy of that property unless it is sold on or the fabric of the 
property is altered or there is a breach of covenants.

2.23 There are no covenants as part of RTB legislation that requires the buyer to occupy 
the property after purchase. Prior to completion the council does carry out checks 
that there are no breaches of tenancies and the tenants are living at the property.

2.24 In cases where it is suspected that the tenant is not living at the property a referral 
will be made to the Tenancy Fraud Team to make further checks. At the end of Q2 
there were 13 active RTB fraud investigations underway. In 2015/16, two properties 
were recovered through the tenancy fraud initiative due to RTB fraud, i.e. the tenant 
who had submitted the RTB application subsequently withdrew it and terminated their 
tenancy.  

2.25 Properties being sold on after RTB completion

2.26 Members queried current controls in relation to subsequent sale of RTBs within the 5 
year discount repayment period and felt that controls may not be as robust as they 
should be.  

2.27 The individual registered property titles have formal Restrictions noted on them in 
favour of the Council setting out what the particular compliance requirements are. 

2.28 The Right to Buy pre sale guidance is available to tenants prior to sale.

2.29 If a subsequent sale is proposed in the first 10 years from the date of sale, the owner 
or the solicitor acting on their behalf must approach the Council in relation to the 
Right of First Refusal and Discount Repayment pre-emption periods.  If the Council 
confirm that they do not wish to re-purchase a letter is issued confirming section 
156A of the Housing Act (as amended) has been applied and a copy can be 
forwarded to Land Registry. If the request is within the 5 year discount repayment 
period the letter requests that the Council is informed when a sale has been agreed 
along with the sale price, to allow the discount repayable to be calculated. On receipt 
of this information a letter of confirmation is provided in relation to the discount 

Page 12



7

repayable amount and repayment details. It is the owners/solicitors responsibility to 
advise the Council when the sale has completed.  

2.30 Once payment is received the Council issues a discharge certificate to confirm the 
charge in relation to repayment of discount can be removed by Land Registry.

2.31 The Council is reliant on the owner/Solicitor acting on their behalf, informing the 
Council of their intentions in relation to proposed sales/completions, and the Land 
Registry for ensuring that formal restrictions are complied with. If the Council is made 
aware after a sale has completed, the Council would pursue recovery for any 
outstanding balances.

2.32 Tenants are made aware of their commitments in the pre-RTB sale guides, and the 
statutory requirements are contained in the RTB Transfers/Leases applicable to 
houses and flats. The individual registered property titles also have formal restrictions 
noted on them in favour of the Council setting out what the particular compliance 
requirements are (as similarly applies with statutory discount charge entries for 
potential repayment liabilities in the first 5 years from sale).

2.33 Maintenance of properties following sale

2.34 Members also queried what could be done to ensure that properties and gardens 
were maintained post sale.  

2.35 The following covenant is currently included in the Council’s standard sale Transfers:

“Not to permit any building or erection upon the Property or any footpath driveway or 
passageway or fence for whose repair the Transferee is liable or any entrance drive 
gate or crossing to fall into disrepair nor permit any drain gutter or fall pipe to become
obstructed so as to cause damage or nuisance to the adjoining or neighbouring 
property now or formerly or the Transferor or the occupants thereof.”

2.36 The Council’s standard sale Transfers also include a general “clean and tidy” 
covenant relating to gardens that owner/occupiers are required to observe/adhere to.

2.37 If the owner fails to keep their garden in good condition, the housing officer will write 
to the owner to remind them of the covenant provisions and give a reasonable time to 
undertake the work. If there is no response the case is referred to the Locality Team 
to consider action under Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) or Section 
43 Anti-social Behaviour, Crime & Policing Act 2014. This could include formal action 
by way of service of a Notice, which legally requires the owner to undertake the work. 

2.38 Subletting and resale

2.39 Members also felt that there were a number of examples of RTBs being sublet / 
resold and the applicant being rehoused by LCC.  They requested the number of 
RTBs which were subsequently sublet / sold for PRS and applicants rehoused, and 
what controls there were in place for this.  

Page 13



8

2.40 Over the last 5 years there have been 45 housing applications registered from former 
LCC properties which had been purchased through RTB. Of these, 11 were made in 
the name of the former tenant who had purchased their home. In the last 3 years only 
2 customers have been rehoused back into LCC accommodation, one was awarded 
priority to move due to a change in circumstances, the other was rehoused into 
sheltered housing. 

2.41 The council operates an open housing register, and accepts housing applications 
from home owners, including former tenants who have purchased their home. Unless 
the customer is in housing need (for example, overcrowded, threatened with 
homelessness due to affordability or relationship breakdown, medical issues etc) 
they will remain in Band C of the housing register, and their waiting time is limited to 
6 months when bidding on available properties. In practice this means a home owner 
in no assessed housing need would only be considered for very low demand 
properties. 

2.42 Void Turnaround Times of Council Homes

2.43 Re-let Days - As of week 39 (up to the end of December 2016), Citywide re-let days 
stand at 27.10 compared  to 2015/16 year-end figure of 30.52 days, the current 
target is 28 days, please see below for detailed breakdown. 

Sept-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec 16
BITMO 29.43 28.98 28.47 21.57
East 25.59 25.51 25.55 28.00
South 29.44 29.15 29.04 25.57
West 27.30 27.03 26.84 27.81
Housing Leeds 25.51 27.28 27.17 27.10

2.44 The monthly figures show good continuous performance for the average re-let.  The 
void numbers, time in works, ready to let to tenancy commencement time and overall 
re-let time also continues to remain low.

2.45 Lettable Void Properties - Overall the number of lettable voids and the number of 
voids in works as at week 39 (end of December 2016) at 366 voids (+16 new build, 
buy backs and major refurbishments which will be discounted once re-let). Voids 
(excluding new build, buy backs and major refurbishments) is 0.64% of the total LCC 
stock and the percentage rent loss from voids is 0.60%.

2.46 Re-let time performance is continuing to improve, and the percentage of empty 
properties remains extremely low. We are continuously looking at how we can further 
improve performance through improved processes and place a greater emphasis on 
quality and customer care, whilst ensuring that budgets are managed effectively.

2.47 Housing Leeds monitors the quality of empty properties and ensures a high quality 
customer service through the following:

 There are Key Performance Indicators in place to monitor the contractor’s 
performance, including the quality of voids returned to let. 

Page 14



9

 Weekly updates are received from the contractor regarding properties in their 
possession and when then they are due to be completed by.

 20% of post and pre inspections are carried out by Housing Leeds after the 
contractors have handed the property back to ensure that the re-let standard has 
been met. 

 Final fix ring backs are carried out 30 minutes to 1 hour after the appointment to 
ensure that the appointment has gone ahead satisfactorily and the customer is able 
to move in. If there are issues this allows the voids team to take ownership and try 
and resolve any issues that may have occurred at first point of contact.

 A buddy system is in operation whereby the Technical Officers name and contact 
number is given to the customer at sign up so if there are any issues the customer 
can ring the Technical Officer direct and these can be dealt with at first point of 
contact.

 Quality checks are carried out by Tenant Inspectors on a quarterly basis.  
 Complaints are reviewed to identify any learning/ actions that can be implemented.

2.48 Housing Leeds has recently introduced a Variable Lettable Standard which enables 
us to offer an enhanced lettable standard to 22 blocks / streets which have 
sustainability issues, high turnover and low levels of customer satisfaction.

2.49 The enhanced standard will mean that new tenants will be offered full decoration of 
the kitchen, bathroom and one other room of the tenant’s choice as part of the void 
works. 

2.50 Customer satisfaction will be reported in January 2017 for December 2016 as ring 
backs have not yet started for that period. A review will be carried in April 2017 to 
establish whether or not tenancies are more sustainable.

2.51 Tenant Scrutiny Board and the wider tenant involvement framework

2.52 Housing Leeds has a Tenant Involvement Framework – promoted to tenants as a 
‘wheel of involvement’ (see appendix 1).  This gives tenants the opportunity to take 
part in a range of formal groups, each with a particular theme or focus, or, as we 
move to the outer part of the wheel, less formal activities such as completing surveys 
or doing an estate walkabout.

2.53 Key parts of the framework are VITAL, the ‘Voice of Involved Tenants across Leeds’ 
and the local Housing Advisory Panels.   The Tenant Scrutiny Board works 
independently to the rest of the involvement framework.

2.54 Tenant Scrutiny and Tenant Scrutiny Boards are tenant forums to make evidence 
based recommendations for service improvement. They have been developed in 
response to regulatory requirements.  The Homes and Communities Agency 
Regulatory Framework for Social Housing, and specifically within this, the Tenant 
Involvement and Empowerment Framework, outlines the obligations for all social 
housing landlords in England in relation to how landlords are expected to work with 
tenants.  The standard sets a clear expectation that tenants should be able to 
influence and be involved in ‘the scrutiny of their landlord’s performance and the 
making of recommendations to their landlord about how performance might be 
improved’. 

Page 15



10

2.55 During its October 2016 meeting, the Environment and Housing Scrutiny Board 
discussed the role of the Tenant Scrutiny Board and sought further clarification 
surrounding its governance and support arrangements.  The Terms of Reference and 
Procedure Rules for the Tenant Scrutiny Board were developed by Corporate 
Governance and agreed with the Tenant Scrutiny Board in 2014.  These are 
therefore attached in Appendix 2 for the Scrutiny Board’s information.

2.56 We are currently reviewing the Tenant Involvement Framework with VITAL so that we 
can:
 Engage with a greater number of tenants in more informal and local ways – for 

example using more pop up consultation on local issues or using the mobile 
office;

 Having a streamlined ‘formal’ structure of meetings – that pull in more Customer 
Insight and focus on service improvement;

 Supporting and working with others to do more local community projects, such 
as the Parenting Programme or focussing more on Digital Inclusion and all the 
benefits this can bring;

 Closely link the work of tenant engagement, involvement and community 
investment to the themes of the housing strategy.

2.57 The new framework will strengthen the links between the Tenant Scrutiny Board and 
VITAL (the Strategic Tenant Body) so that the activity of the TSB is open and 
transparent to tenants more widely.  There will be more opportunities and channels 
for each other to share their priorities and highlight other issues that these two key 
parts of the framework might want to work on.   

2.58 HAPs – relationship between HAPs and Community Committees and ward 
members

2.59 Close working relationships between the Communities Teams, Ward Members and 
the HAPs is supported by:
 A ward member from each ward within the HAP area being invited to become a 

HAP member. 
 Officers are instructed to follow a set process that includes:
o Sharing project proposals with Communities Teams to explore opportunities 

for joint funding
o Sharing all projects that are due for consideration by the HAP with local ward 

members.
o Feeding back to ward members the decisions from the HAPs themselves.
o Making relevant teams, services or third parties aware as part of a wider 

consultation process. 
 The involvement service supporting the HAPs have, and are able to, provide 

formal updates to local Community Committee meetings.
 HAP members are encouraged to attend Community Committee meetings 
 The Localities Review aims to further strengthen the benefits of close working to 

tackle local priorities.

Page 16



11

3. Corporate Considerations

Consultation and Engagement 
Consultation and engagement is embedded within the individual policy / areas of 
activity.

Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration
An equality impact assessment is not required at this stage as this report is primarily an 
information report.

Council policies and City Priorities
Housing policy and activities contribute to making Leeds the best city to Live.

 
Resources and value for money 
Individual evaluations are undertaken within the individual policy / areas of activity

Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In
This report does not contain any exempt or confidential information.

Risk Management
Risk management is embedded within the individual policy / areas of activity.

4. Conclusion
The report covers a range of policy areas identified by Environment and Housing 
Scrutiny Board at their October meeting.

5. Recommendations
Scrutiny Board is requested to note the contents of this report, and highlight any areas 
for further investigation.

6. Background documents1

None 

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Voice of Involved Tenants Across Leeds (VITAL)
​VITAL is the strategic tenant group which directs and oversees the overall Tenant Involvement Framework.  Members of each of the 
main involvement groups are represented on VITAL, helping to ensure that all tenants have a voice and can influence housing services, 
no matter who they are or where they live.  VITAL helps us to ensure that new policies are shaped with the involvement of those who 
are representing tenants with so many different needs.  It is the role of this group to check that the many different involvement groups 
and forums are working well, that tenants are accessing the right training and support, and ultimately that they are making a difference.

l Equal Access Group 
The Equal Access Group represents tenants and leaseholders with disabilities, long term health conditions, and Carers.  Made up of 12 
tenants from across Leeds they meet every couple of months.  They have opportunities to meet with housing teams and other Council 
departments to discuss what matters to the people they represent and raise awareness of disability issues.

l High Rise Group 
High Rise group represents tenants and leaseholders living in high rise multi-storey blocks.  Meeting every couple of months they have 
opportunities to speak to housing teams to discuss what matters to the people they represent, about their homes, high- rise living and 
their communities.

l Housing Advisory Panels and Cross City Chairs Group
The Housing Advisory Panels (HAPs) are tenant led groups. They review the delivery of local housing services and monitor local 
performance.  There are 11 HAPS across Leeds. Each panel is made up of up to 10 council tenants (one of which can be a council 
leaseholder), plus 2 local councillors. These are voluntary positions which need a high level of commitment from those taking part.  
The Chairs and Vice-Chairs of all HAPs regularly meet at their Cross City Chairs Group (CCCG) to help develop how HAPs work, and 
share ideas and case studies of projects that have worked well that could also work in other parts of the city.

l LGB&T* Rainbow Roofs
​​The Rainbow Roofs group represents Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender tenants and leaseholders.  The group is involved in 
reviewing and developing policies to ensure that the needs of the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender communities are met.  
They work hard to stamp out discrimination and raise awareness of LGB&T* living in Leeds.

l Repairs Group
​The Repairs Groups work with housing teams to ensure quality customer focussed services are delivered, such as repairs and 
maintenance, adaptations and improvements.  There are currently three groups representing the East, West and South areas of Leeds.  
Each group is made up of up to 10 tenants and they meet every couple of months.  They have opportunities to meet with housing teams 
and repairs contractors to discuss what matters to the people they represent, about their homes, communities and future investment.

l Voice of Older Tenants group (VOLT)
​​The Voice Of Older Leeds Tenants group, known as VOLT, represents our older tenants, including those living in our sheltered 
properties.  Every couple of months they meet with housing teams to discuss and raise awareness of the priorities for older tenants. 
They also look at the support needs of tenants to help them stay in their own homes for as long as they want.  They arrange local 
forums to consult and engage with communities.

l Young Adults getting involved (YAgi)
​The Young Adults group, known as YAgi, encourages and supports tenants and leaseholders aged 16 to 35 to help shape housing 
services and improve your neighbourhoods.  In addition to our other tenant and leaseholder groups, YAgi creates opportunities for 
young adults to meet with housing teams and discuss what matters about their homes and  communities. 

l Service Improvement Volunteers
Service improvement volunteers help us to build a partnership with tenants and leaseholders. Volunteering helps you to learn 
more skills that could lead to other opportunities for you. As a volunteer you can choose to take part in a variety of activities which suit 
you, in your area or in other areas of Leeds.  These include: carrying out mystery shopping of our services, responding to surveys, 
accompanying housing officers on estate walkabouts, spot checking and commenting on the standard of properties before they are 
let to new tenants, spot checking how accessible our office buildings and sheltered schemes are, checking the quality of repairs to 
properties and reading and commenting on new leaflets.

Tenants can also attend meetings before committing to becoming a member of a group.  
This gives them the opportunity to see what’s involved.

Tenant involvement within Housing Leeds

Page 19



Page 20



Appendix 2.

TENANT SCRUTINY BOARD – TERMS OF REFERENCE 

The Tenant Scrutiny Board provides independent, customer focused scrutiny which will robustly 
challenge policy practice and performance to ensure that Leeds City Council provides a high 
quality housing service that retains tenants at the heart of the organisation.

The Tenant Scrutiny Board is authorised to discharge the following scrutiny functions:

1. Provide independent assurance on the quality of service delivery against agreed 
performance indicators. 

2. Assist in supporting the process of establishing performance indicators.

3. Act as a “critical friend” on behalf of  tenants and residents providing “challenge” to the 
Council  in relation to its Housing service delivery and by reviewing policies and strategies.

4. Review tenant satisfaction. 

5. Ensure tenants are consulted before major changes to Housing Services
are implemented.

Form an integral part of the governance of Leeds City Council through effective links with the 
Housing Advisory Board and Scrutiny Board (Environment and Housing)

Page 21



TENANT SCRUTINY BOARD1 - PROCEDURE RULES 

1.0 FREQUENCY AND PLACE OF MEETINGS OF THE SCRUTINY BOARDS

1.1 The Tenant Scrutiny Board will meet every Month

1.2 Extraordinary meetings may be called from time to time as and when appropriate.

1.3 A meeting may be called by; 
 the Chair; or
 the Scrutiny Officer if he/she considers it necessary or appropriate.

1.4 The Tenant Scrutiny Board may sit at such place and at such time as it considers 
necessary and appropriate.

1.5 The Tenant Scrutiny Board may appoint a Working Group as it feels appropriate and 
necessary to assist in ensuring the effectiveness and efficiency of its work2.

2.0 QUORUM / SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS

2.1 The quorum for the Scrutiny Board shall be 50% of membership plus 1 

2.2 Substitute members will not be allowed

3.0 NOTICES OF MEETINGS

3.1 Notices for all meetings of a Tenant Scrutiny Board shall be issued from the office of the 
Scrutiny Officer. 

4.0 ADMISSION TO MEETINGS

4.1 All meetings of the Tenant Scrutiny Board shall be open to the public unless identified as 
confidential. This shall be without prejudice to any power of exclusion to suppress or 
prevent disorderly conduct or other misbehaviour at a meeting.

4.2 The Tenant Scrutiny Board may resolve to exclude the press and public from a meeting 
(whether the whole or part only of the proceedings) by passing a resolution.  

5.0 MINUTES

5.1 All meetings of each Tenant Scrutiny Board shall be minuted.

5.2 Oral evidence given to a Tenant Scrutiny Board may be recorded via tape recording as 
shall appear to the Tenant Scrutiny Board to be appropriate.

1 All references to Scrutiny Board relate to Tenant Scrutiny Board
2 These must be appointed to carry out specific tasks such as visits to premises or other information gathering 
activities as part of an on-going Inquiry.

Page 22



6.0 RIGHTS OF TENANT SCRUTINY BOARD MEMBERS TO DOCUMENTS

6.1 When a Tenant Scrutiny Board conducts a review, every member of the Board3 shall have a 
right of access to any documents which are relevant to the subject matter of the review and 
are not deemed confidential.4

7.0 AGENDA ITEMS

7.1 A Scrutiny Board shall as a minimum consider the following business at an Ordinary 
Meeting:

 apologies for absence;
 minutes of the last meeting;
 the Board’s work programme; and
 the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting.

8.0 WORK PROGRAMMING

8.1 No Tenant Scrutiny Board may undertake a review into:

 any decision of a Plans Panel or the Licensing Committee or a Licensing sub-
committee; 

 any decision taken by an officer under delegated authority which falls within the terms of 
reference of a Plans Panel or the Licensing Committee or a Licensing Sub-Committee; 

 any matter which falls outside of the Tenant Scrutiny Board’s Terms of Reference
  any decision in respect of which there are:

o ongoing judicial proceedings, Ombudsman or audit inquiry or complaint under the 
Council’s formal complaints procedure;5 or

o individual personnel issues.

9.0 REQUESTS FOR SCRUTINY

9.1 Reviews requested by a member of the Tenant Scrutiny Board

Any member of the Tenant Scrutiny Board may propose that a review be undertaken into a 
relevant matter.  The Board will then consider whether to undertake the review.  In doing so, 
it shall take into account the wishes of all members of that Board.

9.2 Requests for reviews from other sources

The Tenant Scrutiny Board shall consider a request from any other source to conduct a 
review. 

9.3 If the Scrutiny Board decides not to carry out a review into the matter, the Scrutiny Officer 
will inform the referring body about the decision of the Tenant Scrutiny Board, and the 
reasons for its decision

3 Information received as a member of a Tenant Scrutiny Board should be used only in this capacity. 

Page 23



10.0 SELECTING SCRUTINY INQUIRIES

10.1 Before deciding to undertake a scrutiny Inquiry, the Tenant Scrutiny Board must

 consider how the proposed Inquiry falls within its terms of reference;  and
 consider the current workload of the Tenant Scrutiny Board and the available resources 

required to carry out the work.

10.2 Where any Scrutiny Board decides that there shall be an Inquiry, the Scrutiny Board shall

 consult with the relevant Director and Executive Member;
 agree the Terms of Reference of the Inquiry; 
 agree the period within which the Inquiry’s Report is to be completed; 
 compile a preliminary list of witnesses from whom the Tenant Scrutiny Board require 

evidence; and
 compile a preliminary list of documents which the Tenant Scrutiny Board requires to be 

produced.

11.0 REPORTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

11.1 At the conclusion of a review the Tenant Scrutiny Board shall, where it considers it to be 
appropriate, produce a written report summarising the evidence that it has taken and set 
out its recommendations.  

11.2 Where the Tenant Scrutiny Board is considering making specific recommendations it shall 
invite advice from the appropriate Director(s) prior to it finalising its recommendations.  The 
detail of that advice shall be reported to the tenant Scrutiny Board and considered before 
the report is finalised.

11.3 The review report shall include:

 an explanation of the matter reviewed or scrutinised;
 a list of the participants involved in the Inquiry (save where the Board considers that a 

name of a witness should be withheld for reasons of confidentiality) ;
 a list of all documentation that has been considered by the Board; and
 any conclusions and recommendations on the matter reviewed or scrutinised.

11.4 Where any member of the Tenant Scrutiny Board does not agree with the content of the 
Board's Report, they may produce a Minority Report setting out their findings and 
recommendations.  The Minority Report will be an appendix to the Tenant Scrutiny Board’s 
Report.

12.0 RESPONSES TO REPORTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

12.1 The Housing Advisory Board, the Executive Board, Community Committee’s or officers 
shall consider any report and recommendations of the Tenant Scrutiny Board within two 
months of it being received.  The Council or Executive is under a duty to respond to the 
Tenant Scrutiny Board, indicating what action (if any) it proposes to take and to publish its 
response. 

13.0 WITNESSES  – GENERAL PRINCIPLES

13.1 Where the Tenant Scrutiny Board wishes to take evidence from a witness, the Scrutiny 
Officer shall notify the witness of:

Page 24



 the date upon which their evidence is to be taken;
 the matters upon which evidence is sought;
 any documents that the Tenant Scrutiny Board wishes to have produced; and
 the date upon which the Board requires any written evidence from the witness.

13.2 Those assisting the Scrutiny Board by giving evidence shall be treated with respect and 
courtesy.

14.0 MEMBERS AND OFFICERS GIVING ACCOUNT/ INFORMATION

14.1 The Tenant Scrutiny Board may require any Executive Member, or Member in relation to a 
matter where the Member has exercised functions, the Chief Executive and/or any senior 
officer to attend before it to answer questions and provide information about:

 any particular decisions or series of decisions;
 the extent to which actions taken implement Council policy 

14.2 It is the duty of those officers and Members to attend and to answer questions.

14.3 The Chair of the Tenant Scrutiny Board will inform the Scrutiny Officer if the Scrutiny Board 
requires any Member (including an Executive Member) or officer to attend a Scrutiny Board 
under this provision.  The Scrutiny Officer shall inform the Member or officer of this, giving 
at least 7 working days’ notice of the meeting at which he/she is required to attend.

14.4  The notice will state: 

 the nature of the item on which he/she is required to attend to give account; and 
 whether the Tenant Scrutiny Board requires him/her to produce any documents or 

reports.

14.5 Where the Scrutiny Board requires the person to produce a report, then the Scrutiny Officer 
will give the Member or officer concerned sufficient notice to prepare it.

14.6 The Chair of the Tenant Scrutiny Board will inform the Scrutiny Officer where a Scrutiny 
Board requires a Director to attend the Tenant Scrutiny Board in person.

14.7 Directors may be accompanied by any other officer the Director feels appropriate.

14.8 Where the Tenant Scrutiny Board does not require a Director to attend in person, he/she 
will be responsible for ensuring that an officer of sufficient knowledge and requisite seniority 
attends.  Any such witness may be accompanied by such adviser(s) as he/she considers 
necessary.

14.9 Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Member or officer is unable to attend on the 
required date, and then the Scrutiny Officer shall, in consultation with the Chair of the 
Tenant Scrutiny Board and the Member or officer, arrange an alternative date for 
attendance, or agree an appropriate substitute.

15.0 ATTENDANCE BY OTHERS

15.1 A Tenant Scrutiny Board may invite members of the public or other persons to attend 
meetings, address it, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer questions.

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Director of Environment and Housing 

Report to Environment and Housing Scrutiny Board

Date: 19 January 2017

Subject: Performance Report

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No
If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion 
and integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No
If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. This report provides a summary of performance against the strategic priorities for the council 
and city and other performance areas relevant to the Environment and Housing Scrutiny 
Board.  

Recommendations

2. Members are recommended to

 Note the most recent performance information in Appendices 1 and 2 and the issues which 
have been highlighted and consider if they wish to undertake further scrutiny work to 
support improvement over the coming year in any of these areas.

Report author:  Debra Scott  
Tel: 86943

Page 27

Agenda Item 8



1 Purpose of this report

1.1 This report presents a summary of the most recent performance data, and provides an 
update on progress in delivering the relevant priorities in the Best Council Plan 2015 – 20.

2 Background information

2.1 Members will note that the Best Council Plan (BCP) sets out the Council’s key objectives 
and priorities. This report provides an overview of the relevant Environment and Housing 
performance relating to this plan, enabling the Scrutiny Board to consider and challenge 
the council’s performance. 

2.2 A refresh of the Best Council Plan is taking place for 2017/18 to simplify the current 20 
priorities and update KPIs. Narrative will be included to explain how the priorities support 
Council ambitions and link to the 8 Council Breakthrough Projects and supporting 
strategies. The refreshed plan will be presented to Exec Board in February and a cross 
party scrutiny working group is being established to support this work.

2.3 This report includes two Appendices showing a summary of the most recent performance 
information relevant to the Environment and Housing Scrutiny Board.  

3 Main issues

3.1 Appendix 1 shows the most recent performance data relating to Housing priorities.  
Members will see that some of the indicators are designed to track trends rather than 
report against specific targets, and for these reasons the trend indicators have not been 
rated. Appendix 2 relates to Community Safety, Waste and Environmental priorities. The 
main performance issues arising from these progress reports are given below:

3.2 Appendix 1

3.2.1 Members’ attention are drawn to the following performance areas:

 Empty Properties
The target for 2016/17 remains that the Council will return 3200 long term empty 
properties into use during the year, with 1000 of these to be returned by Private Sector 
Housing involvement. At the end of November 2016, the number of long term empty 
properties returned to use this financial year stood at 1,463, representing 45.72% of 
the target of 3200. 193 of these were returned by Private Sector Housing.
 
A further “stretch” target is to achieve by the end of March 2017, a net reduction of 
2,000 (equivalent to 400 per annum) in the total number of private sector properties 
that have been empty for longer than  6 months  in comparison to the figure of 5,776 
recorded at the end of March 2012. In March 2016 this figure stood at 3,777

At the end of November 2016 the figure was 3,594, representing a net reduction of 
283 (70.75% of the annual target of 400) on the March 2016 figure and a reduction of 
2,282 (114.1% of the target of 2000) on the March 2012 figure. 

This figure has a tendency to fluctuate throughout the year and can go up or down. 

Page 28



 Homeless Preventions 
461 out of 549 cases closed at Leeds Housing Options in November 2016 resulted in 
a homeless prevention (84% prevention rate): a household was either assisted to 
remain indefinitely in their existing home or to make a planned move to alternative 
accommodation that would be available for a minimum of 6 months. This means there 
has been 4,194 homeless preventions since April 2016 with a straight line forecast of 
6,291 preventions for 16/17.

 Homeless Acceptances 
Homeless acceptances remain low - there were 18 Homeless Acceptance in 
November 2016. The cumulative position for 2016/17 stands at 188 acceptances. A 
straight-line forecast for 2016/17 is 282 which compares to the 2015/16 actual year-
end position of 397 acceptances.

In 2003/04, before the prevention focus, the Council made 4,965 homeless 
acceptances.

 Temporary Accommodation
There were 84 emergency accommodation placements as of 30 November 2016 with 
60 of those being statutorily homeless (homeless acceptance). The continued low 
number of people in temporary Accommodation can be attributed to effective 
prevention work and swift move on.

 Unauthorised Encampments
From April 2016 to November 2016 there have been 77 encampments (51 LCC land / 
26 private land) A group of Travellers from the Blackpool area ranging in size from 2 to 
55 caravans encamped on land mainly in LS14 Seacroft on 24 occasions. There have 
been 9 new encampments in November.

Section 61 has been used 11 times from April 2016 to November 2016 with existing 
orders on land used on 8 occasions (If registration numbers can be linked from a site 
that has an existing Court order on within a 3 month period with the Travellers moving 
back onto the land can be moved quickly).

 Adaptations
The performance indicator is % of housing adaptations completed within target 
timescales with the measure being date of case receipt by Housing Leeds to date of 
practical completion of works. The government best practice guidance on housing 
adaptations states that local authorities should aim to complete 95% of cases within 
70 days (urgent) and 182 days (non-urgent).  Performance is split between council 
and private sector (including housing association) adaptations. 

The housing adaptations service was merged into the Housing Management / Health 
and Housing Service at the beginning of September 2016 with one of the intentions 
being to significantly improve performance against the KPI. 

Page 29



Performance has significantly improved since service merger. 

% of housing adaptations completed within target 
timescale by month

Private Council
November 2016 97% 90%
October 2016 94% 92%
September 2016 88% 64%

Since September 2016, performance targets have been set for each stage of the 
adaptations process (registration / means-test / scheme design / tendering / works) to 
identify at what stage(s) delays occur and to act as a catalyst to service improvement.  
The Health and Housing service is confident that performance of 95% or higher for 
private sector adaptations will now be the steady state and that, in all but the most 
exceptional cases, 100% of cases will be processed within target timescales up to 
passing to the contractor. 

99 out of 110 council housing adaptation cases were processed within target 
timescales in November 2016. 10 out of the 11 cases that didn’t meet the performance 
target related to delays in contractors carrying out the work.  The department is 
working on this issue and there is confidence that this will mean council housing 
performance gets up to the 95% level in early 2017. 

Spend on council housing adaptations will be over £7m in 16/17. The budget for 17/18 
has been provisionally set at £5m. The plan to reduce the 17/18 spend relates to 
encouraging more moves to existing adapted council housing and looking at price 
structures with contractors.

 % Capital Programme Spend
Housing Leeds actual spend and commitments to period 8 is £47.8m representing 
60% of the available £80m resources. The projection to outturn at period 8 is £80m. 

The planned works programme is projected to outturn at an estimated £60.4m with 
spend and commitments to period 8 of £34.1m representing 56.5% of the available 
resources. The responsive works programme is spending well with spend and 
commitments at period 8 of £12.6m representing 72% of the available resources of 
£17.5m. The environmental improvement programme spend to period 8 is £1.1m of 
the available resources in year of £2m. The HRA Capital resources statement per the 
November 2016 financial plan has revised estimates on future year’s programmes at 
£76.6m in 2017/18, £76.4m in 2018/19 and £76.6m in 2019/20 and this will be 
reflected as part of the February capital programme Executive Board report.

 Rent Collection

The rent collection figure at the end of November stood at 97.16%. Performance has 
gradually improved over the last 3 months, it is now at its best position this year and 
0.34% below the year-end target of 97.5%.

Tenants’ arrears at the end of November 2016 stand at £5.98M. Arrears have reduced 
by £322K when compared to November 2015.

Universal Credit is having a detrimental impact on rent collection. As of the end of 
October, 650 tenants have made a claim for Universal Credit and these tenants have 

Page 30



seen an average increase in rent arrears of approximately £150.  As the roll out of 
Universal Credit continues and tenants have to pay their rent themselves, it will 
continue to impact on rent collection rates.

Housing Leeds are actively supporting tenants moving onto Universal Credit through 
the Enhanced Income Team. The team will apply to the DWP for the rent to be paid 
direct to the Council when the tenant is in 8 weeks arrears. This will prevent their 
arrears further increasing and ensure they begin to reduce.

The current rent collection rates for tenants on full, partial and not in receipt of 
Housing Benefit are as follows:

Benefit Status Owing £ Paid £ %
Full 55,212,342.82 57,434,990.65 104.02
Partial 33,969,098.92 32,977,477.87 97.08
Self-Funding 58,629,929.24 53,201,611.31 90.74
Total 147,811,370.98 143,614,079.83 97.16

It is clearly evident where tenants are receiving Housing Benefit the collection rates 
are higher than those who pay full rent. This is mainly due to the fact that Housing 
Benefit is paid weekly and directly onto the tenants rent account. 

The number of unemployed citizens in Leeds has reduced over recent months. This 
has resulted in increasing numbers of tenants either seeing a reduction in Housing 
Benefit or moving off it altogether. This has resulted in a weekly reduction of £93K in 
Housing Benefit being paid direct to Housing Leeds. As tenants adjust to managing 
their budget and paying their rent themselves it is causing an adverse impact on their 
rent accounts.

Housing Leeds is developing a stronger “Rent First” culture to focus on tenants with a 
charge to pay. This includes:

 Consideration of introducing Direct Debit as a mandatory payment method;

 Promoting rent in advance at sign up; and

 Developing a “Rent First” branding and reviewing all communications with tenants 
to ensure strong messages are conveyed relating to the importance of prioritising 
rent payments.

Performance continues to be actively managed to maximise collection as follows:

 A robust performance management framework is in place which is regularly 
reviewed at the Strategic Leadership Team meeting. The Chief Officer is holding 
regular arrears performance challenge sessions with managers and key staff. 
Teams and individuals with lower levels of performance are challenged through 
121s and team meetings to improve this.

 Income Recovery Action Plans are in place for all areas – the plans focus on 
training, support and robust management. These plans are being monitored by the 
Chief Officer and Heads of Service.

 Arrears Training is being provided to new staff and those who require a refresher 
course.

Page 31



 A further programme of arrears management training is being organised in the New 
Year for new Housing Officers and Team Leaders by an external trainer, focusing 
on quality conversations, negotiation and recording quality data in a debt collection / 
performance environment.

 A detailed year end arrears campaign has been developed which will run from the 
2nd of January 2017 up until the end of March. The campaign will focus on 
increasing contacts with tenants with a view to maximising rent collection and 
ensuring arrears are as low as possible at year end. This includes weekly citywide 
themes for staff to work on which target resources at a local level. A significant 
increase in the use of social media, texts and emails will be made to tenants to 
encourage contact with Housing Leeds and payment. 

 Tenants affected by Welfare Reforms are being provided with an increased level of 
support through the Enhanced Income Team. The team are supporting tenants who 
are moving on to Universal Credit. The team are making direct contact with tenants 
on Universal Credit and offer support and assistance on managing their finances 
and rent payments during this transition. To date we have 650 tenants on UC, and 
have applied for managed payments (direct to Landlord) for 304 of these cases due 
to rent arrears. 

 The team are now making contact with the 517 tenants who are affected by the 
revised Benefit Cap to offer support and advice in managing the reduction to their 
income.

 Rent Payment Methods 

October 2016 (YTD):
Payment Method Number % Value %
Cash 251,306 40.75% 18,010,064.50 29.74%
Direct Debit 210,203 34.08% 23,283,080.17 38.44%
Internet / Automated 103,680 16.81% 12,370,177.42 20.42%
Telephone 31,463 5.10% 5,212,548.19 8.61%
Other 20,100 3.26% 1,688,999.45 2.79%

Paperless Direct Debits were launched in February 2016, enabling tenants to set up 
Direct Debits over the telephone. Currently 34% of tenants, with a rent charge to pay, 
pay by either Direct Debit or Standing Order. This has reduced since the June 2016 
figure of 42% (December 2015 was 36%). A lot of these have moved over to internet 
payments which are another cost effective method of payment.

 Annual Home Visits

The 2016 Annual Home Visit process has been strengthened with additional 
conversations taking place on tenancy compliance issues, support needs, rent 
collection and budgetary advice. 

Current performance on Annual Home Visits at the end of November is good at 
85.43% with a more recent figure for the beginning of December showing 87.46% 
have been completed. 

Despite greater emphasis on quality conversations and follow up work, performance 
has improved by 5% compared to last year’s early December figure. 

Page 32



We continue to record the outcomes of the AHVs and use this information to pick up 
tenancy management issues or make referrals for additional support. Key trends from 
AHVs completed year to date are as follows:

 65 tenancies referred for suspicions of tenancy fraud taking place
 1,811 referrals made to West Yorkshire Fire Service
 11% of tenants state they would struggle to receive benefits monthly
 3% of tenants have requested additional support with budgeting

Housing Officers have provided excellent feedback on the new process and are 
successfully engaging with tenants who previously would not let us enter the property.  
The number of properties we have not managed to access has reduced from 1,072 in 
2015 to 237. Housing Officers are tackling these to ensure as many properties as 
possible have been accessed within the last 2 years.

The focus on quality conversations and support during 2016 has enabled us to gain 
clearer understanding of our tenants’ circumstances and needs, much of it information 
we didn’t hold previously.  Undertaking Annual Home Visits across Leeds is resource 
intensive and we are streamlining the AHV form to ensure we ask the most practical 
questions to get the most of the visits for both tenants and staff. We are currently 
consulting with staff on changes and improvements to the form for 2017 and we are 
hoping to have a draft version ready early in the New Year to ensure staff are trained 
ahead of April 2017.

 Repairs Completed Within Target

The citywide result presented to Scrutiny in July 2016 was 89.59% (May figure). The 
November 2016 result is 95.88%, which represents an improvement of 6.29 
percentage points, with 17,935 out of 18,705 repairs being completed within target. 
Mears South performance stands at 98.91% (3,636 repairs completed within target out 
of 3,676) and Mears West 99.01% (5,987 repairs completed within target out of 
6,047). The LBS November result is 92% (7,323 repairs completed within target out of 
7,960). 

Please see below breakdown according to the priority of repair:
Priority Breakdown 

Information - City
Total Number 

of Jobs
Total Number of 
Jobs Met Target %

Emergency - 24 Hours 4977 4660 93.63%
Priority - 3 working days 2441 2250 92.18%
General - 20 working days 7780 7636 98.15%
60 Working Days 783 762 97.32%

In May the % of 60 Working Day priority repairs being completed in timescales stood 
at 70.93%. Analytical work was undertaken to identify the issues affecting 
performance and an Improvement Plan was created to address this. As a result of 
delivering the Improvement Plan to target the 60 Day orders at LBS, city-wide 
performance now stands at 97.32%. This is an improvement of 26.39 percentage 
points.

A Repairs Pilot was also launched at the former Construction Services side of LBS to 
make improvements across all the priorities within ‘Repairs Completed within Target’. 
This has seen their performance on this KPI rise from 78.55% in May to 99% in 

Page 33



November – an improvement of 20.45 percentage points. Lessons learnt from this pilot 
are now being introduced to the former Property Maintenance side of LBS to improve 
their performance which stands at 55.26% (704 out of 1,274 repairs completed in 
target). Delays in the timesheet entry process are seen as a key area of 
underperformance rather than actual service delivery. Data from LBS internal IT 
system, Total Mobile, shows performance to be at 78%.

Members may also wish to note performance against the indicator ‘Repairs Right First 
Time’ which addresses a performance issue of particular importance to tenants and 
against which all providers are now performing well. Citywide performance stands at 
94.42% (November 2016) which is above the target of 90.50%. Mears South is at 
93.56% (3,282 repairs out of 3,508 completed right first time), Mears West is at 
92.47% (5,332 out of 5,766) and LBS (formerly Construction Services) is at 98.16% 
(3,676 out of 3,745).

 STAR Survey
We anticipate being able to make headline figures from the Tenants Survey (STAR) 
2016 available in late February.

 Re-let Days
As of week 35 (up to the end of November 2016), Citywide re-let days stand at 27.17, 
compared to the 2015/16 year-end figure of 30.52 days. The monthly figures show 
good continuous performance for the average re-let. The void numbers, time in works, 
ready to let to tenancy commencement time and overall re-let time also continues to 
remain low.

 Lettable Void Properties
Overall the number of lettable voids and the number of voids in works as at week 35 
(end of November 2016) continue to remain low at 299 voids (+111 new build, buy 
backs and major refurbishments which will be discounted once re-let). Voids 
(excluding new build, buy backs and major refurbishments) account for 0.53% of the 
total LCC stock and the percentage rent loss from voids is 0.61%.

 Under Occupation 
A count of all under occupation cases stands at 4,676 at October 2016. This number 
continues to gradually reduce and there are 310 cases lower than the May 2016 figure 
quoted in the previous performance report. The number of these cases owing arrears 
has also decreased to 2,314 (49.5%).

 Energy and Thermal Efficiency of Houses
Following a refresh of the Best Council Plan for 2016-17, a new key performance 
indicator has been introduced linked to housing conditions. We will be looking to report 
the SAP rating - the government’s Standard Assessment Procedure for assessing the 
energy performance of dwellings.
Work is ongoing to adapt EPC (Energy Performance Certificate) data into a format that 
can be used to calculate the SAP rating. DCLG suspended the “Bulk EPC Data” 
service mid last year; they were due to make the EPC data open data last autumn but 
this has yet to occur.

Page 34



3.3 Appendix 2

3.3.1 Members’ attention are drawn to the following performance areas (please note further 
detail is provided in Appendix 2):

 Burglary 
In the 12 months to the end of October 2016 there were 5,020 recorded offences, a 
decrease of 3% (151 fewer offences) when compared to the previous 12 months. In 
the last quarter (Jul-Sep 2016), there were 1,421 recorded burglary dwelling offences 
in Leeds (328 more offences than the previous quarter and 249 more offences than for 
the same quarter in 2015/16). The monthly total for October 2016 of 344 offences is 
13% lower (53 fewer offences) when compared to the October 2015 total of 397. High 
volume burglary dwelling wards were predominantly located within Inner Leeds areas.

Core City burglary dwelling offence rate analysis ranks Leeds third of eight.

A West Yorkshire Police ‘Festive Burglary Prevention’ initiative has been promoted to 
Leeds residents advising simple measures that can be taken to prevent homes and 
belongings being targeted.　

Protecting Homes and Businesses will remain a priority for Safer Leeds in 2016/17, 
with a focus on the volume of Serious Acquisitive Crime offences including Burglary 
Dwelling.

 Anti-Social Behaviour
In the 12 months to the end of October 2016, there were 22,369 recorded nuisance 
and damage incidents (WYP), an increase of 12% (2,410 additional incidents) when 
compared to the previous 12 months. In the last quarter (Jul-Sep 2016) there were 
6,432 recorded incidents (1058 additional incidents compared to the last quarter, but 
1,188 more incidents than for the same quarter in 2015/16). There were 2,502 
incidents recorded for the month of October 2016 which represents a 27% increase 
from the month of October 2015 (527 additional incidents).

High volume nuisance reported to West Yorkshire Police was predominantly youth 
nuisance. High volume wards were predominantly located within Inner Leeds. 
Targeted partnership work has been undertaken in response to identified issues at 
localities including Multi-Storey Flats in Inner West and Inner East Leeds. In response 
to identified issues a multi-agency team within an Inner Leeds ward successfully 
obtained and implemented several Criminal Behaviour Orders, leading to positive 
feedback from both stakeholders and the community. A number of partnership ‘days of 
action’ have been organised locally.

Community Tolerance and Respect remains a priority for Safer Leeds in 2016/17, with 
a continued focus upon nuisance incidents reported to West Yorkshire Police as an 
indicator of Anti-Social Behaviour.

 Domestic Violence
In the 12 months to the end of October 2016, the twelve month rolling repeat 
victimisation rate was 39.5% (7,128 incidents linked to a repeat victim). The figure for 
the last quarter (Jul-Sep 2016) was 1,933 incidents linked to a repeat victim. In 
October 2016, the twelve month rolling repeat suspect rate was 24.1% (4,353 
incidents linked to a repeat suspect). The figure for the last quarter (Jul-Sep 2016) 
was 1176 incidents linked to a repeat suspect.

Page 35



The volume of Domestic Violence incidents reported to West Yorkshire Police has 
continued to increase, reflecting an increase in awareness and confidence in reporting 
(which was supported by the high profile White Ribbon campaign / 16 Days of Action). 
High volume wards are predominantly located within Inner Leeds. 

The Front Door Safeguarding Hub provides a daily, multi-agency response to high risk 
and medium risk (with crime) DV incidents reported to the police within a given 24 
hour period.  Referral pathways for victims, children and perpetrators are being 
developed and improved leading to an earlier intervention. This includes new 
interventions such as Family Group Conferencing. A School Domestic Violence 
Notification process has been developed to inform schools within 24 hours when their 
pupils have been present at an incident of domestic violence where the police have 
attended. 

Keeping People Safe from Harm will remain a priority for Safer Leeds in 2016/17, with 
a focus upon Domestic Violence and Abuse.

 
 Missed Bins

Overall missed bins (per 100,000) stands at 56.66 at Period 9 which compares with 
61.25 for period 9 in 2015/16. 

Over the past year the Waste Management Service has successfully implemented a 
new back office / front line collection system (known as Collective). The installation 
and roll-out of training has been taking place over the past 12 months, with the 
majority of the fleet now utilising this system. Collective enables the crews and the 
Contact Centre to see ‘real time’ collection information and allows the service to 
effectively monitor and deploy adequate resources where collection issues are 
encountered. Aside from the usual trends around missed collections, which show a 
slight increase when the garden waste collection service restarts in the spring or 
during the peak growing season, there has been a significant downward trend in 
missed collections year on year, which indicates an overall improvement in service.

 Recycling
The Council recycled 42.4% of household waste in Quarter 2 of 2016/17. This is 0.4% 
lower than Quarter 2 of the previous year and 4.1% less than target. 
The kerbside recycling tonnes (recycling collected through the green, brown and food 
waste collection services) continues to increase, being 4.4% higher than at the same 
point last year. 
All Kerbside residual waste is now delivered to the RERF (Recycling and Energy 
Recovery Facility) with a contractual commitment that 10% of incoming waste will be 
recycled at the front end of the process each year. This material is extracted by the 
mechanical pre-treatment (MPT) facility which removed paper and card, plastics, 
ferrous and non-ferrous metals. The MPT has suffered a series of mechanical 
problems which Veolia have been working with the Council to resolve. This has 
contributed significantly to a reduction in the recycling rate of 1.4% compared to 
quarter 2 last year and 4.35% compared to the quarter 2 target for 2016/17.  

This reduction has been partially offset by the higher volumes of kerbside recycling 
which has increased the recycling rate by 0.6% compared to quarter 2 last year and 
by 0.3% compared to the 16/17 target for September. Garden waste is a significant 
contributor to this increase although the level of garden waste produced each year can 
be significantly affected by the weather conditions.

Page 36



 Landfill
The main reasons for the 245 tonnage variance between the landfill target of 8,659t 
and the 8,904t actually landfilled are an increase in HWSS tonnes compared to the 
phased target. 

The total collected residual waste was 98,706 tonnes in quarter 2 which is 262 tonnes 
higher than the previous year quarter 2 position. 87,994 tonnes were incinerated and 
1,808t recycled, with no waste sent to the RERF being landfilled. 8,904 tonnes of were 
landfilled (as per above table) which equates to only 5% of domestic waste being 
landfilled. 

The total collected residual figure above includes waste arising from various sources 
including kerbside black bins, Household Waste Sites, Bulky Household collections, 
street cleansing and non-recyclable green bin waste.  Kerbside collected black bin 
waste is the largest waste stream with 40,857t collected at quarter 2 this year, a 327t 
decrease on the 41,184t collected in the previous year quarter 2.

 Grounds Maintenance
The UK experienced the wettest and warmest December since records began as well 
as seeing higher than average temperatures and high rainfall levels over the winter of 
2015. This raised expectations of difficult mowing due to excessive grass growth and 
wet ground. Revised procedures were agreed with Continental Landscapes to 
minimise damage to assets and ensure staff safety including only mowing plot 
margins and omitting banked areas if necessary. 

Continental commenced mowing on March 7th 2016 with full seasonal staffing 
recruited early to provide additional resource to use smaller and lighter machinery 
brought to Leeds specifically to meet the problem. Monitoring activity by the grounds 
maintenance team during the early part of the mowing season focused on quality of 
cut and addressing problems, rather than cut interval, to allow Continental to take an 
appropriate amount of time to cut the assets given the circumstances. These 
preventative measures have meant that assets have been managed well with minimal 
damage caused, and as a result there was no significant increase in complaints 
received reflecting the quality of Continental’s work on the first half of the season, and 
an overall reduction in total enquiries received for the season as a whole.  Had 
conditions during the early part of the 2016 mowing season resulted in a longer than 
expected duration between grass cuts later into the season, a recovery plan was in 
place to ensure grass was maintained to an acceptable standard. However, it was not 
necessary to implement this plan as the mowing frequency throughout the summer 
and to the end of October 2016 took place within expected margins and grass 
maintained within parameters set out in the contract specification.  This is reflected by 
the reduced number of complaints received.

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1. This is an information report and as such does not need to be consulted on with the public.  
However all performance information is published on the council’s website and is available 
to the public.   

Page 37



4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

This is an information report and not a decision so it is not necessary to conduct an 
equality impact assessment.  However, some of the data provided will link to wider issues 
of equality and diversity and cohesion and integration, and there may be occasions when 
Scrutiny Board members will want to look more closely at these issues, and may request 
further information to inform their investigations.  

4.3 Council Priorities

4.3.1 This report provides an update on progress in delivering the council priorities in line with 
the council’s performance management framework.  

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 There are no specific resource implications from this report, although some performance 
indicators relate to financial and other value for money aspects.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 All performance information is publicly available and is published on the council website.  
This report is an information update providing Scrutiny with a summary of performance for 
the strategic priorities within its remit and as such in not subject to call in.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 There is a comprehensive risk management process in the Council to monitor and 
manage key risks.  This links closely with performance management.

5 Conclusions

5.1 This report provides a summary of performance against the strategic priorities for the 
council and city related to the Environment and Housing Scrutiny Board. 

6 Recommendations  

6.1 Members are recommended to:

 Note the most recent performance information in Appendices 1 and 2 and the issues 
which have been highlighted and consider if they wish to undertake further scrutiny 
work to support improvement over the coming year in any of these areas.

7 Background documents1 

7.1 Best Council Plan 2015 - 20

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, unless they 
contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include published works.

Page 38



APPENDIX

Area Objective Priorities Our Measures
(PI = Performance Indicator)

Target/ Milestone

December 2015 

Result 
(Unless noted otherwise)

(*=cumulative)

March 2016 

Result 
(Unless noted otherwise)

(*=cumulative)

May 2016    Result 
(Unless noted otherwise)

(*=cumulative)

November 2016 

Result
(Unless noted otherwise)

(*=cumulative)

3200 total long term (6m+) private 

sector empty properties returned 

to use

2,058* 3,312* 257* 1,463*

Tracker: Net Reduction Figure 

(Target of 400 reduction on March 

2016 figure of 3,777 = 3,377 in 

March 2017)

4,304 3,777 3,593 3,594

Supporting communities 

and tackling poverty
Helping people out of financial hardship

PI: Reduce the number of 

households in fuel poverty
DECC 2013 data - 11.6%

N/A - Annual Report

(update expected June 

2016)

N/A - Annual Report

(update expected June 

2016)

N/A - Annual Report

(update expected June 

2016 but not available 

at the time of writing)

11.9%

(2014 data)

Tracker: Increase number of 

homeless preventions
5,096* 6,559* 1,116* 4,194*

Tracker: Homeless Prevention Rate 

(% of cases presenting at Leeds 

Housing Options)

78% 78% 80% 84%

Tracker: Reduce number of 

homeless acceptances
419* 505* 61* 188*

Tracker: number of households in 

temporary accommodation

75

(at 31st December)

73

(at 31st March)
84 84

Tracker: number of new 

unauthorised encampments
3 9 4 9

PI: % of housing adaptations 

completed within target timescale

Private: 97%

Council: 90%

Other housing measures

APPENDIX 1 - Environment and Housing Performance Information November 2016 (Housing) 

Best Council Plan 2015-

20

Promoting 

sustainable and 

inclusive economic 

growth

Facilitating key infrastructure

projects to deliver economic

and housing growth

PI: Reduce the number of empty 

homes

P
age 39



APPENDIX

Area Objective Priorities Our Measures
(PI = Performance Indicator)

Target/ Milestone

December 2015 

Result 
(Unless noted otherwise)

(*=cumulative)

March 2016 

Result 
(Unless noted otherwise)

(*=cumulative)

May 2016    Result 
(Unless noted otherwise)

(*=cumulative)

November 2016 

Result
(Unless noted otherwise)

(*=cumulative)

Tracker: % of Capital Programme 

spend

To spend 100% of annual profile 

by end of year

82.6%

(Period 9)

105%

(outturn)

14.1%

(Period 2)

60%

(Period 8)

PI: % of rent collected 97.5% 96.86% 97.24% 96.77% 97.16%

Tracker: Current tenants arrears 

(£'s)
6.67m                 6.13m                 6.20m                 5.98m

Tracker: Rent payment methods 

used

Cash: 47%

Direct Debit: 36%

Internet / Auto: 9%

Telephone: 5%

Other: 3%

Cash: 44%

Direct Debit: 39%

Internet / Auto: 9%

Telephone: 5%

Other: 3%

Cash: 41%

Direct Debit: 42%

Internet / Auto: 9%

Telephone: 5%

Other: 3%

October:

Cash: 41%

Direct Debit: 34%

Internet / Auto: 17%

Telephone: 5%

Other: 3%

PI: % of annual home visits 

completed - YTD
100%

85.06% 97.84% 24.93% 85.43%

PI: %  of repairs completed within 

target
99%

89.18% 88.54% 89.59% 95.88%

Breakdown of repairs completed 

within target

24hrs - 89.82%

3wrk day - 86.02%

20wrk day - 91.91%

60wrk day - 65.91%

_

24hrs - 91.13%

3wrk day - 84.35%

20wrk day - 92.02%

60wrk day - 70.93%

24hrs - 93.63%

3wrk day - 92.18%

20wrk day - 98.15%

60wrk day - 97.32%

PI: % overall satisfaction with 

services provided

77% 

(Tenant Satisfaction Survey 2012-

13)

77%

(Tenant Satisfaction 

Survey 2014-15)

77%

(Tenant Satisfaction 

Survey 2014-15)

77%

(Tenant Satisfaction 

Survey 2014-15)

77%

(Tenant Satisfaction 

Survey 2014-15)

Other housing measures

P
age 40



APPENDIX

Area Objective Priorities Our Measures
(PI = Performance Indicator)

Target/ Milestone

December 2015 

Result 
(Unless noted otherwise)

(*=cumulative)

March 2016 

Result 
(Unless noted otherwise)

(*=cumulative)

May 2016    Result 
(Unless noted otherwise)

(*=cumulative)

November 2016 

Result
(Unless noted otherwise)

(*=cumulative)

PI: gross average relet days <30 days
30.47* 30.52* 28.63* 27.17*

PI: number of lettable voids
360 voids

(+110 PFI/New Build)

383 voids

(+131 PFI/New Build)

352 voids

(+84 PFI/New Build)

299 voids

(+111 PFI/New Build)

Tracker: Count of all under-

occupation cases
5,054 5,033 4,986 4,609

Other housing measures

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2 - Environment and Housing Performance Information (latest available 2016)    
(Community Safety, Waste & Environment)

Performance 
area

Performance 
Reports / 
Data

BCP Priority? Summary comments drawing out performance issues for noting/discussion

Crime - 
Burglary

Partnership 
quarterly 
report card 
and burglary 
ward 
performance 
overview

Annual Comparison
Nov-14 

to Oct-15
Nov-15 

to Oct-16 Change %

Burglary Dwelling 5171 5020 -151 -2.9%

Monthly Comparison Oct-15 Oct-16 Change %

Burglary Dwelling 397 344 -53 -13.4%

Quarterly Trend Q2 15/16 Q3 15/16 Q4 15/16 Q1 16/17 Q2 16/17

Burglary Dwelling 1172 1294 1265 1093 1421

Key Issues:
 12 month high volume wards are Armley, Headingley, Hyde Park & Woodhouse and 

Gipton & Harehills. Volume in Armley ward has increased in the period; however there 
have been reductions in other high volume wards, most noticeably in Hyde Park & 
Woodhouse.  

 Within high volume wards, methods of entry vary, but include insecure doors and 
windows. Common items of property stolen were laptops, games consoles and cash.

 Although Outer Leeds wards are typically lower in volume, Guiseley & Rawdon, Morley 
North and Otley & Yeadon report a high proportional 12 month increase in offence 
volume.  

P
age 43



Anti-Social 
Behaviour

Partnership 
quarterly 
report card 
and monthly 
service level 
data

Annual Comparison
Nov-14 

to Oct-15
Nov-15 

to Oct-16 Change %

Nuisance & Damage 19959 22369 2410 12.1%

Monthly Comparison Oct-15 Oct-16 Change %

Nuisance & Damage 1975 2502 527 26.7%

Quarterly Trend Q2 15/16 Q3 15/16 Q4 15/16 Q1 16/17 Q2 16/17

Nuisance & Damage 5244 5109 4927 5374 6432

Key Issues:
 12 month high volume wards are Killingbeck & Seacroft, Gipton & Harehills and 

Armley. 
 Within high volume wards, the issues reported to the Police are predominantly youth 

nuisance, nuisance motorcycles, and more recently firework related nuisance.
 City & Hunslet (City), Killingbeck & Seacroft and Kirkstall ward report a high 

proportional 12 month increase in nuisance and damage volume.

P
age 44



Domestic 
Violence

Partnership 
quarterly 
report card 
and some 
police data

BCP Objective 1 
– Supporting 
communities and 
tackling poverty 
– Reducing the 
prevalence and 
impact of 
domestic 
violence and 
abuse.

Annual Comparison
Nov-14 

to Oct-15
Nov-15 

to Oct-16 Change %

Repeat DV ~ Victim 5570 7128 1558 28.0%

Repeat DV ~ Suspect 3147 4353 1206 38.3%

Monthly Comparison Oct-15 Oct-16 Change %

Repeat DV ~ Victim 510 641 131 25.7%

Repeat DV ~ Suspect 302 399 97 32.1%

Quarterly Trend Q2 15/16 Q3 15/16 Q4 15/16 Q1 16/17 Q2 16/17

Repeat DV ~ Victim 1533 1500 1683 1881 1933

Repeat DV ~ Suspect 909 852 997 1231 1176

Key Issues:
 18,044 domestic incidents in Leeds were reported to West Yorkshire Police between 

November 2015 and October 2016. Children were present during 5,903 incidents 
(33%). 1,441 (8%) of incidents involved alcohol. 

 The October 2016 repeat victim rate is 41.7%, and the 12 month repeat victim rate is 
39.5%. The October 2016 repeat suspect rate is 25.9% and the 12 month repeat 
suspect rate is 24.1%.

 12 month high volume wards for domestic incidents with repeat victims continue to be 
Gipton & Harehills, Burmantofts & Richmond Hill and Killingbeck & Seacroft. 12 
month high volume wards for domestic incidents with repeat suspects continue to be 
Middleton Park, Gipton & Harehills and Armley.

P
age 45



Missed bins 
per 100,000

Monthly trend 
report

BCP Objective 5 
– Dealing 
effectively with 
the city’s waste – 
Ensuring waste 
is collected on 
the scheduled 
day (Reduce the 
number of 
missed 
collections).

Latest Available Data – Lunar 9 (Week Commencing 7th November 2016): 

2015/16 2016/17

10 11 12 13 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Residual 
Black 70.78 92.16 83.61 100.0

0 81.71 65.32 87.29 72.68 76.48 73.99 88.36 55.58 60.81

SORT - 
Green 43.68 56.42 54.74 61.88 49.84 37.24 44.66 40.88 43.40 67.06 64.12 49.28 40.88

Garden - 
Brown 0.00 0.00 0.00 73.35 84.67 82.55 174.0

6 91.75 111.5
6 93.87 92.92 64.39 75.00

Overall 58.34 75.76 70.36 80.54 70.85 58.88 90.49 65.29 72.06 75.75 80.59 55.19 56.66

Previous 
Year 76.18 82.17 77.83 64.70 67.18 67.86 107.4

6 94.23 91.86 75.75 70.65 65.50 61.25

Recycling Monthly trend 
report

BCP Objective 5 
– Dealing 
effectively with 
the city’s waste – 
maximising 
recycling, reuse 
and recovery 
opportunities.

Latest Available Data: Unverified by Waste Data Flow

July Aug Sept
Monthly Target 46.2% 46.8% 45.5%
Monthly Achieved 43.0% 42.2% 41.8%
Year To Date Target 46.6% 46.7% 46.5%
Year To Date Achieved 42.5% 42.5% 42.4%
2015/16 Achieved 43.8% 42.9% 42.8%

Tonnage to 
Landfill
(domestic 
waste only)

Monthly trend 
report

BCP Objective 5 
– Dealing 
effectively with 
the city’s waste – 
Minimising the 
amount of waste 
that ends up in 
landfill.

Latest Available Data: Unverified by Waste Data Flow

July Aug Sept
Monthly Target 1,381 1,512 1,562
Monthly Achieved 1,625 1,763 795
Year To Date Target 5,585 7,097 8,659
Year To Date Achieved 6,347 8,110 8,904
2014/15 Achieved 29,834 39,353 45,539

P
age 46



Leeds Quality 
Park Standard

Annual 
(rolling 
programme)

All 63 community parks were assessed against the Leeds Quality Park (LQP) standard in 
2016 and will continue to be assessed on this basis in future, with 41 parks achieving the 
standard which is 65% against a target of 73%.

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Target 60% 66% 73% 81% 87% 94% 100%
Actual 52% 50% 65%

When other types of green space are included and based on the latest assessment 
available 146 sites have been assessed against this standard from 2014-16 and will 
continue to be assessed on this basis in future, with 68 green spaces achieving the 
standard which is 46.7% against a target of 42.2%.

2015/16 2016/17 2017/2018 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
Target 39% 42.2% 45.40% 48.60% 51.80% 55.00%

A Actual 38% 46.7%

Exclusions from performance monitoring this quarter:

Street Cleanliness – the 2015/16 survey score was reported in the last scrutiny board performance report and we are awaiting updated details to 
include summer 16/17. These will be included in a future report.

Ash Tree Dieback – the spread of the disease is continuing to be monitored.

P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report of Head of Governance and Scrutiny Support

Report to Scrutiny Board (Environment and Housing)

Date: 19th January 2017

Subject: Financial Health Monitoring

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. The purpose of this report is to provide Board Members with information with regard 
to the financial health of the Environment and Housing directorate.  

2. Attached is the latest financial health monitoring report (month 7) that was 
considered by the Executive Board at its meeting on 14 December 2016.  

3. Representatives from the directorate have been invited to the meeting to discuss the 
attached report and address any issues raised by the Scrutiny Board.  The Scrutiny 
Board will also be considering the initial 2017/18 budget proposals during today’s 
meeting, which are presented elsewhere on the agenda.

 Recommendations

4. That the Scrutiny Board considers the attached Executive Board report in relation to 
the financial health of the Environment and Housing directorate and agrees any 
specific scrutiny actions that may be appropriate.  

Background documents1

5.        None.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Report author:  Angela Brogden
Tel:  (0113) 247 4707

Page 49

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive 

Report to Executive Board    

Date: 14th December 2016 

Subject: Financial Health Monitoring 2016/17 – Month 7 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Executive Board of the financial health of 
the authority in respect of the revenue budget, and the Housing Revenue Account.  

 
2. The 2016/17 financial year is the first year covered by the 2015 Spending Review 

and again presents significant financial challenges to the council. The council to 
date has managed to achieve considerable savings in the order of £330m since 
2010 and the budget for 2016/17 will require the council to deliver a further £76m of 
savings.  
 

3. The current and future financial climate for local government represents a 
significant risk to the council’s priorities and ambitions. Whilst the council continues 
to make every effort possible to protect the front line delivery of services, it is clear 
that the position is becoming more difficult to manage and it will be increasingly 
difficult over the coming years to maintain current levels of service provision without 
significant changes in the way the council operates.   
 

4. Executive Board will recall that the 2016/17 general fund revenue budget, as 
approved by council provides for a variety of actions to reduce net spend by £31.5m 
delivering some £76m of budget action plans by March 2017.  After 7 months of the 
financial year it is clear that the majority of these actions and savings plans are on 
track to be delivered, however this report highlights a potential overall 
overspend/risk of £4m.   

Report author: Alan Gay/Doug Meeson  

Tel: 74250 

Page 51



 

 

 
5. The medium-term financial strategy approved by Executive Board in September 

2016 assumes that the 2016/17 budget will be at a balanced position by the year-
end.  Work is ongoing through directors and budget holders to bring-forward options 
and proposals across all directorates and services in order to reduce net spend in 
line with the budget. 

 
6. At the half-year, the Housing Revenue Account is projecting a £0.62m surplus. 

Recommendation 

7. Executive Board are asked to note the projected financial position of the authority. 
 

1. Purpose of this report     
 
1.1 This report sets out for the Executive Board the Council’s projected financial health 

position for 2016/17 after 7 months of the year.  
 
1.2 Budget Monitoring is a continuous process throughout the year, and this report 

reviews the position of the budget and highlights potential key risks and variations 
after 7 months of the year. 

 
2. Background information 
 
2.1 Executive Board will recall that the net budget for the general fund for 2016/17 was 

set at £496.4m, supported by the use of £3.5m of general reserves.   
 
2.2 Financial monitoring continues to be undertaken on a risk-based approach where 

financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget 
that are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans, 
those budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand, key income budgets, etc.   

 
3. Main Issues  
 
3.1 At month 7, a £4m overspend is forecast, as shown in table 1 below.   
 
 Table 1 – forecast 2016/17 budget variations by directorate 

 

Page 52



 

 

 
  
3.1.1 The report on the 2017/18 initial budget proposals which is also on the agenda for 

today’s Executive Board makes reference to proposals to review and re-profile the 
council’s repayment of debt which could achieve savings of up to £9.3m against the 
minimum revenue provision budget in 201617, with subsequent earmarking of the 
saving to reserves.  This proposal has not been reflected in this report and the 
budget proposals for 2017/18 still assume that the 2016/17 budget is balanced by 
year-end.  For information, the position at this point in the 2015/16 financial year 
was also a £4m overspend which improved to a marginal underspend by the year-
end.   

 
3.2 The key variations against the budget are outlined below and more detailed 

information is included in the financial dashboards at appendix 1. 
 

3.2.1 Adult Social Care - the directorate is projecting a balanced position at the financial 
year-end, as also reported at P5.  Projected spend on community care packages, 
general running expenses has reduced, income has slightly improved albeit offset 
by a reduction in the projected staffing savings. 

 
A high level review of all budget action plans has taken place and slippage totalling 
£3.1m is projected at the year-end, although substantial contingency savings have 
also been identified to offset the impact.  There is a projected shortfall of £1.4m in 
delivering the specific actions within the community care packages budget, with the 
largest shortfall relating to learning disability services. Slippage of £0.9m relates to 
contracts and grants budgeted savings and £0.3m to the Better Lives programme 
within older people’s residential and day care services. Some other budget 
pressures and savings have been identified, further details of which are outlined in 
the financial dashboard at appendix 1.   

 
3.2.2 Children’s Services – overall at month 7 the directorate is reporting a projected 

overspend of £4.98m.  The directorate is still facing a number of budget pressures 
but has committed to a number of actions to mitigate against these budget 
pressures including additional controls on recruitment and promoting the ELI 

Directorate Director Staffing Total Expenditure Income
 Total (under) 

/overspend

£000  £000  £000  £000  £000  

Adult Social Care Cath Roff (2,066) 858 (858) 0 0

Children's Services Steve Walker 500 9,490 (4,502) 4,988 4,256

City Development Martin Farrington (697) 540 (689) (149) (225)

Environment & Housing Neil Evans (764) 2,038 (2,133) (95) (95)

Strategy & Resources Alan Gay (1,367) (1,526) 1,620 94 194

Citizens & Communities James Rogers (45) 1,756 (1,852) (96) 345

Public Health Dr Ian Cameron (176) 15 (38) (23) (72)

Civic Enterprise Leeds Julie Meakin 1,459 2,080 (1,879) 201 201

Strategic & Central Alan Gay 300 2,970 (3,908) (938) (714)

Total Current Month (2,856) 18,221 (14,239) 3,982 3,890

Previous month (under)/over spend (2,458) 18,500 (14,610) 3,890

(Under) / Over spend for the current period

Month 6 
Position

Page 53



 

 

scheme in some areas, a review of contracts and a review of spend including 
restrictions in all areas of non-essential spend. In addition, the directorate is 
anticipating additional funding through a new innovations bid but this is subject to 
final approval.  

 
Children in care - at month 7, the directorate is supporting an additional 34 looked 
after children in external residential (ER) placements and with independent fostering 
agencies (IFA)  than the 2016/17 budget provides for and this has resulted in a 
projected £4.9m  pressure around  these demand budgets (£3.5m  ER & £1.3m 
IFA). In the last quarter of 2015/16 numbers had increased and continued to 
increase through to April 2016; however there has been a steady reduction in 
children looked after numbers since May. There are currently 1,232 CLA children 
(increase of 6 from month 6); this includes 51 with ER and 200 with IFA's. There is 
also a £0.9m pressure on in-house fostering but this is off-set by £0.9m of additional 
income on adoption. Overall the children in care budget supports 1,170 placements 
which includes provision for 36 ER and 181 IFA placements.  The current projection 
assumes that the number of children in care will continue to gradually reduce during 
the remainder of the financial year to 44 ER & 187 IFA.  

 
Transport - the home to school/college transport budget is under significant 
pressure due to a rise in the number of young people with complex needs, a rise in 
the transport requirements outside the city and an increase in private hire rates. The 
pressure is currently identified at £1.7m, which is net of the appropriation of £1m 
from the specific demand & demography earmarked reserve. 

 
Other Income - additional income from the Innovations & Partners in Practise grant 
is anticipated (part of a new 3/4 year bid which has not been secured yet). A further 
£0.3m income is also anticipated from the Housing Revenue Account to support the 
Family Intervention Services and the Multi-Systemic Therapy Service. Mitigating 
these is a net £0.6m pressure from a reduced level of funding supporting the 
Children's Centres.    

 
3.2.3 Schools Budget/Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) – as reported last month, there are 

a number of budget pressures that have emerged during 2016/17. These are mainly 
in the High Needs Block with a projected overspend of £5.3m in 2016/17 and this 
position was reported to the schools forum in October 2016. Schools forum noted 
the projected financial position, including that the deficit could be carried forward 
into 2017/18, and that a further report would be presented to the next meeting of the 
forum which would outline options for mitigating the budget pressures.    

 
3.2.4 City Development – at month 7 the overall position is a projected underspend of 

£149k.  However it should be noted that there are a number of fluctuations within 
the directorate that are being managed through additional income receipts and 
specific actions. 

 
3.2.5 Environment & Housing – at month 7 the directorate is forecasting a marginal 

underspend of £0.1m against its £53m net managed budget.  Within this overall 
figure, the waste management budget is anticipated to balance.  In car parking, 
staffing savings and additional income are expected to deliver a saving of £0.3m 
and in Community Safety there is a forecast underspend of £0.1m due again to 
staffing savings, one-off income from the WYPCC and additional Ministry of Justice 
funding.  Environment action & health are forecasting a £0.2m underspend due to 

Page 54



 

 

staffing savings and Housing support are also expecting to deliver a £0.2m 
underspend again due to staffing savings.  These savings are enabling the 
directorate to manage the directorate wide staffing efficiency target within the 
budget. 

 
3.2.6 Citizens & Communities – budget action plans have been reviewed with each Chief 

Officer and at present it is anticipated that most plans will be achieved, though there 
is a pressure of £0.25m on the Customer Access budget which is offset by a 
forecast underspend of £0.24m on the elections, licensing and registration budget 
which is due to additional income.  The anticipated year-end position on the 
Benefits, Welfare and Poverty budget has improved from last month due to further 
work on housing benefit overpayment income, and the transfer of libraries has 
brought across a £0.1m underspend from City Development.  Overall, the 
directorate is forecasting £0.1m underspend against its £29.7m budget.  

 
3.2.7 Public Health – the public health budget and budget savings plans for 2016/17 

reflect the continuing reduction to the ring-fenced grant.  Overall, the budget plans 
are on track to be delivered other than the planned savings of £0.2m as part of the 
transfer of the TB contract which will not materialise, though work to find 
compensating savings is now completed and is currently predicted to offset this 
pressure.  Due to overtrading of sexual health services, provision was made for 
anticipated costs however it is likely that these costs will not materialise in full 
resulting in savings to compensate for this risk.  In addition, pay costs are projected 
to be £0.16m underspent on the general staffing budget and work is continuing to 
identify potential financial pressures particularly in relation to costs associated with 
the new drugs and alcohol contract and public health activity contracts which are 
paid based on demand and some on NHS tariff.  Recent activity data is showing a 
reduced level of activity and as a result an underspend of £249k is projected on 
commissioning budgets. 

 
3.2.8 Strategy & Resources – overall, the directorate is highlighting a potential overspend 

of £0.2m which is due to a potential reduction in external income in the Projects, 
Programmes and Procurement Unit of £1m offset by forecast staffing savings of 
£0.7m.  The rest of the directorate is expected to deliver on its budget action plans. 

 
3.2.9 Civic Enterprise Leeds – the overall projected position at month 7 is an overspend 

of £0.2m explained by a potential overspend against the catering net budget which 
is mainly as a result of the marginal impact of the loss of 7 school contracts together 
with the marginal impact of a shortfall against the adjusted meal numbers.   

 
3.2.10 Strategic & Central budgets – at month 7, the strategic and central budgets are 

anticipated to underspend by £0.9m.  The key variations include; 
  

i. Debt - a net forecast pressure of £0.3m due to the conversion of short-term 
debt to long-term to take advantage of low long-term interest rates. 

ii. Section 278 income - a potential £1.8m risk due to lower levels of 
development activity. 

iii. Procurement - a £1m variation which reflects that the procurement savings will 
be managed through directorate budgets. 

iv. The spend forecast recognises the impact of the decision to increase the 
Leeds living wage from January 2017. 

Page 55



 

 

v. PFI – a £0.9m variation which recognises that these savings will show in 
directorate/service budgets. 

vi. Savings of £2m from the additional capitalisation of eligible spend in general 
fund and school budgets. 

vii. Appropriation of £1.9m of earmarked reserves. 
viii. A pressure of £0.4m relating to court cost income. 
ix. Savings of £2m on the levy contribution to the business rates pool. 
x. A potential pressure on court cost fees. 

 
3.3 Other Financial Performance 
 
3.3.1 Council Tax 

 
 The Council Tax in-year collection rate at the end of October was 63.85% which is 

marginally ahead of the performance in 2015/16.  At this stage of the year, the 
forecast is for an in-year collection rate of 95.9% collecting some £301m of council 
tax income. 

 
3.3.2 Business Rates  
 

The business rates collection rate at the end of October was 64.91% which is 
0.34% behind the performance at this stage in 2015/16.  The forecast is still to 
achieve the 2016/17 in-year collection target of 97.7% collecting some £383.2m of 
income.  
 

3.3.3 Prompt payment of Creditors 
 
 The current performance for the prompt payment of invoices processed within 30 

days is 91.93% which is marginally below the target of 92%. 
 
3.3.4   Procurement Report 
 
 Executive Board has requested a quarterly update on procurement activity. The 

report attached at appendix 2 provides information in relation to the second quarter 
of the current financial year. 
 

4.    Housing Revenue Account (HRA)  

4.1 At month 7 the HRA is projecting a £0.62m surplus at the year-end.  Projected 
income from rents and service charges are forecast to be marginally below the 
budget with a £0.1m estimated variation at the year-end.  There are a number of 
variations against the expenditure budgets which together total an underspend of 
£0.7m, including an underspend of £0.9m on the employee budget due in the main 
to staffing vacancies, a pressure on the disrepair provision of £0.2m because of 
new cases, an overspend on capital charges of £0.2m due to lower interest 
receivable and a forecast overspend of £0.2m across the supplies and services 
budgets.  Further detailed information is included in the HRA financial dashboard at 
appendix 1. 

 
5. Corporate Considerations 

5.1 Consultation and Engagement  

Page 56



 

 

5.1.1 This is a factual report and is not subject to consultation 

5.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

5.2.1 The Council’s revenue budget for 2016/17 was subject to equality impact 
assessments where appropriate and these can be seen in the papers to Council on 
24th February 2016. 

5.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan 

5.3.1 The 2016/17 budget targeted resources towards the Council’s policies and priorities 
as set out in the Best Council Plan. This report comments on the financial 
performance against this budget, supporting the Best Council ambition to be an 
efficient and enterprising organisation.   

5.4 Resources and Value for Money  

5.4.1 This is a revenue financial report and as such all financial implications are detailed 
in the main body of the report. 

 
5.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

5.5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report.  
 
5.6 Risk Management 
 
5.6.1 Financial management and monitoring continues to be undertaken on a risk-based 

approach with key budget risks identified as part of the annual budget-setting 
process and specifically monitored through the financial year.  Examples include the 
implementation of budget action plans, those budgets which are volatile and subject 
to fluctuating demand, key income budgets, etc.  The information in the financial 
dashboards at appendix 1 includes specific information on these risk areas. 

 
6. Recommendations 
 
6.1 Executive Board are asked to note the projected financial position of the authority. 
 
7. Background documents1  

7.1 None

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 57



 

 

                                    

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises
Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation
Total 

Expenditure
Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Health Partnerships 365 (112) 252 (87) 0 75 0 4 121 0 0 0 113 (204) (91)

Access & Care Delivery 245,962 (39,467) 206,495 (1,004) 74 (179) (16) 551 1,575 787 0 0 1,789 (444) 1,345

Commissioning 
Services

12,828 (24,298) (11,470) (497) 0 (141) (3) 109 410 0 0 0 (121) (599) (720)

Resources and Strategy 6,985 (1,008) 5,977 (478) (1) (176) (3) (315) 50 0 0 0 (922) 388 (534)

Total 266,139 (64,885) 201,254 (2,066) 74 (421) (21) 349 2,156 787 0 0 858 (858) (0)

ADULT SOCIAL CARE 2016/17 BUDGET
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - MONTH 7 (APRIL TO OCTOBER)

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall narrative
The directorate is projecting a balanced position at the financial year-end, as also reported at  month 6 Projected spend on community care packages, general running expenses has reduced, income has slightly improved albeit 
offset by a reduction in the projected staffing savings.

A high level review of all budget action plans has taken place and slippage totalling £3.1m is projected at the year-end, although substantial contingency savings have also been identified to offset the impact.  There is a projected 
shortfall of £1.4m in delivering the specific actions within the community care packages budget, with the largest shortfall relating to learning disability services. Slippage of £0.9m relates to contracts and grants budgeted savings 
and £0.3m to the Better Lives programme within older people’s residential and day care services.  Some other budget pressures and savings have been identified, further details of which are outlined below.

The main variations at Month 7 across the key expenditure types are as follows:

Staffing (-£2.1m – 4.0%)
Savings within Access and Care Delivery total £1.0m.  This mainly reflects reducing staffing numbers within the Community Support Service since the budget was set and vacancies within the care management and business 
support services, partly offset by slippage relating to the Better Lives programme within older people’s residential and day care services.  Savings of £1.1m are projected in commissioning services, resources and strategy and 
health and wellbeing due to ongoing vacancies.

Community care packages (+£2.4m – 1.2%) 
Expenditure on the learning disability pooled budget is currently projected to exceed budget provision mainly due to slippage in delivering the budgeted savings, but work continues to bring this back on track as far as possible by 
the year-end.  There are also some pressures on residential and nursing care placements reflecting the trend in the last quarter of 2015/16 and a higher number of residents at the start of the current financial year than was 
assumed when the budget was set.  Actions are underway to minimise the impact of these pressures by the year-end.

Transport (+£0.7m – 16.4%)
The most recent projections from Passenger Transport Services indicate higher than budgeted costs.  The information available indicates that the majority of the projected overspend relates to costs rather than demand, but 
further work is needed to understand this more fully.  This is being undertaken in conjunction with Passenger Transport Services.

Income (-£0.9m – 1.3%)
Service user contributions are slightly higher than budgeted, mainly due to some slippage in the Better Lives programme within older people’s residential and day care services.  Funding for staffing costs through the learning 
disability pooled budget is also higher than budgeted.

Appendix 1 

P
age 58



 

 

 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Lead Officer RAG
Action 
Plan 
Value

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget
A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1. D Ramskill A 0.9 0.3

2. S McFarlane A 1.0 0.4

3.
M Ward / M 
Naismith

A 0.5 0.0

4. J Bootle G 0.5 0.0

5.
J Wright / M 
Naismith

A 3.0 1.0

6. S McFarlane G 0.5 0.0

7. M Ward   A 1.4 0.9

8. Various G 0.8 0.0

9. A Hill G 1.0 0.0

10. S Hume G 3.9 0.0

11. S Hume G 1.8 0.0

B. Other Significant Variations

1. Various (2.1)

2.
J Bootle / M 
Naismith

0.6

3.
J Bootle / M 
Naismith

0.7

4 Various (0.9)

5 Various (0.9)

Adult Social Care Directorate - Forecast Variation 0.0

Review of care packages - learning disability
Reviewing care packages for existing  customers based on the strengths based approach and 
securing improved value for money commissioning

Assessment and care management efficiencies Review of skills mix and business processes

Exploring opportunities to realign spend between capital and revenueBetter Care Fund

Vacancy management Mainly non-frontline services

Grants and contracts Review of contracts and grants across client groups

Other expenditure
Savings on general running expenses through careful budget management, including the 
projected impact of essential spend only for the remainder of the year

Community care packages
Pressures experienced on residential & nursing placements and the learning disability pooled 
budget are continuing

Fees and charges Implementation of February 2016 Executive Board decisions

Mainly funding received in 2015/16 on a non-recurring basisHealth funding

Staffing
Ongoing tight vacancy management and reducing staff numbers in the Community Support 
Service

Transport Mainly increased costs, which are under investigation with Passenger Transport Services

Income
Mainly  funding for staffing costs through the learning disability pooled budget and service user 
contributions 

Additional Comments

Older people's residential and day care Full-year effects and ongoing Better Lives programme

Review of care packages - mental health 
Reviewing care packages for existing  customers based on the strengths based approach and 
securing improved value for money commissioning

Review of care packages - physical impairment
Reviewing care packages for existing  customers based on the strengths based approach and 
securing improved value for money commissioning

Assessment and care management practice
Delivering the most cost effective service for new customers based on the strengths based 
approach and the use of reablement and telecare services

P
age 59



 

 

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises Supplies & 
Services

Transport Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation Total 
Expenditure

Income Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Demand Led Budgets:

External and other Residential Placements 7,002 (2,835) 4,167 3,500 3,500 40 3,540

Independent Fostering Agencies 7,613 0 7,613 1,300 1,300 1,300
In House Fostering, Adoption, SGO and 
RO

21,560 (2,755) 18,805 898 898 (989) (91)

SEN Outside Placements 4,857 (4,857) 0 871 871 (863) 8
Leaving Care 5,052 (1,160) 3,892 886 886 (363) 523
Transport 5,210 0 5,210 2,700 (1,000) 1,700 1,700

Sub total Demand Led Budgets 51,294 (11,607) 39,687 0 0 0 2,700 0 7,455 0 0 (1,000) 9,155 (2,175) 6,980

Partner Funding

Schools Forum(A Life Ready For Learning) 0 (3,380) (3,380) 875 875 152 1,027

Partner Funding of Family Services (1,600) (1,600) 0 600 600
Sub total Partner Funding 0 (4,980) (4,980) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 875 875 752 1,627

Other Budgets

Partnership, Development & Business 
Support

14,257 (1,137) 13,120 465 (311) 0 95 249 (240) 9

Learning, Skills & Universal Services 129,347 (112,112) 17,235 (17) (417) 1 (229) (1,206) 0 153 (1,715) 1,545 (170)

Safeguarding, Targeted & Specialist 
Services

75,551 (17,897) 57,654 52 1 226 160 82 673 (38) (230) 926 (4,384) (3,458)

Central Overheads 8,894 (11,838) (2,944) 0 0

Sub total Other Budgets 228,049 (142,984) 85,065 500 1 (502) 161 (52) (533) (38) 0 (77) (540) (3,079) (3,619)

Total 279,343 (159,571) 119,772 500 1 (502) 2,861 (52) 6,922 (38) 0 (202) 9,490 (4,502) 4,988

CHILDREN'S SERVICES 2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD ‐ MONTH 7 (APRIL TO OCTOBER)

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall - at period 7 the directorate is reporting a projected overspend of £4.98m.  The directorate is still facing a number of budget pressures but has committed to a number of actions to mitigate against these budget pressures including additional controls on recruitment and 
promoting the ELI scheme in some areas, a review of contracts and a review of spend including restrictions in all areas of non-essential spend. In addition, the directorate is anticipating additional funding through a new innovations bid but this is subject to final approval. 

CLA Obsession - at period 7, the directorate is looking after an additional 34 looked after children in External Residential (ER) placements and with Independent Fostering Agencies (IFA)  than the 2016/17 budget provides for and this has resulted in a projected £4.9m pressure 
around  CLA  demand budgets (£3.5m  ER & £1.3m IFA). In the last quarter of 2015/16 numbers had increased and  continued to increase in April but there has been a steady reduction in children looked after numbers since May. There are currently 1,232 CLA children 
(increase of 6 from P6); this includes 51 with ER and 200 with IFA's. There is a £0.9m pressure on in-house fostering but this is off-set by £0.9m additional income on adoption. Overall the CLA budget supports  1,170 placements which includes provision for 36 ER and 181 IFA 
placements.  The current projection assumes that the looked after children numbers will continue to gradually reduce during the remainder of the financial year to 44 ER & 187 IFA. 

Staffing - Current assumption is for pay to overspend by £0.5m.  There are some risks around this forecast although the directorate has committed to take action to reduce staffing numbers. Staffing levels continue to reduce and have fallen month on month during 2016/17  and 
the overall monthly spend on pay is gradually reducing. Offsetting the savings in basic pay are increased spend on overtime and agency staff, mitigating some of the savings being delivered from reducing headcount but this is being reviewed with the aim of reducing where 
possible. 

Commissioned Services - A £0.1m saving target around the £10m of commissioned contracts and other spend within the directorate. The target has been reduced from Period 3 by £0.4m but the review currently taking place will generate further savings in 2017/18 to 
contribute to contribute to the directorate's budget strategy.  

DfE Innovations Funding - There is a potential pressure of £0.8m with the existing DfE Innovations funding. The current projection assumes that actions will be taken so that overall commitments match the funding available but there is still a significant risk that commitments will 
exceed the available funding in 16/17.

Transport - The home to school and home to college transport budget is under significant pressure due to a rise in the number of young people with complex needs, a rise in the transport requirements outside the city and an increase in private hire rates. The pressure is 
currently identified at £1.7m, which is net of the appropriation of £1m from the specific demand & demography earmarked reserve.

Other Income - Additional income from the Innovations & Partners in Practise grant is anticipated (part of a new 3/4 year bid which has not been secured yet). A further £0.3m HRA income to support the FIS and MST Service. Offsetting this is a net £0.6m pressure from a 
reduced level of funding supporting the Children's Centres .   

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)Pressure- Pressures have emerged over the past term principally  in relation to the Social Emotional and Mental Health provision,  Funding for Inclusion numbers and Central Early Years expenditure which total £5.1m. School Forum  on the 6th 
October received a report on the DSG budget which outlined the various pressures and have requested a further update and options to bring spend within budget in 2017/18. School Forum noted the projected overspend of £5.1m and that one option was to carry forward a deficit 
on the DSG into 2017/18 which would enable time to consider options to manage the budget in 2017/18

P
age 60



 

 

 
Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations: Lead Officer Action 

Plan Value
Forecast 
Variation

A. Significant Variations RAG £m £m

Children Looked After Steve Walker 4.90

Passenger Transport Sue Rumbold 1.70

Income - DSG Steve Walker 0.75

Income - DfE BID Steve Walker (2.00)

HRA - funding Steve Walker (0.30)

Savings challenge across department All (0.50)

B. Key Budget Action plans (BAP's)  

A1 CSLT G 2.40 0.00

A2 CSLT R 1.60 0.60

C1
Andrea 

Richardson
A 1.20 0.25

E1/E2/E4 Sue Rumbold A 1.40 0.00

E5
Andrea 

Richardson
A 0.50 0.40

A3 Steve Walker G 0.50 0.00

A4 Francis N'Jie G 0.40 (0.10)

E3 Steve Walker G 0.40 0.00

 All CO's G 2.29 (0.72)

Children's Services Directorate - Forecast Variation 4.98

Various other budget savings (10)

Impact of residential review on overtime costs

Including reconfiguration of Targeted Services, a review of assets, additional trading with schools, 
additional DfE funding for adoption services; principally inter-agency fee, reviewing non Statutory costs 
etc.

Running cost efficiencies following closure of Pinfolds and Bodmin. Linked to the overall pay strategy for 
the directorate. 

Staff savings

Reduce net cost of Learning For life managed Children's 
Centres Childcare.

Adel Beck

Improvement partners

Maximise income from selling to other LA's. Rates revised for 16-17 to recover this additional income 
subject to occupancy levels being achieved. 

Maximise income from supporting other LA's. Work underway with a number of LAs. Other expressions 
of interest from other LA's. Innovations bid ongoing. Decision due late summer.

Ensure childcare income generated is reflected in childcare staffing levels

Reduction in posts/additional trading opportunities and ELIs. Linked to medium term strategy for the 
directorate. Further staff reductions are required to meet budget assumptions. 

Securing additional income from Schools Forum

Additional Funding For Children's Centres

Reconfigure services to young people at risk of becoming 
NEET

IAG contract has been extended to July 2016. Some existing provider staff will TUPE.

Funding options being pursued. 

£3.4m of funding per academic year provisionally agreed subject to delivery of activity and funds being 
available from DSG. School Forum in October has now approved this funding. 

Additional Comments

Additional HRA income re signpost and MST service may not be forthcoming.  It is subject to agreement with 
Environments & Housing.

Target savings against running costs and staffing budgets.  Proposals are being considered by CSLT.  There is a risk that 
sufficient savings are not identified. The saving target has been reduced as savings have been identified. 

Pressure on CLA demand led budgets (External Residential placements and Independent Fostering Agencies) partly offset 
by additional income from adoption. There has been a gradual reduction in numbers since May and the current budget 
projection appears achievable.

Increased numbers of children requiring education outside the city, increased complexity of need and an increase in 
private hire rates. The current projection will be reviewed in October once the latest transport data is available. 

The current projection allows for a £0.75m shortfall against the budgeted income. The other pressures on the DSG could 
be partly met by exploring options in relation to balances and re-examining eligibility criteria. Options to be presented to 
School Forum in October. 

New BID submitted in 2016/17. Good progress is being made in the discussions with the DfE. 

P
age 61



 

 
 

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises
Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation
Total 

Expenditure
Income Total (under) / 

overspend
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning and 
Sustainable 
Development

8,571 (5,753) 2,818 (124) 0 197 0 17 0 0 0 0 90 (190) (100)

Economic 
Development

5,058 (4,189) 869 54 20 1,302 0 17 0 0 0 0 1,393 (907) 486

Asset 
Management and 
Regeneration

11,181 (10,410) 771 (165) 98 (108) (6) (188) 0 0 16 0 (353) 66 (287)

Highways and 
Transportation

56,429 (40,246) 16,183 (384) 107 (634) 78 (34) 0 0 0 0 (867) 420 (447)

Arts and Heritage 16,642 (6,902) 9,740 (31) (116) 392 (2) 8 22 13 0 0 286 (202) 84

Sport and Active 
Recreation

24,507 (18,842) 5,665 (32) 30 43 3 28 (35) (31) 0 0 6 124 130

Resources and 
Strategy

1,720 (95) 1,625 (15) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (15) 0 (15)

Total 124,108 (86,437) 37,671 (697) 139 1,192 73 (152) (13) (18) 16 0 540 (689) (149)

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

CITY DEVELOPMENT 2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD ‐ MONTH 7 (APRIL TO OCTOBER)

Overall - at Period 7 the reported position is a projected underspend of £149k.  However it should be noted that there are a number of  fluctuations  within the  Directorate  that are being managed through additional income 
receipts and specific actions  such as the use of Bridgewater Place money estimated at £916k and Arena Debt savings  of £450k.  These  variances continue to be managed with  the expectation that they will not cross over into 
2017/18.

There are concerns around Planning Appeals costs this year as the service currently have a number of appeals ongoing from 2015/16 and new ones coming in in 2016/17, this is currently estimated at £200k, and is offset by 
increased Building Control and Planning Fee  income and underspends on staffing due to a number of vacant posts.  

In Economic Development the large variations on supplies and services and income is reflective of  the  Flood Alleviation expenditure and grant  income  receipts at Kirkgate Market are under pressure due to the extension of 
rent discounts into 2016-17 and later than anticipated new lettings resulting from delays to its  redevelopment. The projected effect will be an under recovery of £420k against the income budget.

In Asset Management  the advertising Income pressure remains at £442k.  Although the income target was reduced in the 2016/17 estimates cycle by £200k  it is unlikely to achieve its target this year due to the time required to 
build up the advertising sites portfolio and programme delays around approvals for the advertising sites.   It is assumed that this will be offset by Arena debt savings (£450k) and income from two new asset purchases recently 
approved by Executive Board (£131k).    

Highways and Transportation have contracted further work with their strategic partners Mouchel  increasing supplies and services spend offset by additional income.  

In Arts and Heritage there is a projected loss of income from Room Hire at the Art Gallery (closed for roof repairs) £100k, which is offset by  the NNDR Rebate  and there is increased Town Hall bar and catering income.  
Overspends in supplies and services are  partly funded by and related to increased events income .  

The Libraries Service has transferred to  Citizens and Communities  which has reduced the overall Directorate underspend by £101k

Within the Sport Service overspends on supplies and services including catering, resalable and consultancy costs are offset with associated increases in projected income, which also includes an anticipated £40k shortfall of 
income in relation to the pool closure and refurbishment at John Smeaton and a £60k pressure due to incorrect treatment of VAT on the Fitness and Swim Bodyline Offer.     The service is also experiencing a downturn in 
Bodyline income due to the number of budget gyms that have opened in the last 12 months.

The directorate strategy is to use the  proposed £916k Bridge Water Place settlement to part fund these net pressures and contribute the balance to the corporate strategy. In the service analysis below £460k is utilised against 
specific services and £456k Highways & Transportation.

P
age 62



 

 

 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

RAG
Action 
Plan 

Value

Forecast 
Variation against 

Plan/Budget

Lead Officer
A.  Budget Action Plans £'000 £'000

1. Tim Hill G 550 (300)

2. Tom Bridges A 280 66

3. Tom Bridges G 410 (148)

4. Gary Bartlett G 440 9

5.
Cluny 
MacPherson

A 570 84

6.
Cluny 
MacPherson

G 125 0

7.
Cluny 
MacPherson

A 440 130

8 Ed Mylan G 30 (15)

9.
All Chief 
Officers

G 460 0

B. Other Significant Variations

1. Asset Management Tom Bridges (139)

2. Highways Gary Bartlett 0

3. Planning Appeals Tim Hill Uncertainty at this stage around the costs of planning appeals 200

4. Tom Bridges 420

5.
Martin 
Farrington

(456)

City Development Directorate - Forecast Variation (149)

Additional Comments

Reduction in the net cost of service through staffing savings and increased income generation

Reduction in the net cost of service through management restructure, staffing savings and 
increased income generation

Planning and Sustainable Development

Full Year Effect of new grant allocations will deliver the savings. DDN published 25 March 2015 
and implemented 1st April 2015

Kirkgate Market
Extension of rent discounts and other rent  reductions resulting from the delay in the Kirkgate 
redevelopment. 

Reduction in the net cost of service through staffing savings and increased income generation

Reduction in the net cost of service via alternative service delivery, removal of subsidies, 
staffing savings and additional income 

Reduction in the net cost of service via efficiency savings, staffing savings and increased 
income generation

Highways and Transportation

Arts and Heritage

Economic Development

Asset Management & Regeneration

As per the Directorate Strategy, use of balance of Bridgewater Place settlement to mitigate 
pressures

Additional Highways Income

Sport and Active Recreation

Resources and Strategy Reduction in the net cost of service via efficiency and staffing savings

Directorate Directorate-wide additional income target

Bridgewater Place 

Reduction in the net cost of service via efficiency savings, staffing savings and increased 
income generation

Reduced borrowing costs at Leeds Arena (£450k) income from new assets (£131k) offsetting 
reduced income from Advertising (£442)

Arts Grant 

P
age 63



 

 

Summary By Service
Expenditure 

Budget
Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate Staffing Premises

Supplies & 
Services Transport

Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments Capital Appropriation

Total 
Expenditure Income

Total (under) 
/ overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Community Safety 8,723 (6,530) 2,193 (212) (226) (169) (607) 494 (113)

Strategic Housing, SECC, Contracts 18,610 (9,429) 9,181 (515) 3 103 2 0 143 (264) 44 (220)

General Fund Support (429) (408) (837) 700 50 750 0 750

Leeds Building Services 45,305 (51,376) (6,071) (129) 181 1,772 (202) 1,622 (1,622) 0

Parks & Countryside 29,328 (21,309) 8,019 (52) (4) 848 (87) 112 817 (817) 0

Waste Strategy and Disposal 20,429 (5,749) 14,680 (34) (16) (50) (50)

Household Waste Sites & Infrastructure 4,502 (480) 4,022 106 17 14 6 143 (127) 16

Refuse Collection 16,747 (375) 16,372 51 3 54 54

Environmental Action 15,346 (4,343) 11,003 (358) 66 (45) 136 (24) (225) 82 (143)

Environmental Health 3,164 (765) 2,399 (136) 22 4 32 (78) 8 (70)

Car Parking 5,003 (12,614) (7,611) (185) 19 28 13 1 (124) (195) (319)

Total 166,728 (113,378) 53,350 (764) 282 2,550 (128) (45) 143 0 0 0 2,038 (2,133) (95)

ENVIRONMENT & HOUSING 2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - MONTH 7 (APRIL TO OCTOBER)

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget;

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall Position (£95k under budget)

Community Safety (£113k under budget)
The service is projecting an underspend on staffing of £202k (offset by reduced 
charges to HRA of £79k). One off income in year has been received from West 
Yorkshire Police & Crime Commissioner (£85k) for contributions  to LASBT 
(Leeds Anti social behaviour team) and additional  Ministry of Justice funds 
(£89k) have been utilised. CCTV income is projected to be lower than budgeted 
by £179k. Other variances total £5k

Parks & Countryside  (£0k Nil variance)
The service is projecting lower level of turnover  at attractions (including 
cafe/retail) due to no Easter and the good weather  in August/September 
affecting Tropical World attendances, giving an overall  variance  at attractions 
of +£144k. A projected lower reduction in Golf income of £58k is offset by 
projected workshop savings (£84k) and fuel (29k).  Other net savings across the 
service total (£89k).

Environmental Action & Health (£212k under budget)
Env Action ‐ Projected staffing savings of (£357k) are offset by loss of 
Wellbeing funding £36k, reduced FPN income of £66k and additional transport 
costs of £125k in respect of GPS system for gully tankers and additional 
vehicles. Other variations total +(£12k).
Env Health ‐ projected staffing savings of (£136k), partially offset  by increased  
legal costs £32k, other expenditure £27k and reduced income of £7k.

Car Parking (£319k under budget)
Ongoing vacant attendant posts (£185k) partially offset by additional 
expenditure of £60k (mainly for P&D machine maintenance and the upgrades 
required to facilitate the new £1 coin coming into circulation in 2017). Overall 
Income is projected to be increased by (£194k). This includes: Woodhouse 
Lane (£135k) of which (£90k) is for the 50p increase (in June); other variations 
being off street parking (£153k), On street £204k, PCN/BLE  (£57k) and other 
income (£53k). 

Housing Support/Partnerships/SECC/SP Contracts (£221k under budget)
Housing staffing underspends (£466k) due to vacant posts are partially offset 
by a reduction of £187k corresponding income, mainly charged to HRA. 
Variations in SP are £52k.  Other variations across all areas are projected to be 
£6k.

General Fund SS (+£750k over budget)
Of the £999k Directorate wide staffing efficiency target, £886k savings have 
been included within the projected position of individual services and 
therefore remains a pressure within GFSS. (It is assumed that the remaining  
£113k will be found across the directorate in year). Offsetting the £886k are 
staffing savings in Intelligence & Improvements and other minor variations 
(£136k).  

Leeds  Building Services (£0k Nil variance)
Additional turnover is being generated through Housing Leeds repairs and 
work for capital schemes. This results in additional sub contractor spend which 
is partially offset by reductions in internal costs. Overall a nil variance is 

Waste Management +£20k over budget

Refuse (+£54k over budget)
The projected overspend reflects additional staffing costs relating to 
Christmas cover and the cost of union support to the redesign of collection 
routes which is key to delivering the 2017/18  efficiency savings. Other 
staffing  costs relating to back up routes and sickness levels are projected to 
be contained within the overall staffing budget.  

HWSS & Infrastructure (+£16k over budget)
Additional staffing costs of £105k are forecast, which reflects additional 
operatives at HWSS required to deal with higher than anticipated waste 
volumes and increased sickness levels. In addition, vehicle repair costs of 
£29k are projected. Additional Trade contract income is projected to largely 
offset the expenditure variations, leaving a small projected overspend of 
£16k.

Waste Strategy & Disposal (£50k under budget)
Lower than anticipated tonnage volumes and an additional share of 
electricity income at the RERF have resulted in a projected underspend of 
(£254k). In addition, the continuing reduction in gate fees experienced in 
recent months has resulted in a projected underspend of (£189k) in respect 
of SORT disposal costs. Offsetting these projected underspends are higher 
than anticipated tonnages at Household Waste Sorting Sites. Excluding 
additional Trade contract waste disposal costs of £90k (which is offset by 
additional income within HWSS & Infrastructure) and taking into account a 
contribution of (£100k) from Housing Leeds to reflect increased volumes, 
these are projected to cost an additional £460k. All other variations and 

P
age 64



 

 

 

 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer RAG

Action Plan 
Value

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget
A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1. Andrew Lingham G (4.5) 0.0

2. Andrew Lingham G (0.1) 0.0

3. Sean Flesher G (0.6) 0.0

4. Simon Costigan A (0.2) 0.0

5. Helen Freeman G (0.2) 0.0

6. Sam Millar A (0.7) 0.0

7. Neil Evans G (0.3) 0.1

8. Directorate wide staffing reductions Neil Evans G (1.2) 0.75

9. Contract / Procurement Savings / Line by Line A (0.3) 0.0
10. All Other action plan items G (0.1) 0.0

B. Other Significant Variations

1. Andrew Lingham (0.0)

2. Tom Smith 0.1

3. Tom Smith 0.0

4. Helen Freeman (0.1)

5. Car Parking Fee Income  Helen Freeman (0.1)

6 Environmental Action staffing Helen Freeman (0.4)

7 Property Maintenance Simon Costigan 0.0

8 Parks and Countryside ‐ Attractions Sean Flesher 0.0

9 Parks and Countryside ‐ Bereavement Services Sean Flesher 0.0

10 All other variations, mainly staffing (0.4)

Environment & Housing ‐ Forecast Variation (0.1)

£8.4m budget increase of £810k from 15/16.(Introduced new WHLCP increased by 50p June 2016)

£13.5m pay budget in service

Budgeted surplus of £5.2m required to be delivered. Service currently operating with £12.2m WIP

£1.7m  Income budget  (incl: TWorld £1.3 m budget)

£6.3 m budget

Includes Community Safety (£0.2m, Car Parking £0.2m, Housing Support/Partnership £0.2m)

Refuse Collection staffing costs £12.2m pay budget in service;  £54k variation anticipated at P7

Refuse Collection vehicle costs Repairs £0.7m; Fuel £1.2m. Fuel nil variance at P7 (price increases offset by volume variations)

Car Parking BLE / PCN income BLE  £1.4m ; PCN's   £2.3m ‐ (£57k) variance projected at P7

Waste Disposal Costs Net budget £15.7m for 329.2k tonnes of waste; ‐£15k variation at P7

Leeds Building Services Identification of savings to fund PPPU costs

Car Parking Review of Price tariffs and additional income target. 

WYP &CC grant use £713k funding budgeted but not confirmed therefore remains a risk

Savings in Housing related support programme FYE of 15/16 plus recommissioning of more SP contracts

At period 7, pressure of £0.75m offset by staffing savings in services (see 6 and 10 below)

Target for contract savings in the base.  (not shown as a variance as reported corp in 15/16)

Dealing Effectively with the City's waste FYE of Waste Strategy and assumes PFI at £53.3 for B1 tonnes; £0.3m for additional recycling performance

HWSS Strategic Review Service still reviewing options but likely to be 2017/18. Other savings to be identified.

Parks and Countryside additional income Implement price rises, plus additional income at various attractions

Additional Comments

P
age 65



 

 

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises
Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation
Total 

Expenditure
Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Communities 12,452 (6,900) 5,552 (59) 50 132 (3) 21 0 0 0 43 184 (188) (4)

Customer Access 16,930 (1,568) 15,362 250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 250 0 250

Libraries 6,299 (1,193) 5,106 (89) (2) (35) (2) (1) 0 0 0 0 (129) 28 (101)

Elections, Licensing 
& Registration

7,474 (6,749) 725 (18) 181 81 (6) (7) 0 0 0 0 231 (472) (241)

Benefits, Welfare and 
Poverty

287,302 (284,390) 2,912 (129) 8 317 (12) 100 0 936 0 0 1,220 (1,220) 0

Total 330,457 (300,800) 29,657 (45) 237 495 (23) 113 0 936 0 43 1,756 (1,852) (96)

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - MONTH 7 (APRIL TO OCTOBER)

CITIZENS AND COMMUNITIES 2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall - Budget action plans have been reviewed with each Chief Officer and at present it is anticipated that most plans will be achieved, though there is a pressure of £250k on Customer Access staffing costs.   A projected 
underspend of £241k in Elections, Licensing and Registration along with forecast savings of £101k in Libraries gives an overall underspend of £96k for the Directorate as a whole.

Communities The latest figures for Community Centres indicate a potential overspend of £50k, although this assumes no savings in utility costs (last year this was £50k) which could balance the overall position. We have also assumed 
a drop in income as Leeds City College will be moving out of St Barts/Strawberry Lane and generated £30k per year.  Budget savings on Well Being, Youth Activities, and the Innovation Fund have been delivered. The full saving of 3rd 
Sector Infrastructure Grant will not be delivered in year but this will be offset by savings elsewhere within the service.  The variances recorded below all relate to Migration Services and reflect some savings on staffing cost due to 
delayed recruitment and transfer of income in year to reserve. Overall the service will balance to resources in year.

Customer Access Savings targets built in to the budget for 2016/17 are challenging and there is a significant amount of work involved in developing the Community Hubs. 
The budget for 2015/16 had a saving of £100k built in for Community Hubs and there is a further £100k saving for 2016/17. Demands on staffing are significant and development of the Hub approach as well as integration of the Branch 
Library Service has resulted in some additional cost. It is unlikely that the saving will be delivered in year are we are currently forecasting the staffing pressure could result in an overspend of approx £250k. Some of the additional 
staffing costs relates to project resource required to deliver the outcomes of an Executive Board Report approving £4.6m of capital spend to develop the retained assets that are becoming the hub sites to allow both service integration 
and release of surplus assets.  The Transactional Web savings of £200k relate to staffing costs in the Contact Centre and these are currently on line to be delivered.

Libraries Service The figures this month reflect the transfer of the service from City Development to Citizens and Communities. Overall, an underspend of £101k is expected,  comprising a savings of £89k on staffing, £40k running 
costs as well as a shortfall in income of £28k.

Elections, Licensing & Registration Staffing costs at Period 7 are projected to be £18k under budget, included in this is an overspend of £29k for Taxi and Private Hire Licensing which is funded out of additional income.  The 
collection of income continues to do well and this has been reflected within this month's projections. A total of £182k of projected income in excess of the budget has been identified at this stage  in the year, this arises across three 
areas: Registrars £100k, Local Land Charges £53k and Entertainment Licensing £30k. Additional premises costs relate to Elections Service and these costs are funded via grant, the overspend on supplies and services relates to 
Vehicle Licensing and this is funded out of additional income.

Benefits, Welfare and Poverty Staffing and overtime costs are projected to be £129k below the staffing budget. There have been a number of windfall grants which have now been reflected in the projection, ie Pension Assessed 
Income, Temporary Absence, Family Premium which relate to the DWP New Burdens. In addition the FERIS and Single Fraud grants have been used to fund the increased cost of additional off-site processing work.

The Local Welfare Support Scheme is projecting to underspend by £300k - with some aspects of the spend on a 5 month delay, prior years orders rolled into 16/17 are currently being completed.  Housing Benefit Overpayments have 
reduced in line with the overall reduction in HB payments, so too has the average value of each overpayment. In addition the number and value of overpayments generated through data matching with DWP and HMRC have reduced 
significantly despite the number of referrals being received by the LA remaining at a similar level to previous years. However proactive work has been ongoing during recent months with interventions based on medium risk cases - this 
has resulted in an increase in overpayment income projections compared to last month. 

This year's initiative to identify further cases where Single Person Discount has been incorrectly claimed is proving successful and the projected additional income by year end is £500k against the £280k reflected in the budget. This 
income is accounted for within the Collection Fund, so doesn't show within the Citizens and Communities revenue position.

P
age 66



 

 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Lead 
Officer

RAG
Action 
Plan 

Value

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget

A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m
Efficiencies

R 0.1 0.3

G 0.3 0.0

G 0.2 0.0
G 0.1 0.0

G 0.1 0.0

G 0.0 0.0
G 0.1 0.0

G 0.1 0.0

G 0.2 0.0

G 0.1 0.0

G 0.1 0.0

G 0.1 0.0

R 0.4 0.6

G 0.0 0.0

G 0.2 0.0

G 0.1 0.0
B. Other Significant Budgets

Net effect of all other variations (1.0)

Citizens and Communities Directorate - Forecast Variation (0.1)

Local Welfare Support Scheme Steve Carey HRA contribution in respect of support of Council tenants

£64k from PPE, printing and mail

Steve Carey

Steve Carey

Level of overpayments down compared to last year. Projections still assume that 
the trend will pick up and the budget will be met, although this is a significant risk 
area.

£500k now projected - incidence in the Collection Fund

Shaid Mahmood

Shaid Mahmood

Advice consortium and welfare rights

Budget reduction

All CO's

Steve Carey

Housing benefits overpayments

Council Tax Single Person Discount

Reduction in wellbeing and youth activities

Third sector infrastructure grant

Innovation Fund

Service Reductions

Service Reductions

Reduction in budgetShaid Mahmood

Shaid Mahmood/Lee 
Hemsworth

Lee Hemsworth In year Savings

Lee Hemsworth Book Fund

HRA contribution relating to under occupancy and rent arrears

Savings in line with the asset management plan for closure of buildings and move 
of some HRA functions into the Community Hubs

Review of costs and incomeRegistrars

Community hubs

Running costs

Lee Hemsworth

Shaid Mahmood

Transactional web Lee Hemsworth

Efficiencies from bringing services together, linked to Phase 1 and 2 of the capital 
investment in the service

Additional income - traded services, partner and other income

Additional Comments

Grant reduction

Main savings in Communities

Further savings from the implementation of transactional web, mainly staffing

John Mulcahy

Asset savings

Other

Staffing Savings (Libraries) Lee Hemsworth Staffing efficiency target

Changes to service

P
age 67



 

 

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises
Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation
Total 

Expenditure
Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Public Health Grant (46,630) (46,630) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Staffing and General 
Running Costs

5,023 5,023 (176) 2 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 (167) (22) (189)

Commissioned and 
Programmed Services:

 - General Public Health 208 208 0 0 0 0 0 (30) 0 0 0 (30) 0 (30)

 - Population Healthcare 283 283 0 0 0 0 0 (5) 0 0 0 (5) 0 (5)

 - Healthy Living and 
Health Improvement

15,329 (140) 15,189 0 0 (3) 0 0 (127) 0 0 0 (130) 0 (130)

 - Older People and Long 
Term Conditions

2,361 (47) 2,314 39 0 0 0 1 26 0 0 0 66 (66) 0

 - Child and Maternal 
Health

14,059 14,059 0 0 0 0 (4) (30) 0 0 0 (34) 0 (34)

 - Mental Wellbeing and 
Sexual Health

9,248 9,248 37 0 0 0 9 (288) 0 0 0 (242) 0 (242)

 - Health Protection 806 806 0 0 0 0 0 229 0 0 0 229 0 229

Transfer From Reserves (500) (500) 401 401 401

Supporting People 964 (637) 327 (76) 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 (73) 50 (23)
Drugs Commissioning 1,260 (1,260) 0 0 0 24 0 0 (24) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 49,541 (49,214) 327 (176) 3 30 0 6 (249) 0 0 401 15 (38) (23)

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - MONTH 7 (APRIL TO OCTOBER)

PUBLIC HEALTH ‐ 2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall - The allocation of the ring fenced Public Health grant for 2016-17 is £46,630k, this includes an additional £4,993k of funding for the full year effect for the 0-5 years services (Health Visiting and Family Nurse Partnership) 
which transferred to LCC in October 2015 less the continuing and significant reduction to the ring-fenced grant allocation. 

The 2016/17 budget reflects savings of £1.1m from successful consultation and negotiation with our partners and providers including 3rd Sector and NHS providers. In addition savings have been made from the Public Health 
funding which is provided across Council directorates to support joint commissioning and commissioning of Council run services resulting in £355k of savings.  Savings of £955k have been found from Public Health programme 
budgets, vacant posts, support services and running costs.  

Detailed Analysis

The planned saving of £233k as part of the transfer of the TB contract will not materialise, though work to find compensating savings is now completed and is currently predicted to slightly over-achieve.  Due to overtrading of 
sexual health services, provision was made for anticipated costs.  However it is likely that these costs will not materialise in full therefore resulting in savings to compensate for this risk.  

Due to staff turnover and vacant posts on hold as a result of a review to prioritise critical posts that need to be filled, pay costs are projected to be £161k underspent on the general staffing budget, though some staff are now 
working on income funded projects. Work is continuing to identify potential financial pressures particularly in relation to costs associated with the new drugs and alcohol contract and Public Health activity contracts which are paid 
based on demand and some on NHS tariff.  Recent activity data  is showing a reduced level of activity and as a result, an underspend of £249k is projected on commissioning budgets.

Overall, this means that the grant funded budgets are projected to be £401k underspent.  This underspend will be used to reduce the £1,326k required from reserves to fund the budget shortfall, meaning that the funding required 
from reserves is now expected to be £925k.

In Supporting People there are a number of vacancies and recruitment delays which has resulted in a projected underspend of £73k, though this is partly offset by a corresponding reduction in income of £50k to give an overall 
underspend of £23k.

P
age 68



 

 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead 

Officer
RAG

Action 
Plan 

Value

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget
A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

Efficiencies

 - General effciencies on contracted services
Ian 
Cameron

G 0.80 0.00

 - Staff savings
Ian 
Cameron

G 0.42 0.00

Review of commissioned services
Third Sector

 - Savings on contracts due to expire
Ian 
Cameron

G 0.16 0.00

 - Drugs and alcohol services
Ian 
Cameron

G 0.20 0.00

 - Drug Intevention Programme and Integrated Offender Mangement
Ian 
Cameron

G 0.38 0.00

 - Savings on existing contracts
Ian 
Cameron

G 0.29 0.00

 - Transfer of TB service to NHS provider
Ian 
Cameron

R 0.23 0.23

Leeds City Council services
Ian 
Cameron

G 1.75 0.00

Programmed budgets
Ian 
Cameron

G 0.60 0.00

B. Other Variations

Projected underspend on staffing costs (0.18)
Net effect of all other variations (0.07)

(0.02)

Additional Comments

In response to this proposed reduction in public health funding in 16/17 to council provided 
services, £1.3m of non-recurrent earmarked reserves will be used to maintain services to 
March 17. LCC directorates and heads of finance have confirmed savings have been achieved 
and implemented either by absorbing the saving or in consultation with relevant provider.

Contracts affected include Health Visiting, School Nursing, Healthy Lifestyles, Smoking 
Cessation, Weight Management, Infection Control. Consultation with NHS provider has started, 
further discussions planned.

Following consultation with NHS Partners this saving will not be realised

Public Health ‐ Forecast Variation

Reduction in staffing pay budget through vacant posts on hold and vacancy management 
throughout 2016/17

5% saving on 22 contracts due to expire. Areas covered community development, food and 
nutrition, vulnerable groups, older people, sexual health, domestic violence, mental health, 
cancer screening, children's physical activity, obesity and breast feeding. All affected 3rd Sector 
providers have confirmed their acceptance of the 5% saving, public health contract managers 
continue to provide support to all providers.

Initial consultation with provider has taken palce, further discussions are planned.

Consultation with partners and providers have begun in order to realise savings.

Programme budgets removed for area health priorities across ENE, S&E and WNW. Adult 
public health programmes including drugs and alcohol, mental health, sexual health, infection 
control and fuel poverty. Children's public health programmes including obesity, breastfeeding, 
alcohol, drugs infant mortality and oral health.

A combination of reductions in demand, expiry of contracts, ending one-off contributions and 
activities now funded by other contracts or organisations

P
age 69



 

 

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises
Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation
Total 

Expenditure
Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Strategy & 
Improvement

4,832 (471) 4,361 (60) 0 5 (5) 0 0 0 0 (60) 60 0

Finance 15,843 (7,004) 8,839 (25) 2 (4) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (27) 27 0

Human Resources 8,305 (1,915) 6,390 (178) (2) (5) (24) (46) 0 0 0 0 (255) 255 0

Information 
Technology 

19,428 (6,074) 13,354 (95) 0 (80) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (175) 95 (80)

Projects, 
Programmes & 
Procurement

7,658 (6,085) 1,573 (723) 0 1 (1) 0 0 0 0 0 (723) 1,023 300

Legal Services 4,736 (6,915) (2,179) (160) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (160) 160 0

Democratic 
Services

4,944 (26) 4,918 (126) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (126) 0 (126)

Total 65,746 (28,490) 37,256 (1,367) 0 (83) (30) (46) 0 0 0 0 (1,526) 1,620 94

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - MONTH 7 (APRIL TO OCTOBER)

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES ‐ 2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall - Action plans are generally on line to deliver the budgeted savings. The only area currently expected to create a pressure is income within the PPPU which means that Strategy & Resources is currently reporting a net 
overspend of £94k.

Strategy & Improvement - Strategy and Improvement are projected to spend within budget at Month 7.  

Financial Services - the number of staff of leaving during the year is expected to result in a balanced position by the year-end.  

Human Resources - HR are planning to meet the £371k efficiency savings incorporated in the budget, through freezing recruitment and the use of the early leavers initiative.

Information Technology - savings on staffing costs due to vacant posts are expected to be offset by reduced income as these posts are income generating.  On running costs, there is an £80k saving on Microsoft licences which 
was initially funded by transfers from directorate budgets.

PPPU - based on current projections, the Unit will be £452k overspent at year end. Even though there is an underspend on pay of £723k and a freeze on posts is in place, income is projected £1,172k less than budget. The main 
reasons for the shortfall in income are the fall out of NGT (£619k), Health Transformation (£81k) and various capital schemes (£559k). PPPU's Senior Management Team are reviewing workload and income streams and the 
reported variance assumes that an extra £152k of income can be realised by year end. Obviously this remains a significant risk area for the Directorate. 

Legal Services - Legal are currently under budget on staffing by £160K and all expenditure budgets are online. There is a risk that internal income will be significantly below budget, principally because of reductions in the Legal 
establishment. Some additional income is now predicted meaning that the current forecast is a shortfall of £160k. 

Democratic Services - the Governance, Scrutiny, Civic and Ceremonial and Members’ Allowances budgets are on target to deliver a balanced budget for 2016/17. However on-going, year on year pressures remain within 
Members’ Support which has necessitated other opportunities to be explored to achieve a balanced budget across the Democratic Services division. These include the on-going secondment of a member of staff to WYCA, 
redesigning work packages, working arrangements and leadership responsibilities to enable vacated posts to be not filled and other in-year one off savings to be accrued.

P
age 70



 

 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Lead Officer RAG
Action 
Plan 

Value

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget
A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1 G 0.76 0.00

2 G 0.37 0.00

3 G 0.12 0.00

4 G 0.10 0.00

5 Catherine Witham G 0.05 0.00

6 Mariana Pexton G 0.38 0.00

7 Catherine Witham G 0.12 0.00

8 Dylan Roberts G 0.33 0.00

9 R 0.66 0.30

10 Dylan Roberts G 0.15 0.00

B. Other Significant Variations

Net effect of all other variations (0.2)

0.09

Financial services

ICT staffing

ICT

Strategy and Resources Directorate - Forecast Variation

Additional Comments

Legal Services

Corporate Communications and intelligence

Democratic services

ICT procurement savings

Additional income - traded services, partner and

HR

ICT Print Smart

Efficiencies

PPPU

Further changes to way services provided, self service, less internal audit, 
centralisation.

On-line advice, less HR input into low level cases, ELI and vacancy management

Further efficiencies on top of those delivered in 2015/16

Doug Meeson

Lorraine Hallam

Dylan Roberts

Dylan Roberts

Provision of managed service to WY Joint Services

David Outram

Staffing and efficiency savings, mainly within the Communications Team

Staffing and efficiency savings. Member pension saving

Modernisation of telephony

Significant reduction in Procurement particularly low value procurements. Additional 
external income

P
age 71



 

 

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises
Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation
Total 

Expenditure
Income

Total 
(under) / 

overspend
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Business Support 
Centre

15,269 (5,590) 9,679 15 8 (74) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (51) 51 0

Commercial 
Services

59,532 (56,897) 2,635 1,553 1 758 (15) (24) 0 1 0 0 2,274 (2,074) 200

Facilities 
Management

10,088 (4,123) 5,965 (142) (8) 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 (143) 144 1

Corporate Property 
Management

5,959 (587) 5,372 33 (40) 0 0 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 90,848 (67,197) 23,651 1,459 (39) 691 (15) (17) 0 1 0 0 2,080 (1,879) 201

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - MONTH 7 (APRIL TO OCTOBER)

CIVIC ENTERPRISE LEEDS ‐ 2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall - the overall projected position at period 7 is an overspend of £201k explained by a £200k overspend against the Catering net budget. The Catering overspend is mainly as a result of the marginal impact of the 7 
schools which have been lost to the service plus the marginal impact of a shortfall against the adjusted meal numbers.

Business Support Centre
BSC are forecast to be on track to meet their 2016/17 savings target of £400k which is to be achieved through the freezing of posts and ELIs.

Commercial Services
The Commercial Services overspend of £200k is, as explained above, accounted for by the marginal impact of the 7 schools which were lost from the Catering service plus the marginal impact of a shortfall against the 
adjusted meal numbers. The projected overspend on staffing is mainly within the Cleaning Service and is offset by additional income. Work will be done with the Head of Service to identify the permanent resources 
requirement  and income so that a virement can be done to ensure an accurate expenditure and income budget moving forward for Cleaning Services. Once this budgetary realignment is done, this will show that following 
the implementation of day time cleaning in civic buildings (thus avoiding premium staffing payments) and reduced cleaning frequencies and using the ELI initiative, the service is on track  to meet the £200k savings from a 
lower cleaning specification included in the 2015/16 base budget and should provide a platform for savings in the following financial year.

Facilities Management
A balanced position is projected at month 7 although there are risks around accruals for services charges  for the two joint service centres going back to 2013/14. The payment of these charges is being dealt with by Legal 
Services . There is also a potential risk on savings assumed in the Asset Rationalisation programme for Merrion House NNDR where, following advice, an accrual of £430k has been provided in 2015/16.

Corporate Property Management
A balanced position is projected at month 7 which assumes budgeted savings of £150k staffing and £450k on building maintenance will be achieved. 

P
age 72



 

 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Lead Officer RAG
Action 
Plan 
Value

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budge
t

A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1 Sarah Martin G 0.29 0.0

2 Sarah Martin G 0.60 0.0

3 Mandy Snaith G 0.05 0.0

4 Sarah Martin G 0.05 0.0

5
Helena 
Phillips

G 0.37 0.0

6 Terry Pycroft G 0.20 0.0

7
Richard 
Jackson

G 0.20 0.0

8 Mandy Snaith G 0.05 0.0

9 Terry Pycroft G 0.03 0.0

10 Les Reed G 0.07 0.0

B. Other Significant Variations

1 Net effect of all other variations R 0.2

0.2

Additional MOT income.

Recovery of cleaning charges.

Asset rationalisation

Maintenance of council buildings

Catering Savings

Energy

BBM - admin, mail and print

Additional Comments

Savings from: 1&3 Reginald Terr £29k, Belgrave Hse £60k, Deacon Hse £30k, South Pudsey 
Centre £25k, Tribecca £110k

Significant changes in respect of business processes required to deliver these savings 
across 4 contract areas.

Extend life of light commercial vehicles

Impact of energy efficiency measures

Reduce responsive maintenance

Civic Enterprise Leeds ‐ Forecast Variation

Increase number of MOTs undertaken.

Agency staff

Recovery of charges from clients.

Vehicle Fleet

Recover cost of living wage

Catering additional income. Increased income/efficiencies.

Recover from Property Cleaning.

P
age 73



 

 

Expenditure 
Budget Income Budget

Latest 
Estimate Staffing Premises

Supplies & 
Services Transport

Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Strategic Accounts (11,480) (32,488) (44,422) 300 1,860 (2,000) (1,993) (1,833) 2,430 597

Debt 24,380 (1,103) 23,277 1,422 1,422 (1,162) 260

Govt Grants 3,015 (26,434) (23,419) 0 (1,890) (1,890)

Joint Committees 37,411 0 37,411 95 95 95

Miscellaneous 2,450 (1,311) 1,139 0 0

Insurance 9,831 (9,831) 0 3,414 (121) (7) 3,286 (3,286) 0

Total 65,607 (71,167) (6,014) 300 0 5,369 0 (121) 0 0 (578) (2,000) 2,970 (3,908) (938)

STRATEGIC & CENTRAL ACCOUNTS - 2016/17 FINANCIAL YEAR

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - MONTH 7 (APRIL TO OCTOBER)

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

At month 7, the strategic & central budgets are anticipated to underspend by 938k. 

The key variations are;

- Debt - a forecast pressure of £0.3m due to the conversion of short-term debt to long-term to take advantage of low long-term interest rates (net of additional prudential borrowing re strategic fund investment acquisitions)
- Section 278 income - a potential £1.8m risk due to lower levels of development activity.
- £430k forecast shortfall in income from court costs
- Procurement - a £1.9m variation which reflects that the procurement and  PFI savings will be managed through directorate budgets.
- Savings of £2m from the additional capitalisation of eligible spend in general fund and school budgets.
- Appropriation of £2.0m of earmarked reserves.
- Savings of £2.0m on the levy contribution to the business rates.
- Joint Committee - £0.1m anticipated overspend for the Coroners' services.

P
age 74



 

 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

RAG Budget
Forecast Variation 

against Budget

Lead Officer

A.  Major Budget Issues £m £m

1. Doug Meeson A 13.0 0.3

2. Doug Meeson A 10.3 0.0

3. Doug Meeson G (19.2) 0.2

4. Doug Meeson A (7.1) 0.1

5. Doug Meeson A (5.2) 1.8

6. Doug Meeson A (3.0) (1.0)

7. Schools capitalisation target Doug Meeson A (2.5) (1.0)

8. Doug Meeson A (1.0) 1.0

9. David Outram A (0.9) 0.9

10. Early Leaver Initiative Doug Meeson A 0.0 0.0

11 Joint Committee - Coroners Services Doug Meeson G 0.0 0.1

B. Other Significant Budgets

1. Doug Meeson A 0.0 0.0

2. Doug Meeson G 3.0 (2.0)

3. Doug Meeson G (11.9) 0.0

4 Doug Meeson G 0.0 (1.9)

5 Doug Meeson G 0.0 0.0

6 Doug Meeson A 0.0 0.4

7 Doug Meeson A 0.0 0.3

Strategic & Central Accounts - Forecast Variation (0.9)

Debt Costs and External Income Latest projection of increased debt costs due to new long term borrowing (net )

Additional Comments

Corporate Savings Target Centrally-held budget savings target.  Actual savings will be shown in Directorate budgets.

Minimum Revenue Provision
The budget assumes the use of £23.4m capital receipts to repay debt. There is a risk that capital receipts available to fund 
this may fall short by up to £1.8m.

New Homes Bonus No material variation anticipated at this stage in the year

Business Rates  (S31 Grants, Tariff adjustment & EZ) Tariff adjustment £480k and Enterprise zone reliefs £370k 

S278 Contributions Potential risk of £1.8m depending on development activity to the year-end

General capitalisation target Capitalisation of eligible spend in directorate/service revenue budgets. 

Capitalisation of eligible spend in school revenue budgets.

PFI Contract Monitoring Target Budget held in the strategic accounts pending confirmation of where the reductions in expenditure will be achieved

£95k over spend projected at mth 6 due to dilapidations claim at Symons House and a large interpreter fees, partially offset 
by staffing cost savings

Insurance Potential additional costs in-year which will be managed through the Insurance Reserve

£2m earmarked reserve established to fund the severance costs in 2016/17. 

Leeds Living Wage Estimated impact of Jan rise to £8.25/ hour

Business Rates Levy Savings anticipated from levy

Earmarked Reserves Use of demography reserve and capital reserve

Prudential Borrowing Recharges Contra budgets in directorate/service accounts.  

Bridgwater Place Compensation to be received from the developer.

Income Income from Court fees

P
age 75



 

 

Summary of projected over / under spends (Housing Revenue Account)

Comments

£000 £000 £000 £000

Income

Rents (218,375) (218,339) 36                     62                                 

Service Charges (6,443) (6,427) 16                     16                                 

Other Income (29,306) (29,237) 69                     43                                 

Total Income (254,124) (254,003) 121                121                               

Expenditure

Disrepair Provision 1,000                  1,200                200                   200                               

Repairs to Dwellings 43,548               43,548              ‐                    ‐                                

Council Tax on Voids 663                     725                    62                     62                                 

Employees 27,792               26,930              (862) (801)

Premises 7,013                  7,101                88                     88                                 

Supplies & Services 5,259                  5,456                197                   178                               

Internal Services 38,473               38,372              (101) (32)

Capital Programme 73,041               73,041              ‐                    ‐                                

Appropriations (7,115) (7,459) (344) (377)

Unitary Charge PFI 8,101                  8,194                93                     125                               

Capital Charges 49,159               49,364              205                   197                               

Other Expenditure 7,190                  6,907                (283) (111)

Total Expenditure 254,124          253,379         (745) (471)

Total Current Month ‐                   (624) (624) (350)

Large insurance claims £249k, LLBH PFI Japanese Knotweed consultants £15k. Offset by Tenant Mobility saving 
(£75k) and minor variations £8k.

PFI scheme adjustments: UC £52k; PTC £106k; RTB (£65k).

Large insurance claims (£249k), PFI appropriation adjustment (£95k).

Increase in surveyor RTB valuation work £160k, PPPU recharges for PFI £92k, HR recharge for additional time 
£24k. Offset by reduction in the GF recharges to the HRA (£321k) and Regeneration team recharge (£52k). Other 
small variance (£4k).

PFI PTC (£100k), increase in RTB sales fee income (£46k) offsetting reduction in capitalised salaries due to vacant 
posts £196k and other small variances £18k.

Reduction in income from sheltered accommodation.

Projected rent lower than budget due to stock numbers being less than anticipated during budget setting.

Increase in cleaning charges £77k, Site maintenance costs at Navigation House £11k

Vacant posts (£1061k) and training saving (£59k) offsetting agency staff (includes disrepair) £188k and severance 
costs £69k.

Projection due to increase in new cases which is anticipated to continue.

Current charges indicate overspend.

Projected Year 
End Spend

Housing Revenue Account ‐ Month 7 (October 2016)
Financial Dashboard ‐ 2016/17 Financial Year

Directorate
Variance to 
budget

Previous period 
variance

Current Budget

Interest receivable lower than budgeted

Reduction in DHP requirement (£172k), Leeds Tenant Federation ‐ in line with 2016/17 negotiations (£50k), 
Transport cost reforecast (£61k).

P
age 76



 

 

P
age 77



 

 

APPENDIX 2     
1. 2016-17 Procurement Report 
 
1.1 The Chief Officer for the Projects Programmes and Procurement Unit is required to provide 

statistical procurement information to Executive Board every quarter. This report provides 
information in relation to Q2 of the 2016/17 financial year.  

 
2. Procurement Savings  

 
2.1 The delivery of procurements, and in turn procurement savings, are a result of cross-

functional working with directorates.  The procurement category teams work closely with 
directorate colleagues to seek to secure procurement and contract efficiencies and to 
reduce off-contract and non-contract spend.  Agreeing and ‘capturing’ procurement savings, 
in discussion with directorates, enables budget holders to make informed choices and, 
where possible, translate identified saving opportunities into ‘cashable’ savings. The high 
level forecast savings are detailed below.  
 

Updated September 2016 
Prior Years 2016/17 Future Years 

Projected 
Whole Life 

Saving 

£000s £000s £000s £000s 

Savings already deducted from 
previous year's and future budgets * 

(18,226) (5,602) (8,087) (31,915) 

Additional Projected savings 
against the 2016/17 budget 

  (3,016)   (3,016) 

Total Forecast Savings on 
Current contracts 

(18,226) (8,618) (8,087) (34,931) 

*Savings reflect the whole life of the contract  and are reflected in the budget for the year the   
contract is awarded 

 
2.2 Anticipated savings on new procurements for contracts awarded as at 30th September are 

£3.016m. 
 

2.3 Forecast savings are based on predicted contract usage and will be updated on a quarterly 
basis to reflect this. 
 

2.4 Further savings are anticipated in the remainder of the year however as market conditions 
dictate the final tender values, savings will only be estimated once the final tender values 
are known. 

 
2.5 In addition to the cashable savings identified above, the savings report also identifies cost 

avoidance or ‘non cashable savings’, for example whereby having implemented good 
procurement controls, or contract management, a price increase has been avoided or 
where the re-procurement of a contract has resulted in ‘more for less’.  By definition it is 
difficult to prove these savings as they are not usually quantifiable from a budget 
perspective. Nevertheless they do demonstrate the value added by effective procurement 
intervention and add value to the process.   

Page 78



 

 

2.6 Graph of Cumulative Procurement savings 2016/17 to 2018/19 

 

3. Orders Placed on the Financial Management System (FMS)   
 
3.1 The following financial information is sourced from an analysis of all orders recorded in the 

council’s main financial system, FMS. On the payments system, each creditor (a body or 
person to which a payment is made by the council) has an indicator on their record which 
allocates them to a category. Such categories include private companies, commercial 
individuals (sole traders), other public sector bodies, and the third sector. The classification 
of organisations is carried out by colleagues in corporate finance with typically several 
hundred new creditor organisations allocated to a category each month.  

 
3.2  These figures do not include orders placed through feeder systems, such as Orchard2, 

purchasing cards, or payment requisitions where BACS or cheque payments are made 
through FMS without the Business Support Centre processing an invoice and where 
therefore there is no associated order.  

 
3.3  The table below shows all orders placed in FMS during Q2 2016/17.  Data from the 

corresponding period in 2015/16 is included for comparison.   
 

Q2 2015/16 Q2 2016/17 

Classification Order Value 
Number 

of 
Orders  

% of 
Total  

Order Value 
Number 

of 
Orders  

% of 
Total  

On Contract £190,131,460 9,029 77.08% £206,699,912 8,889 71.85% 

Non-Contract £15,069,188 8,332 6.11% £8,701,345 7,356 3.02% 

On Contract - Quasi £33,326,430 2,824 13.51% £64,059,050 4,012 22.27% 

On Contract - Waiver £778,766 47 0.32% £2,760,894 325 0.96% 

Off-Contract £5,184,663 1,744 2.10% £1,724,553 800 0.60% 

Non-Contract - One off 
or non-influenceable 

£2,191,706 566 0.89% £1,319 43 0.00% 

Grand Total £246,682,211 22,542 100.00% £287,672,496 22,253 100.00% 

 
 

                                            
2 Orchard is used by various council functions for dealing with the financial aspects of council owned property, for 
example to pay contractors for undertaking repairs to the housing stock. 
 

0

5

10

15

20

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

£ 
M

Year

Page 79



 

 

On, off and non-contract orders placed on FMS 
 
a) The graph below shows the percentage of on, off and non-contract orders placed on FMS 

from April 2015 to September 2016.   
 

 

 
 
 
4. Local Suppliers 

 
4.1 Orders placed with local suppliers in Q2 2016/17 are detailed below.  Data from the 

corresponding period in 2015/16 is included for comparison. 
 

Q2 2015/16 Q2 2016/17 

Classification Order Value 
Number 

of Orders 
% of Total  Order Value 

Number 
of Orders  

% of Total  

Local Spend £109,085,383 9,973 44.22% £145,788,626 13,195 50.68% 

Non-Local Spend £137,596,828 12,569 55.78% £141,883,869 15,295 49.32% 

Grand Total £246,682,211 22,542 100.00% £287,672,496 22,253 100.00% 

 
 Suppliers with a Leeds metropolitan area postcode have been included in the above data. These are 

postcodes LS1 to LS29 plus BD3, BD4, BD10, BD11, WF2, WF3, WF10, WF12, WF17. 
 
5. Third sector 

 
5.1  Orders placed with third sector suppliers in Q2 2016/17 are detailed below.  Data from the 

corresponding period in 2015/16 is included for comparison. 
 

Q2 2015/16 Q2 2016/17 

Classification Order Value 
Number 

of Orders 
% of Total  Order Value 

Number 
of Orders  

% of Total  

Third Sector £47,398,144 2,833 19.21% £83,038,999 2,113 28.87% 

Non Third Sector £199,284,068 19,709 80.79% £204,633,497 20,140 71.13% 

Grand Total £246,682,211 22,542 100.00% £287,672,496 22,253 100.00% 

 
 
  

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%
Ap

ril
 2
01
5

M
ay
 2
01
5

Ju
ne

 2
01
5

Ju
ly
 2
01
5

Au
gu
st
…

Se
pt
em

be
…

O
ct
ob

er
…

N
ov
em

be
…

De
ce
m
be

…
Ja
nu

ar
y…

Fe
br
ua
ry
…

M
ar
ch
…

Ap
ril
 2
01
6

M
ay
 2
01
6

Ju
ne

 2
01
6

Ju
ly
 2
01
6

Au
gu
st
…

Se
pt
em

be
…

On‐Contract

Non‐Contract

Off‐Contract

Expon. (On‐
Contract)

Page 80



 

 

6. Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) 
 
6.1 Orders placed with SMEs in Q2 2016/17 are detailed below.  Data from the corresponding 

period in 2015/16 is included for comparison. 
 

Q2 2015/16 Q2 2016/17 

Classification Order Value 
Number 

of Orders 
% of Total  Order Value 

Number 
of Orders  

% of Total  

Not an SME £129,332,344 8,509 52.43% £148,017,745 8,108 51.45% 

SME £117,349,867 14,033 47.57% £139,654,750 14,145 48.55% 

Grand Total £246,682,211 22,542 100.00% £287,672,496 22,253 100.00% 

 
 
7. Glossary  
 
7.1 On contract is an order placed with a contracted supplier. 
 
7.2 Non-contract is an order placed where no contract exists for the goods or service.  
 
7.3 Off contract is an order placed where there is a contracted supplier but the order raiser uses a 

different supplier. 
 
7.4 Waivers are required where the relevant Chief Officer is able to justify a genuine exception to the 

requirements for competition under Contract Procedure Rules. 
 
7.5 Quasi contracts are virtual contracts put in place to aggregate spend with a view to evaluating the 

requirements of a contract. 
 
7.6 The Local Government Association defines the third sector as “non-governmental organisations” 

(NGOs) that are value-driven and which principally reinvest their surpluses to further social, 
environmental or cultural objectives.  

 
7.7 Third sector includes charities, community groups, churches and faith groups, sports and 

recreational clubs, social enterprises and partnerships and trade unions and associations.  
 
7.8 SMEs are defined as having a turnover of less than £25.9 million and fewer than 250 employees.  

This data was collated by using the categorisation selected by the supplier upon registration on 
YORtender (the council’s electronic tendering site) and then verified where possible against data 
from the Department of Business Innovation and Skills. 

  

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Head of Governance and Scrutiny Support

Report to Scrutiny Board (Environment and Housing)

Date: 19th January 2017

Subject: Initial Budget Proposals for 2017/18

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. In accordance with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, the Deputy Chief 
Executive submitted to the Executive Board the attached report which sets out the 
Initial Budget Proposals for 2017/18.  The proposals are subsequently submitted 
to Scrutiny for consideration and review.

2. Specifically, the Scrutiny Board (Environment and Housing) is asked to consider 
matters and proposals relating to the Environment and Housing directorate. Other 
Scrutiny Boards will consider elements of the budget proposals relevant to their 
terms of reference.

3. Any comments or recommendations made by the Scrutiny Board will be fed back to 
the Executive Board at its meeting on 8th February 2017 prior to submission of the 
proposed budget to full Council.  

4. The Director of Environment and Housing and relevant Executive Members have 
been invited to the meeting to discuss the Executive’s initial budget proposals.

   
 Recommendations

5. Members are asked to consider the Executive’s initial budget proposals as set out 
in the attached report and agree any comments and/or recommendations to be 
submitted.

Report author:  Angela Brogden
Tel:  24 74553

Page 83

Agenda Item 10



Background documents1

6.        None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 84



 

 

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive 
Report to Executive Board 
Date: 14th December 2016 

Subject: Initial Budget Proposals for 2017/18 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

Summary of main issues  

1. The purpose of this report is to set out the initial budget proposals for 2017/18.   

2. These budget proposals support the council’s Best City/Best Council ambitions, 
policies and priorities aimed at tackling inequalities (please refer to the Best 
Council Plan 2017/18 refresh report which is on today’s agenda). 

3. These budget proposals are set within the context of the 2017/18 – 2019/20 
medium term financial strategy which was approved by the Executive Board in 
September 2016, updated to recognise the implications following the 
Chancellor’s Autumn Statement in November 2016, the 2017 business rates 
revaluation and further savings proposals to bridge the previously identified 
budget gap.   

4. Whilst the government’s multi-year funding settlement provides some certainty, 
there are still a number of assumptions within the budget proposals that will not 
be known until the provisional local government finance settlement is 
announced, which is likely to be mid-December 2016. 

5. The financial climate for local government continues to present significant risks 
to the council’s priorities and ambitions. The council continues to make every 
effort possible to protect the front line delivery of services, and whilst we have 
been able to balance the budget each year since 2010, have continued to 
deliver a broad range of services despite declining income, and have avoided 
large scale compulsory redundancies, it is clear that the position is becoming 
more difficult to manage and it will be increasingly difficult over the coming 
years to maintain current levels of service provision without significant changes 
in the way the council operates.   

6. The headlines from the 2017/18 initial budget proposals, when compared to the 
2016/17 budget, are as follows: 

Report author: Alan Gay  

Tel: 74226 

Page 85



 

 
 A reduction in revenue support grant from government of £28m (30%). 
 A reduction in the settlement funding assessment of £25m (10.6%) 
 An increase in Council tax of 1.99% together with a further 2% in respect of 

the Adult Social Care precept generating an additional £10.8m of local 
funding. 

 A combination of reduced funding and cost pressures means that the 
council will need to deliver £62.4m of savings by March 2018. 

 
7. In respect of the Housing Revenue Account, whilst there are proposals to 

increase some service charges, the implementation of the rent cap, which was 
announced in July 2015, will mean that the majority of housing rents will again 
reduce by 1% from April 2017. 

Recommendation 

8. Executive Board is asked to agree the initial budget proposals and for them to 
be submitted to Scrutiny and also for the proposals to be used as a basis for 
wider consultation with stakeholders. 

1. Purpose of report 

1.1 In line with the council’s constitution, the Executive Board is required to publish 
initial budget proposals two months before approval of the budget by Full 
Council, which is scheduled for the 22nd February 2017. This report sets out the 
initial budget proposals for 2017/18 which are set within the context of the 
medium term financial strategy which was approved by Executive Board in 
September 2016 updated to recognise the implications following the Autumn 
Statement in November 2016, the 2017 business rates revaluation and further 
savings proposals to bridge the previously identified budget gap.  

 
1.2 Subject to the approval of the Executive Board, these initial budget proposals 

will be submitted to scrutiny for their consideration and review, with the 
outcome of their deliberations to be reported to the planned meeting of this 
board on the 8th February 2017. These budget proposals will also be made 
available to other stakeholders as part of a wider and continuing process of 
engagement and consultation.  It is also proposed to provide an update at the 
meeting of the board in February 2017 as to the medium-term financial 
strategy, which was approved by the board at its September 2016 meeting. 

1.3 In accordance with the council’s budget and policy framework, decisions as to 
the council’s budget are reserved to full council.  As such, the recommendation 
at 13.1 is not subject to call in as the budget is a matter that will ultimately be 
determined by full council. 

 
2. The national context and Autumn Statement 
 
2.1 The economic context in which public spending has to be seen within is very 

much dominated by the debate as to the impact of the EU referendum and the 
strength and resilience of the national economy.    

 

Page 86



 

2.2 In its November 2016 forecasts, compared with its March 2016 forecasts, the 
Office of Budget Responsibility (OBR); 

  
•  expects gross domestic product (GDP) annual growth to be lower in 

2017 and 2018, and unchanged in 2019 and 2020. The 2017 forecasts 
have been cut from 2.2% to 1.4%.  

•  has raised consumer price index (CPI) annual inflation in 2017 and 2018 
recognising the fall in the pound since the EU referendum and the 
consequential increase in import prices.  

•  has cut average annual earnings growth forecasts to 2019.  
 

Chart 1 Office of Budget Responsibility’s forecasts for the national economy 
 

 

  

 

 

 

 

Page 87



 

Table 1 Office of Budget Responsibility’s forecasts for the national economy 

 

2.3 The OBR also updated its forecasts for the public finances.  In summary the 
November 2016 forecasts compared with its March 2016 forecasts; 

 
• expects more borrowing in all years – some of the additional borrowing 

can be attributed to government policy decision, but the majority is a 
result of changes to the OBR’s underlying forecast. 
  

• expects higher debt in all years. The debt-to-GDP ratio is now expected 
to start falling in 2018/19, two years later than previously expected.  

 
 
Chart 2 Office of Budget Responsibility’s forecasts for public finances 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



 

 
 
 
Table 2 Office of Budget Responsibility’s forecasts for public finances 

 

The OBR assesses that the government is more likely than not to meet its 
proposed fiscal targets. They also report that the government would have 
missed its previous targets. 

2.4 Autumn Statement 2016  
 
2.4.1 On the 23rd November 2016, the new chancellor announced the first Autumn 

Statement since the EU referendum.  
 
2.4.2 The key announcements in the 2016 autumn statement were; 
 

• A National Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) will be introduced, which will 
invest an average of around £5 billion a year between 2017/18 and 2021/22. 
The NPIF will be targeted at transport, digital communications, research and 
development and housing.  
 

• The Universal Credit taper will be reduced from 65% to 63% from April 2017. 
This means once claimants earn above the work allowances in Universal 
Credit they will be able to keep more of what they earn.  

 
• The National Living Wage will increase from £7.20 to £7.50 in April 2017. 

This follows the recommendations of the Low Pay Commission. The 
Government has also accepted the Low Pay Commission’s 
recommendations for the other National Minimum Wage rates.  
 

• Fuel duty will be frozen for the seventh successive year.  
 

Page 89



 

• The standard rate of Insurance Premium Tax will increase from 10% to 12% 
from 1 June 2017. From 2018/19 this is estimated to raise around £850 
million a year, making it the largest tax raising measure announced.  
 

• National Insurance contributions (NICs) thresholds for employers and 
employees will be aligned from April 2017. This means employees and 
employers will start paying National Insurance at the same amount of weekly 
earnings.  
 

• Tax and NICs advantages on some salary sacrifices will be removed. This 
means that employees swapping salary for other benefits will pay tax on 
these benefits. Exceptions include: pensions (including advice), childcare, 
Cycle to Work and ultralow emission cars.  
 

• £1 billion of savings from an efficiency review will be reinvested in priority 
areas. The review, announced in Budget 2016, is aiming to find savings for 
public spending of £3.5 billion in 2019/20.  
 

• A Northern Powerhouse strategy has been published.  
 

• Pay to Stay – under which local authority tenants with sufficient incomes 
would have been required to pay a market, or near market rent – is dropped. 
This was announced a couple of days prior to the Autumn Statement.  
 

• Letting agents’ fees to tenants will be banned.  
 

• Various measures to tackle tax avoidance and evasion will be introduced.  
 

• There will be minor amendments to business rates. Transitional reliefs, which 
are available to those whose bills will rise following the business rates 
revaluation, will be more generous. Rural rate relief will rise to 100%. 
  

• The Budget timetable to change. The Budget will take place in autumn from 
autumn 2017. From 2018 there will be a Spring Statement in which the 
Chancellor will respond to the OBR’s forecasts for the economy and public 
finances.  

3. Developing the 2017/18 budget and medium term financial strategy with 
the refreshed 2017/18 Best Council Plan 

 
3.1 Between the 2010/11 and 2016/17 budgets, the council’s core funding from 

government has reduced by around £214m and in addition the council has 
faced significant demand-led cost pressures. This means that the council will 
have to deliver reductions in expenditure and increases in income totalling over 
£400m by March 2017. To date, the council has responded successfully to the 
challenge and has marginally underspent in every year since 2010 through a 
combination of stimulating good economic growth, creatively managing demand 
for services, increasing traded and commercial income, growing council tax 
from new properties and a significant programme of organisational efficiencies.   

 

Page 90



 

3.2 In February 2016, Council approved the 2016/17 Best Council Plan and the 
supporting budget.  The Best Council Plan is the council’s strategic planning 
document and sets the context and policy direction against which the budget 
and medium-term financial strategy are developed.  The policy direction is 
clearly explained in the 2016/17 Best Council Plan: that the council’s ‘Best City’ 
and ‘Best Council’ ambitions remain - articulated around Leeds having a strong 
economy and being a compassionate city and the council being an efficient and 
enterprising organisation – with a focus on reducing poverty and tackling the 
range of interlinked inequalities that persist across the city.   

 
3.3 Inevitably, managing the large reduction in government funding and increasing 

cost pressures has meant that the council has had to make some difficult 
decisions around the level and quality of services. However, as signposted in 
the 2016/17 Best Council Plan and 2016/17 budget reports to council in 
February 2016, it will become increasingly difficult over the coming years to 
identify further financial savings without significant changes in what the council 
does and how it does it.  This will have significant implications for the services 
provided directly and commissioned by the local authority, impacting upon staff, 
partners and service users.  In order to deliver the council’s ambitions aimed at 
tackling poverty and reducing inequalities, those services that are no longer 
affordable and a lesser priority than others will be delivered differently or, in 
some cases, stopped.  This will be achieved through a continuing process of 
policy and service reviews across the council’s functions and ongoing 
consultation and engagement. 

 
4. Estimating the net revenue budget for 2017/18  
 
4.1 Settlement funding assessment – reduction of £25.2m 
 
4.1.1  Settlement funding assessment is essentially the aggregate of government 

grant and business rate baseline funding for a local authority. As part of the 
2016/17 financial settlement, government offered councils a 4-year funding 
settlement for the period 2016/17 to 2019/20. Government describes this as 
part of the move to a more self-sufficient local government, suggesting that 
these multi-year settlements can provide the funding certainty and stability to 
enable more proactive planning of service delivery, support strategic 
collaboration with local partners and for local authorities to strengthen financial 
management and efficiency.  

 
4.1.2 At its meeting in September 2016, Executive Board agreed to accept the 

government’s 4-year funding offer on the premise that any acceptance would 
be on the basis that the offer represents a minimum level of government 
funding to the council and that the council would not be disadvantaged at all by 
accepting the offer. 

 
4.1.3 On the 16th November 2016, the council received confirmation from DCLG that 

it is now formally on the multi-year settlement and can expect to receive the 
allocations published as part of the 2016/17 local government finance 
settlement in 2017/18, 2018/19 and 2019/20. The letter also re-iterated that the 
government will also need to take account of future events such as the transfer 

Page 91



 

of functions to local government, transfers of responsibility for functions 
between local authorities, mergers between authorities and any other 
unforeseen events. However, barring exceptional circumstances and subject to 
the normal statutory consultation process for the local government finance 
settlement, the government expects these to be the amounts presented to 
Parliament each year. 

 
4.1.4 Table 3 below sets out the council’s settlement funding assessment for 2017/18 

which is in line with the multi-year settlement.  For 2017/18, this represents a 
reduction of £25.2m compared to 2016/17, equivalent to a 10.6% reduction.     

 
 Table 3 – Settlement funding assessment 
 
  

 
 
4.1.5 The business rates element of the settlement funding assessment is 

determined by taking the 2016/17 baseline business rates amount of £145m 
and uplifting it for inflation. The uplift for inflation, based upon September 2016 
Retail Price Index, is 1.97%. The business rates element of settlement funding 
assessment for 2017/18 for Leeds is therefore £147.8m which is net of the 
estimated tariff adjustment of £14.9m. 

 
4.1.6 As in 2016/17, funding in respect of early intervention, homelessness 

prevention, lead local flood authorities and learning disability & public health 
reform funding, as shown in table 4below, are included within the settlement 
funding assessment but continue to be separately identified within the 
assessment.  

 
 Table 4 – Breakdown of the settlement funding assessment 
 

 
 

2016/17 2017/18
£m £m £m %

Revenue Support Grant 93.0 65.0 (28.0) 30.13
Business Rates Baseline Funding 145.0 147.8 2.9 1.97
Settlement Funding Assessment 238.0 212.9 (25.2) 10.58

Change

2016/17 2017/18 Change
£m £m £m

Formula Grant 192.31 167.56 (24.75)
Council tax freeze grant 2011/12 6.64 6.64 0.00
Council tax freeze grant 2013/14 2.77 2.77 0.00
Early intervention grant 17.79 16.34 (1.45)
Preventing homelessness 0.86 0.86 0.00
Lead local flood authority grant 0.23 0.23 0.00
Learning disability & health reform grant 10.81 11.02 0.21
Local welfare provision 2.59 2.59 0.00
Care act funding 4.03 4.84 0.81
Sustainable drainage systems 0.02 0.02 0.00
Carbon monoxide & fire alarm grant 0.00 0.00 0.00
Settlement Funding Assessment 238.05 212.87 (25.18)

Page 92



 

4.2 Business rates retention  
 
4.2.1 Leeds has the most diverse economy of all the UK’s main employment centres 

and has seen the fastest rate of private sector jobs growth of any UK city in 
recent years.  Yet this apparent growth in the economy is not being translated 
into business rates growth; in fact the council’s business rates income has 
declined since 2014/15 and other authorities are reporting similar problems. 

 
4.2.2 Under the business rates retention (BRR) scheme which was introduced in 

2013/14, business rates income is shared equally between local and central 
government. Local authorities that experience growth in business rates are able 
to retain 50% of that growth locally. The downside is that local authorities also 
bear 50% of the risk if their business rates fall or fail to keep pace with inflation, 
although a safety-net mechanism is in place to limit losses from year to year to 
7.5% of their business rates baseline.  

4.2.3 Although BRR allows local authorities to benefit from business rates growth, it 
also exposes them to risk from reductions in rateable values. The system 
allows ratepayers and their agents to appeal against their rateable values if 
they think they have been wrongly assessed or that local circumstances have 
changed. When agreement cannot be reached, appeals may be pursued 
through the Valuation Tribunal and then through the courts. One major issue 
with the system is that successful appeals are usually backdated to the start of 
the current valuation list, i.e. 1st April 2010, and this greatly increases the 
losses in cash terms – by nearly six times in the current financial year.  At the 
end of November 2016 there were approximately 5,000 appeals outstanding in 
Leeds. 

 
4.2.4.  The cost of appeals in Leeds since the system started in 2013/14 is almost 

£100m. Under 50% retention that risk is at least shared equally with Whitehall, 
but under 100% retention all the appeals risk will fall on local government.  The 
provision for business rate appeals within the collection fund has been reviewed 
and recalculated to recognise new appeals and the settlement of existing 
appeals, and the 2017/18 initial budget proposals provide for an additional 
£20.8m contribution from the general fund to fund the increased provision.  

 
4.2.5 The chart below shows the headline rateable value for the city from the 

introduction of business rates retention in 2013 to the present day.  From the 
chart we can see the impact from the opening of the Trinity shopping centre in 
2013 and Victoria Gate in October 2016 together with other significant 
developments and how this growth in business rates has been eroded by 
successful appeals. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



 

Chart 3 - Business rateable value 2013-2016 
 

 

2017 revaluation 

4.2.6 The Valuation Office Agency (VOA) has completed a revaluation of all business 
premises for rating purposes. Draft valuation lists were published at the end of 
September 2016 and ratepayers now have the opportunity to check their new 
rateable values and seek to have any errors corrected before the new lists 
come into force on 1st April 2017. 

 
4.2.7 This new rating list, which is primarily based on rental values in 2015, should be 

more accurate than the 2010 list which was based on rental values in 2008, just 
before the ‘financial & economic crisis’.  This, together with the impact of the 
new ‘check, challenge, appeal’ appeals process, should reduce appeals and 
volatility going forward 

 
4.2.8 Although rateable values for individual premises may go up or down, at the 

national level the revaluation is designed to be revenue neutral. Overall, 
rateable values in England have increased by 9.1%, but there are significant 
variations between both sectors and regions as shown below. 

   

 

 

 

 

Page 94



 

Table 5 - % change in rateable value by region and sector.     

 

4.2.9 The reductions for the north of England coupled with the reduction in the 
multiplier mean that the majority of ratepayers in the north will see reductions in 
their rates bills. However, those reductions will be limited because, as with 
previous revaluations, there will be a transitional scheme in place which will 
limit reductions for those transitioning to lower bills to provide funding for 
protections for those who are facing higher bills. The effect will be to subsidise 
ratepayers facing increases (mainly in London) by keeping bills in other areas 
(mainly in the north) higher than they otherwise would be. Government 
estimates that this subsidy will be worth £1bn over the five year lifetime of the 
scheme. 

4.2.10 The average reduction in rateable value for Leeds is 1.2%, a reduction of £11m 
from £919m to £908m, which is higher than that for Yorkshire and Humberside 
as a whole.   Within the 1.2% headline reduction for Leeds there are significant 
variations by sector with the largest factor being reductions to offices which 
have reduced by an average of 17.5%. 

 
4.2.11 From April 2017, small business in Leeds will benefit from an increase to the 

rateable value threshold from £6,000 to £12,000 which will effectively mean that 
an extra 3,500 properties will pay no business rates at all. 

 
4.2.12 In terms of the initial budget proposals, after applying the business rate 

multiplier, together with mandatory and discretionary reliefs, it is estimated that 
the local share of business rates funding in 2017/18 will be £180.51m.  This 
includes an estimated £7.7m for a national appeals adjustment which relates to 
the potential future appeals against the 2017 business rates list.  As per table 6 
below, the initial budget proposals recognise business rate growth above the 
baseline of £17.8m which is an increase of £3.5m, or 25% from 2016/17 
budget. 

 
  
 
 

Page 95



 

Table 6 – business rates, estimated growth above the baseline 
 

 
 

4.2.13 The £180.51m local share of business rates funding is then reduced by the 
£14.9m tariff payment and the £20.2m contribution to the collection fund to give 
the £145.4m estimated business rates funding shown in table 7.   

 
4.2.14 Comparing the £145.4m of business rates funding against the £147.8m 

business rates baseline produces a shortfall of £2.4m which is a £6.4m 
improvement against the budgeted shortfall in the 2016/17 financial year.   

 
4.2.15 The £20.2m contribution to the collection fund in 2017/18 is in addition to the 

£23m contribution in 2016/17 and the £6.4m contribution to the collection fund 
in 2015/16.   

  Table 7 – Business rates retention 2016/17 & 2017/18 

 
 

4.2.16 The council is a member of the Leeds City Region Business Rates Pool along 
with the other four West Yorkshire Authorities, Harrogate and York.  The benefit 
of the pooling arrangement is that the levy income generated by Leeds, 
Harrogate and York is retained in the region rather than being paid over to the 
Government.  The initial budget proposals assume that this arrangement will 
continue in 2017/18.  Based on the estimated growth in business rates above 
the baseline, the estimated levy payment to the pool in 2017/18 is £1.1m. 

 
 
 
 

2016/17 2017/18 Change
£m £m £m

Business rates local share 192.39 180.51 (11.88)
Less: business rates baseline 178.15 162.73 (15.42)
Growth above baseline 14.24 17.78 3.54

2016/17 2017/18
£m £m

Business rates baseline (including tariff) 145.0 147.8

Projected growth above the baseline to March 5.7 16.7
Estimated growth in the year 6.4 1.1
Additional income from ending of Retail Relief 2.1 0
Total estimated growth 14.2 17.8
Estimated provision for appeals (22.1) (20.8)
Additional cost of transitional arrangements and provision for bad 
debts (0.9) 0.6

Estimated year-end Collection Fund deficit (Leeds Share) (23.0) (20.2)
Estimated Business Rates Funding 136.2 145.4

Increase/(reduction) against the Business Rates baseline (8.8) (2.4)

Business rates retention - net general fund saving 6.4

Page 96



 

4.3 Council Tax 
 
4.3.1 The 2016/17 budget was supported by a 3.99% increase in the level of council 

tax which included the new adult social care precept.  Leeds council tax 
remains the 2nd lowest of the English core cities and mid-point of the West 
Yorkshire districts, as detailed in table 8 below.  

 
 
 Table 8 – 2016/17Council Tax levels (Figures exclude Police and Fire precepts) 
 

 

 
 

4.3.2 Government previously provided funding for the on-going effect of previous 
council tax freezes up to 2015/16. The council accepted the council tax freeze 
grant for the years 2011/12 to 2013/14, and government funding of £9.4m was 
built into the council’s 2015/16 settlement (the grant for freezing council tax in 
2012/13 was for one year only).   

4.3.3 The 2017/18 initial budget proposals recognise an additional £3.6m of income 
from increases to the Council Tax base (3,000 band D equivalent properties) 
together with an increase in the contribution from the collection fund of £0.4m (a 
budgeted £1.8m surplus on the collection fund in 2016/17 increasing to an 
estimated surplus on the collection fund of £2.2m in 2017/18). 

 
4.3.4 In previous years the government has set a limit of up to 2% for council tax 

increases above which a Local Authority must seek approval through a local 
referendum.  The referendum ceiling for 2017/18 has yet to be announced; 
when this information is known the council will need to make a decision about 
the proposed council tax increase.  However, subject to an announcement as to 
a referendum ceiling it is proposed that the standard council tax is increased by 
1.99%.   

 
4.3.5  The 2015 Spending Review announced that for the rest of the current 

Parliament, local authorities responsible for adult social care ‘will be given an 
additional 2% flexibility on their current council tax referendum threshold to be 
used entirely for adult social care’. This flexibility was offered in recognition of 
demographic changes which are leading to growing demand for adult social 
care, and increased pressure on council budgets. To ensure that this flexibility 
is used in accordance with the government’s intentions, and to ensure 
transparency for council tax payers, authorities are required to provide certain 
information and undertake a number of actions. In addition, the Secretary of 

Core Cities Band D 
£:p

West Yorkshire 
Districts Band D 

£:p
Nottingham     1,771.08 Kirklees      1,522.86 
Bristol     1,692.87 Calderdale      1,506.51 
Liverpool     1,675.46 Leeds      1,421.20 
Newcastle     1,604.79 Wakefield      1,413.43 
Sheffield     1,581.27 Bradford      1,403.74 
Manchester     1,435.12 
Leeds     1,421.20 
Birmingham     1,372.23 

Page 97



 

State continues to indicate that he will take account of authorities’ actions when 
setting referendum principles in future years. In line with the medium term 
financial strategy, it is proposed that the Leeds element of the council tax is 
also increased by a 2% Adult Social Care precept. Members will be assured  
that the increase in the Adult Social Care budget is higher than the £5.4m of 
funding that would be generated through the precept. 

 
4.3.6 Table 9 below sets out the estimated total income from council tax in 2017/18.  

This recognises the estimated increase in the council tax base, a £2.2m 
estimated surplus on the collection fund together with £10.8m of additional 
income generated from the Adult Social Care precept and the general increase 
in the council tax rate. 

 
 Table 9 – estimated council tax income in 2017/18 
 

 
 
4.3.7 The settlement funding assessment includes an element to compensate parish 

and town councils for losses to their council tax bases from the local council tax 
support (LCTS). The amount is not separately identifiable and, as in previous 
years, it is proposed that the LCTS grant for parish and town councils should be 
reduced in-line with the assumptions for Leeds’ overall reduction in the 
settlement funding assessment which would be a reduction of 10.6% for 
2017/18 from £84k to £75k.   

 
4.4 The net revenue budget 2017/18 
 
4.4.1 After taking into account the anticipated changes to the settlement funding 

assessment, business rates and council tax, the council’s overall net revenue 
budget is anticipated to reduce by £4.0m from £496.4m to £492.4m, as detailed 
in table 10 below; 

 
  

2016/17 2017/18
Baseline Forecast

£m £m
Previous year council tax funding 251.9 267.1
Change in collection fund - increase/(decrease) (0.2) 0.4
Change in tax base - increase/(decrease) 5.2 3.6
Increase in council tax level 5.1 5.4
Adult Social Care precept 5.1 5.4
Total - Council Tax Funding 267.1 282.0
Increase from previous year 14.9

Page 98



 

Table 10 – estimated net revenue budget 2016/17 compared to the 2016/17 net revenue 
budget 
 

 
 
4.4.2 Table 11 below analyses the £4m estimated reduction in the net revenue 

budget between the settlement funding assessment and locally determined 
funding sources. 

 
Table 11 – reduction in the funding envelope 

 

 
 
 
5. Developing the council’s budget proposals – consultation 
 
5.1 The financial strategy and initial budget proposals have both been driven by the 

council’s ambitions and priorities as set out in the Best Council Plan, which 
have been shaped through past consultations and stakeholder engagement. 
Information that the council already hold about people’s priorities has been 
used to inform the preparation of the initial budget proposals for 2017/18.    

 
5.2 As in previous years, residents and wider stakeholders will have the opportunity 

to comment on the initial budget proposals in a variety of ways, for example 
hard-copy feedback forms in public spaces, online and also through city-wide 
networks. 

 

2016/17 2017/18 Change
£m £m £m

Revenue Support Grant 93.0 65.0 (28.0)
Business Rates Baseline 145.0 147.8 2.8
Settlement Funding Assessment 238.0 212.8 (25.2)

Business Rates Growth 14.2 10.1 (4.1)
National Appeals Adjustment 0.0 7.7 7.7
Business Rates Deficit (23.0) (20.2) 2.8
Council Tax (incl. Adult Social Care 
Precept) 265.3 279.7 14.4

Council Tax surplus/(deficit) 1.8 2.2 0.4
Net Revenue Budget 496.4 492.4 (4.0)

2017/18
£m

Government Funding
Settlement Funding Assessment (25.2)

Sub-total Government Funding (25.2)

Locally Determined Funding
Council Tax (incl tax base growth) 14.9
Business Rates 6.4

Sub-total Locally Determined Funding 21.3

Increase/(decrease) in the Net Revenue Budget (4.0)

Funding Envelope

Page 99



 

6. Initial budget proposals 2017/18   
 
6.1 This section provides an overview of the spending pressures which the council 

is facing in 2017/18 and the initial budget proposals to balance with the 
available resources. Table 12 below provides a summary of key cost pressures 
and savings areas: 

 
Table 12 Initial Budget Proposals 2017/18  

 

 
  

6.1.1 The pie charts below show the share of the council’s net managed expenditure 
between directorates for 2016/17 and the proposed allocations for 2017/18 
based on the initial budget proposals. It should be noted that these resource 
allocations may be subject to amendments as we move through the budget 
setting process. Net managed expenditure represents the budgets under the 
control of individual directorates and excludes items such as capital charges 
and pensions adjustments.  

 
6.1.2 The initial budget proposals would mean that the council’s spend on Children’s 

Services and Adult Social Care will increase from  64.7% in 2016/17 to 67% in 
2017/18 which reflects the council’s priorities around supporting the most 
vulnerable across the city and to prioritise spending in these areas.   

 
 

£m   
Reduction in settlement funding assessment 25.2
Inflation 7.2
Employers LGPS pension contributions 1.5
Apprentice levy 1.4
Leeds CC minimum pay rate 0.4
National living wage - commissioned services 3.2
Demand & demography - mainly Adult Social Care and Children's Services 12.5
Debt - external interest 2.5
New homes bonus - reduction in funding 6.6
Improved Better Care fund & Housing Benefit grant (1.9)
Education Services Grant - reduction in funding 4.3
Estimated reduction in ring-fenced Public Health grant 1.2
Estimated reduction in partner funding 10.3
West Yorkshire transport fund 0.2
Adult social care charging review (full year effect) (2.0)
Other corporate and directorate budget pressures;

Children's Services 0.9
Environment & Housing 0.5

Public Health 1.7
Corporate pressures/savings (0.4)

Cost & funding changes 75.3
General and earmarked reserves 8.4
Potential increase in council tax base, rate and adult social care precept (14.9)
Business rates - potential growth offset by impact of backdated appeals (6.4)
Sub total - reserves, council tax and business rates (12.9)
Re-profiling the repayment of long-term debt (9.3)
Additional capitalisation (2.0)
Directorate Savings - see appendix 2 (51.1)
Sub total - savings proposals (62.4)
Total (75.3)

2.7

Page 100



 

2016/17 net managed budgets (adj) £m 
 

 
 
 
2017/18 net managed budgets (adj) £m 
 

 
         

6.2 Changes in costs 
 
6.2.1 Inflation - the budget proposals include allowance for £7.2m of net inflation in 

2017/18.  This includes provision of £4.7m for a 1% pay award over and above 

Adult Social 
Care,  £201.3 

Children's 
Services,  £119.8 

City 
Development,  

£37.7 

Environment & 
Housing,  £53.3 

Strategy & 
Resources,  

£37.2 

Citizens  & 
Communities,  

£29.6 

CEL,  £23.6 Public Health,  
£0.3 

Adult Social 
Care,  £206.9 

Children's 
Services,  £125.6 

City 
Development,  

£32.8 

Environment & 
Housing,  £46.1 

Strategy & 
Resources,  

£32.8 

Citizens  & 
Communities,  

£26.4 

Civic Enterprise 
Leeds,  £23.6 

Public Health,  
£0.4 

Page 101

20099491
Typewritten Text



 

the cost of implementing the real living wage. The budget proposals allow for 
inflation where there is a contractual commitment, but anticipates that the 
majority of other spending budgets are cash-limited.  An anticipated 3% general 
rise in fees and charges has also been built into the budget proposals, although 
there are instances where individual fees and charges will increase more than 
this. 

  
6.2.2 Local government pensions - the next actuarial valuation will be implemented 

in April 2017.  Employers’ pension contribution rates have been fixed at 14.2% 
until the end of 2016/17.  The initial budget proposals assume that a further 
provision will have to be made in 2017/18 to address the service pension deficit 
and an increase of 0.5% on the employers’ contributions has been included into 
the proposed budget, which will cost an estimated £1.5m in 2017/18.  This will 
need to be updated once the outcome of the 2017 actuarial valuation is known. 

 
6.2.3 National living wage – as part of the budget in July 2015, the government 

announced the introduction of a new national living wage of £7.20 per hour, 
rising to £9 per hour by 2020.  Implemented from April 2016, the national living 
wage would be paid to all employees aged over 25.  In his 2016 autumn 
statement, the Chancellor confirmed that the national living wage for all those 
aged over 25 would be increased by 4% in April 2017, to £7.50 per hour with an 
intention for the national living wage to reach 60% of median earnings by 2020.  
The increase in the national living wage is estimated to cost local authorities 
nationally an extra £337m and the council’s initial budget proposals provides 
£3.2m to recognise the increased cost pressure on commissioned services. 

 
6.2.4 Leeds CC minimum pay rate – the council has committed to the West 

Yorkshire Low Pay Charter and the Ethical Care Charter and, at its October 
2016 meeting, the board agreed to increase the minimum hourly rate for council 
employees to £8.25 from January 2017. The initial budget proposals include 
provision £0.4m over and above inflation in order to fund this agreed increase. 

 
6.2.5 Apprentice levy – the government has made a commitment to see an 

additional 3 million apprenticeship starts in England by 2020 with an 
apprenticeship levy used to fund the provision of quality training. From April 
2017, larger organisations will pay a levy equivalent to 0.5% of their pay bill and 
organisations with pay bills less than £3m being exempt. The overall levy for 
the council is estimated to be around £2.9m in total of which £1.4m and £0.1m 
relate to schools and the housing revenue account.  The initial budget 
proposals therefore include provision of £1.4m in 2017/18 for the general fund 
services 

 
6.2.6 Demand and Demography – the initial budget proposals recognise the 

increasing demography and consequential demand pressures for services in 
Adult Social Care and Children’s Services with provision of £12.6m. The 
population growth forecast assumes a steady increase from 2015, in the 
number of people aged 85-89 during 2016 and 2017 (2.9% and 2.8% 
respectively) followed by further increases but at a lower rate at 1.8% for the 
later years of the strategy, resulting in additional costs for domiciliary care and 
placements (£3.5m). In addition, the strategy reflects the anticipated impact of 

Page 102



 

increasing cash personal budgets of £2m per year through to 2020. The 
learning disability demography is expected to grow by £3.7m per annum, which 
includes an anticipated growth in numbers of 3.5% (based on ONS data) over 
the period; but noting that the high cost increase is primarily a combination of 
increasingly complex (and costly) packages for those entering adult care, as 
well as meeting the costs of the increasing need for existing clients whose 
packages may last a lifetime. 
 
Children’s Services continues to face demographic and demand pressures with 
provision of £5.8m included in the 2017/18 initial budget proposals.  These 
pressures reflect relatively high birth rates (particularly within the most deprived 
clusters within the city), increasing inward migration into the city (particularly 
from BME groups from outside the UK), the increasing population of children & 
young people with special and very complex needs, greater awareness of the 
risks of child sexual exploitation, growing expectations of families and carers in 
terms of services offered and changes in government legislation, including 
‘staying put’ arrangements that enable young people to remain with their carers 
up to the age of 21.  

 
6.2.7 Debt (external interest) – the initial budget proposals include provision for an 

increase in the council’s estimated debt costs in 2017/18 of £2.5m.  This 
reflects the on-going investment through the capital programme together with 
assumptions around interest rates and internal revenue balances.  The gross 
total 2016/17 to 2019/20 capital programme is over £1bn and seeks to deliver 
investment in line with the council’s plans and objectives.   

 
6.2.8 Public Health – on the 4th November 2015, government announced the 

outcome of the consultation on the implementation of a £200m national in-year 
cut to the 2015/16 ring-fenced Public Health grant allocation.  This confirmed 
the Department of Health's preferred option of reducing each local authority's 
allocation by 6.2%, which resulted in a reduction of £2.82m for Leeds in 
2015/16.  

6.2.8.1 In the 2015 Spending Review and Autumn Statement, government indicated it 
will make savings in local authority public health spending with a further cash 
reduction of 2.2% in 2016/17 and it became apparent that these reductions 
were in addition to the 6.2% 2015/16 reductions which have now recurred in 
2016/17.  Confirmation of the funding allocation was received on 11th February 
2016 which set out the reduction to the council’s public health grant of £3.9m 
(7.7%) in 2016/17 with a total estimated reduction to the council’s grant 
allocation of £7.4m by 2019/20.  This will effectively mean that the Council will 
have £25m less to spend on public health priorities between 2015/16 and 
2019/20. 

 
6.2.8.2 The initial budget proposals recognise an indicative £1.2m further cut to the 

ring-fenced public health grant, which when combined with other pressures and 
the impact of the previous grants cuts will require savings in the order of £2.9m 
to be made to public health spending by March 2018. 

 

Page 103



 

6.2.8.3 West Yorkshire Transport Fund – From the 1st April 2015 the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority began operations overseeing strategies for growing the 
economy, creating jobs, developing new affordable homes and improving the 
transport network.  Discussions as to how to bridge the gap between the 
aspiration to deliver a £1.4bn transport fund compared to the government’s 
commitment of £1bn over 20 years would result in an increase in contributions 
by local councils from 2016/17.  The initial forecast for council levies indicates a 
further £1.8m per annum would eventually be required from Leeds by 2024/25, 
with the levy increasing on average by £0.2m per year.  This has been built into 
the initial budget proposals.   

 
6.2.9 Grant & other funding 
 
6.2.9.1 Education services grant – the council and academies in the city are 

allocated an education services grant (ESG) on a per pupil basis according to 
the number of pupils for whom they are responsible.  The current assumption is 
that, in line with the consultation, the grant will be significantly reduced and this 
is reflected in the initial budget proposals with a reduction of £4.2m for 2017/18 
(equivalent to a 49% reduction on the 2016/17 grant allocation of £8.5m).    

6.2.9.2 New homes bonus – the government introduced the new homes bonus as an 
incentive scheme in 2011 to encourage housing growth across the country: 
councils receive additional grant equivalent to the average national council tax 
for each net additional property each year which is received annually for six 
years. Whilst the new homes bonus is intended as an incentive for housing 
growth, it should be noted the funding for this initiative comes from a top-slice of 
the local government funding settlement and the distribution of this funding 
benefits those parts of the country with the highest level of housing growth and 
is weighted in favour of properties in higher council tax bands.  The Chancellor 
announced in the 2015 spending review that the new homes bonus would be 
reduced by at least £800m in order to redirect funding to support adult social 
care services via the improved Better Care Fund.  Although consultation ended 
in March 2016, the government has yet to announce the outcome. In line with 
the financial strategy and government’s assessment of the council’s core 
spending power, the initial budget proposals assume a reduction of £6.6m in 
2017/18. 

 
6.3 The Budget Gap – savings options – £62.4m 
 
6.3.1 After taking into account the impact of the anticipated changes in funding and 

spend, it is forecast that the council will need to generate savings, efficiencies 
and additional income to the order of £62.4m in 2017/18, in addition to an 
estimated £14.9m additional council tax income.  

6.3.2 To develop options to generate these savings, efficiencies and additional 
income, from April 2016 an ongoing process of reviews has been carried out 
across a range of services and policy areas with the active involvement of the 
Best Council Leadership Team (the c. 50 most senior managers) and service 
managers throughout the organisation.  With the Best Council Plan focus on 
tackling inequalities and poverty being central to any proposals, the reviews 

Page 104



 

have identified possible savings / income generation opportunities, decision-
making routes for any changes to be implemented, initial identification of 
possible third sector and equality impacts and a high-level risk assessment.  Of 
particular note are the two key cross-cutting reviews on support services and 
locality working / leadership (both incorporating reviews of JNC – senior 
management – staff) and reviews assessing options around income and 
trading.  

6.3.3 The total budget savings options are shown at table 12 and detailed by 
directorate at appendix 2.  This estimated budget gap and therefore the 
required savings are very much dependent on the range of assumptions 
highlighted previously in this report. 

6.3.4 These service and policy reviews have been – and will continue to be – 
updated as part of an iterative approach to developing the council’s strategic 
plan and aligned medium-term financial strategy and annual budgets.  All 
services are within scope though the council remains committed to protecting 
front-line services as far as possible – especially those that provide support to 
the most vulnerable. 

6.3.5 Efficiencies – savings of £24.9m 
 
6.3.5.1 In terms of efficiencies, the council has taken quite a distinctive approach. The 

focus has been on efficiencies from stimulating good economic growth and 
creatively managing demand for services. This whole city approach drives 
ambitious plans despite austerity. It is born from our vision for Leeds to be the 
best city in the UK: one that is compassionate with a strong economy that can 
tackle poverty and reduce inequalities. This approach coupled with a significant 
programme of more traditional efficiencies has enabled the council to make 
£400m of savings since 2010 whilst simultaneously creating the conditions for a 
thriving and sustainable city where people’s lives are better. 

6.3.5.2 Efficiency of the council’s own operations remains important and we have 
reduced budgets in all areas of the council and will continue to do so, whilst 
protecting frontline services and those for the most vulnerable. At the centre of 
this work is a whole organisation cultural change programme coupled with 
modernisation of the work environment creating the necessary conditions for 
fundamental organisational change and efficiency improvements. Our key 
achievements so far include: 

• Staff reductions of 2,500 since 2010 without compulsory redundancy – 
saving £55m pa.  

• £2.4m savings from changes in terms and conditions of staff; 
• Over 50% reduction in agency staff since 2013; 
• Over £35m of procurement savings since 2010/11;  
• Asset review – getting the most from the assets we own and investing in 

new assets where it makes financial sense, saving over £4m since 
2013/14; 

• An annual saving in the cost of waste disposal of approximately £7m 
following the completion of the Recycling and Energy Recovery plant in 
2015. 

Page 105



 

• Innovative use of the balance sheet to generate £35m savings in 2015/16; 
and 

• More effective working with city partners to maximise the impact of the 
‘Leeds Pound’. 

 
6.3.5.3 Appendix 2 provides the detail of a range of proposed efficiency savings across 

all directorates which total some £24.9m in 2017/18. These savings are across 
a number of initiatives around: 

 
• Organisational design. 
• Continuing demand management through investment in prevention and 

early intervention, particularly in Adult Social Care and Children’s 
Services. 

• Savings across the range of support service functions.  
• Ongoing recruitment and retention management.  
• Reviewing leadership and management. 
• Realising savings by cash-limiting and reducing non-essential budgets. 
• Ongoing procurement and purchasing savings. 

 
6.3.6 Fees & Charges – additional income of £6m    
 
6.3.6.1 At its February 2016 meeting, Executive Board approved the recommendations 

from Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) on fees and charges which 
included agreement that all fees would be reviewed annually and increased by 
at least the rate of inflation, that officers should benchmark their charging 
frameworks each year and that full-cost recovery in line with CIPFA guidance 
should apply as part of the annual budget setting process.  

 
6.3.6.2 The initial budget proposals reflect these principles and assume a general 

increase in fees and charges of 3%, and appendix 2 sets out detailed proposals 
around a number of fees, charges and subsidised services.  If approved, these 
proposals would generate an additional £6m of income in 2017/18.  

 
6.3.7 Traded Services, partner income & other income – additional income of 

£8.9m 
 
6.3.7.1 Appendix 2 provides details across directorates of a number of proposals that 

together would generate additional income of £8.9m.   
 

6.3.8 Changes to service – savings of £11.4m 
 
6.3.8.1 By necessity, managing a reduction of £25.2m in government funding in 

addition to a range of cost pressures means that the council will have to make 
some difficult decisions around the level and quality of services that it provides 
and whether these services should be increasingly targeted toward need. 

  
6.3.8.2 Appendix 2 sets out these detailed service change proposals which together 

target savings of £11.4m by March 2018. 
    
  

Page 106



 

6.3.9 Minimum revenue provision – savings of £9.3m 
  
6.3.9.1 The minimum revenue provision (MRP) is an annual revenue charge for the 

repayment of borrowing and other capital financing liabilities. Statutory 
guidance sets out the broad aims of a prudent MRP policy, which should be to 
ensure that borrowing is repaid either over the life of the asset which the capital 
expenditure related to or, for supported borrowing, the period assumed in the 
original grant determination. In simple legislative terms, local authorities have a 
duty each year to provide for an amount of MRP which it considers to be 
‘prudent’, although the regulation does not itself define what is a ‘prudent 
provision’. 

 
6.3.9.2 The guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision identifies four options for 

calculating MRP which would result in a prudent provision, but states that other 
approaches are not ruled out.  Local authorities therefore have a considerable 
level of freedom in determining their MRP policies, provided that they are in line 
with the broad aims set out in the statutory guidance.  In line with the 2012 
guidance, the council has already reviewed its MRP policies including the use 
of capital receipts to redeem debt, rescheduling the MRP on pre-2017/18 debt 
and to charge MRP on PFI schemes over the life of the asset rather than the 
term of the PFI contract. The council’s base budget for MRP in 2016/17 is 
£10.3m which reflected £23m of savings in that year. 

 
6.3.9.3 Following the asset life approach, the council’s post 2007/08 debt is being 

funded over periods ranging from 5 years to 70 years, according to the nature 
of the capital expenditure. Its pre 2007/08 debt is being funded over 39 years.  
The proposal is to amend the MRP policy to reduce the overall provision for 
debt repayment from MRP and capital receipts in each of 2016/17, 2017/18 and 
2018/19. The reduction in debt repayments across these 3 years would then be 
spread evenly over the following 10 years to leave the position at the end of 13 
years exactly as it would have been if no change had been made. 

 
6.3.9.4 In order to adhere to the principle that debt should be funded over the life of the 

relevant asset, the intention would be to still repay borrowing on short-life 
assets which are due to be fully repaid by 2019/20 in line with the existing 
schedule. This would be funded from a mixture of revenue MRP and capital 
receipts. Funding of repayments on longer maturity debt would be deferred 
during this three year period. 

 
6.3.9.5 It is estimated that this change in policy would re-profile approximately £79m of 

long-term debt repayments by the end of 2018/19 in comparison to the council’s 
existing MRP policy. The council would then spread the repayment of this £79m 
evenly over the following 10 year period. Forecasts of capital receipts from 
planned asset sales indicate that the impact on the revenue budget from 
2019/20 can be phased in gradually over a further three year period by the use 
of increased capital receipts to repay debt in those years.  Re-profiling the long-
term debt would increase external interest costs by £150k in 2017/18. 

6.3.9.6 The initial budget proposals include savings of £9.3m against the MRP budget 
in 2017/18.  In addition, the proposal to re-profile the repayment of long-term 
debt would enable savings in the 2016/17 financial year and against the 

Page 107



 

financial strategy and the intention is to use these savings to create specific 
earmarked reserves to support business rate appeals, employee severance 
and invest to save opportunities. 

 
6.4 Impact of proposals on employees 
 
6.4.1 The council has operated a voluntary retirement and severance scheme since 

2010/11 which has already contributed significantly to the reduction in the 
workforce of around 2,500 ftes to March 2016, generating savings of £55m per 
year. 

  
6.4.2 Following the 2015 spending review the council re-issued a Section 188 notice 

(notice to collectively consult to avoid redundancies issued under s.188 
TULRCA 1992) stating that it is anticipated the council will need to downsize by 
1,000 – 2,000 full time equivalent posts by the end of March 2020.   

 
6.4.3 Since May 2016, the council has been positively and constructively engaging 

and working with our trade unions partners.   
 
6.4.4 The council will continue to strive to avoid compulsory redundancies – through 

natural turnover, continuing the voluntary early leaver scheme, staff flexibility 
and continuing the positive working with the trade unions. 

 
6.4.5 The initial budget proposals provide for an estimated gross reduction up to 800 

in staff numbers by 31st March 2018, although there will be some opportunities 
for recruitment and redeployment, for example in highways, Children’s 
Services, Civic Enterprise Leeds and across support services. 

 
7. General Reserve 
 
7.1 General and useable reserves are a key measure of the financial resilience of 

the council, allowing the authority to address unexpected financial pressures.  
Since 2010/11, the council’s general reserve level has reduced from £29.56m 
down to £21.6m at April 2016 with further budgeted use of £3.5m in 2016/17. 

 
7.2     The assumed general reserve balance of £18.1m at March 2017 is predicated 

on the delivery of a balanced budget in 2016/17.  Executive Board will be aware 
of the pressures in the 2016/17 financial year and the financial health report 
(month 7) indicates a potential pressure of £4m, primarily due to continuing 
demand pressures in children’s social care.  The expectation is that measures 
will be put in place to bring the council’s budget into balance by March 2017. 

 
7.3 The initial budget proposals assume a £2.7m contribution to general reserves in 

2017/18.  This will take the estimated level of the general reserves to £20.8m 
by March 2018 as set out in the table below:   

 
  
  

Page 108



 

Table 13 – General reserve level 
 

 
 

7.4 The council’s reserves are relatively low and whilst they afford some flexibility 
between years, the intention is to increase the level of general reserve in the 
medium-term, as reflected in the financial strategy.   

 
8.  The Schools Budget 
 
8.1 The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) for 2017/18 will continue to be funded as 

three separate blocks for early years, high needs and schools. 
 
8.2 The early years block will fund free early education for 3 and 4 year olds and 

the early education of eligible vulnerable 2 year olds. The per pupil units of 
funding will be confirmed in December 2016 and will continue to be based on 
participation. From September 2017, government will increase the amount of 
free childcare to 30 hours/week for working families of 3 and 4 year old 
children. 

 
8.3 The high needs block will support places and top-up funding in special schools, 

resourced provision in mainstream schools and alternative provision; top-up 
funding for early years, primary, secondary, post-16 and out of authority 
provision; central SEN support and hospital & home education. Published place 
numbers for the 2016/17 academic year will be rolled forward as the base for 
2017/18 allocations and adjusted in accordance with the Education Funding 
Agency’s (EFA) place change request process, and the transfer of funding from 
the post 16 budget. The overall high needs block allocation will not be known 
until December 2016. 

 
8.4 The schools block funds the delegated budgets of primary and secondary 

schools for pupils in reception to year 11, and a number of prescribed services 
and costs in support of education in schools. The grant for 2017/18 will be 
based on pupil numbers (including those in academies and free schools) as at 
October 2016, multiplied by the schools block unit of funding which for 2017/18 
is £4,564.86.  The block unit of funding has increased due to the transfer of 
funding for the Education Services Grant (ESG) for retained duties (£15 per 
pupil). This rate also incorporates the former non-recoupment academies. It is 
estimated that pupil numbers will increase by approximately 3,080 this year, 
mainly in primary. 

 
8.5 £5.2m of the schools block was retained centrally in 2016/17 in order to support 

Clusters, however the EFA has stipulated that from April 2017, the funding must 
be delegated to schools, and the local authority will have to put a plan in place 
so that schools may opt to purchase the service through individual agreement.  

General Reserve 2016/17 2017/18
£m £m

Brought Forward 1st April 21.6 18.1
Budgeted contribution/(use) in-year (3.5) 2.7
Carried Forward 31st March 18.1 20.8

Page 109



 

This funding will be distributed through an adjusted formula in order to limit 
variations to clusters and schools. 

 
8.6 Funding for post-16 provision is allocated by the EFA through a national 

formula. No changes to the formula are expected for 2017/18. The current 
national base rate per student for 16-19 year olds will be protected in cash 
terms over the parliament.  Funding for 2017/18 will be based on 2016-17 
lagged student numbers. 

 
8.7 Pupil Premium grant is paid to schools and academies based on the number of 

eligible Reception to year 11 pupils on roll in January each year. The rates for 
2017/18 are expected to remain at: primary £1,320, secondary £935, looked 
after/adopted £1,900, service £300. The early years pupil premium is payable 
to providers for eligible 3 and 4 year olds at the rate of £0.53 per child per hour. 
The pupil premium grant will continue and the rates will be protected. 

 
8.8 The Primary PE grant will be paid in the 2016/17 academic year to all primary 

schools at a rate of £8,000 plus £5 per pupil. The year 7 catch-up grant will be 
paid in the 2016-17 financial year at a rate of £500 for each pupil in year 7 who 
did not achieve at least level 4 in reading and/or mathematics (maximum £500 
per pupil) at key stage 2. The rates for 2017-18 have yet to be announced. 

 
8.9 A grant for the universal provision of free school meals for all pupils in 

reception, year 1 and year 2 was introduced in September 2014. Funding is 
based on a rate of £2.30 per meal taken by eligible pupils. Data from the 
October and January censuses will be used to calculate the allocations for the 
academic year. The government has given a commitment to maintain this 
funding. 

 
8.10 The high needs block is forecast to overspend this year by over £5m with a 

significant increase in the number pf pupils with additional needs and an 
increase in spend on top-ups for outside placements resulting in an overspend 
against the Funding For Inclusion budget. These budget pressures are forecast 
to continue in 2017/18 meaning that options for savings in the high needs block 
or other areas of the DSG will need to be considered in order to bring spend in 
line with the available resources. School Forum will be consulted on options at 
its meeting in January with proposals included in the budget report to Executive 
Board in February 2017. 

 
8.11 The government had previously announced that from 2017/18 funding for 

schools, early years and high needs would be delivered through a national 
funding formula and there would be a transitional phase to smooth its 
introduction. These proposals have been delayed.  We are awaiting further 
details, however the earliest implementation will now be 2018/19.  

 
8.12 There will be a reduction in the education support grant paid to local authorities 

as part of government’s commitment to reduce the local authority role in 
running schools as well as the removal of, as yet unspecified, statutory duties.  
ESG funding for retained duties will transfer to the DSG form April 2017 

 

Page 110



 

 
 
Schools funding summary 

 
8.13 As per table 14 below, the estimated figures for the 2016/17 and 2017/18 for 

the schools budget are; 
 
 Table 14 – the estimated schools budget 
 

 2016/17 
£m 

 

2017/18 
£m 

Change 
£m 

DSG - schools block 466.24 482.09 15.85 
DSG - early years block 40.00 45.65 5.65 
DSG - high needs block 59.25 60.75 1.50 
EFA Post 16 funding 33.23 33.23 - 
Pupil premium grant  42.03 42.93 0.90 
Early years pupil premium grant 0.53  0.53 - 
PE & sport grant 2.09  2.11 0.02 
Yr 7 catch-up grant  0.83 0.86 0.03 
Universal infant free school meals grant 9.37 9.57 0.20 
Total schools budget  653.57 677.72 24.15 

 
9. Housing Revenue Account 

9.1 The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) includes all expenditure and income 
incurred in managing the Council’s housing stock and, in accordance with 
Government legislation, operates as a ring fenced account.  

 
9.2 The 2016 Welfare Reform and Work Act introduced the requirement for all 

registered social housing providers to reduce social housing rents by 1% for the 
4 years from 2016/17. This reduction was implemented by the council in 
2016/17 with a subsequent loss of £2.1m in rental income. Reducing rents by a 
further 1% in each of the three years from 2017/18 to 2019/20 equates to an 
additional estimated loss of £18.5m in rental income over this period. When 
compared to the level of resources assumed in the financial plan (and 
assuming that from 2020/21 rent increases will revert back to the previous 
policy of CPI+1%) this equates to a loss of £283m of rental income over the 10 
year period (2016/17 to 2024/25). 

 
9.3 Whilst the 2016 Act requires that social rents have to reduce by 1% per annum 

until 2019/20, properties funded through PFI can be exempt from this 
requirement. An increase in accordance with the government’s rent formula of 
CPI (1% as at September 2016) + 1% is therefore proposed. This overall 2% 
rise equates to approximately £0.35m. 

 
9.4 The costs associated with servicing the HRA’s borrowing have increased due to 

a combination of discounts that had previously been applied to the overall level 
of debt falling out and the planned increase in borrowing to support the 
Council’s new build programme.  

Page 111



 

 
9.5 The rollout of universal credit in Leeds commenced in 2016 and once fully 

implemented it will require the council to collect rent directly from around 24,000 
tenants who are in receipt of full or partial housing benefit. Although the 
financial impact of this is still difficult to quantify it is likely to have implications 
for the level of rental income receivable since the level of arrears is anticipated 
to increase. 

 
9.6 A reduction in the qualifying period after which tenants are able to submit an 

application to purchase a council house through the government’s Right to Buy 
legislation continues to sustain an increase in the number of sales with a 
subsequent reduction in the amount of rent receivable. 

 
9.7 The reduction in rental income will need to be managed in addition to other pay, 

price and service pressures. A combination of staffing efficiencies, a reduction 
in the contribution to BITMO and the use of reserves will all contribute towards 
off-setting these pressures. In addition it is proposed to reduce the level of 
resources available to Housing Advisory Panels (HAPs).  Despite this reduction 
the proposed budget available to HAPs (£0.45m) in 2017/18 will still be greater 
than the level of resources that was provided prior to the housing management 
function being transferred back to the Council in 2013.   

 
9.8 Further consideration will be given to increasing service charges to reflect more 

closely the costs associated with providing services. This will generate 
additional income which will contribute towards offsetting the reduction in rental 
income receivable as a result of the change in Government's rent policy.  

  
9.9 Tenants in multi storey flats (MSFs) and in low/medium rise flats receive 

additional services such as cleaning of communal areas, staircase lighting and 
lifts and only pay a notional charge towards the cost of these services meaning 
other tenants are in effect subsidising the additional services received.  It is 
proposed that an additional £2 per week increase on multi storey flats with an 
increase of £1 per week on low/medium rise flats in 2017/18 would generate an 
additional £950k compared to 2016/17. 

 
9.10 Currently tenants in sheltered accommodation receiving a warden service are 

charged £13 per week for this service. This charge is eligible for Housing 
Benefit. In 2016/17 a nominal charge of £2 per week was introduced for those 
tenants who benefited from the service but did not pay. It is proposed to 
increase this charge by a further £2 per week in 2017/18. 

 
9.11 An analysis of the impact on individual tenants of reducing rents by 1% and 

implementing the proposed charges as above has been undertaken. This 
analysis shows that should the proposals be agreed 71.8% of tenants will pay 
78p less per week less in overall terms in 2017/18 than in 2016/17 with a 
further 4.1% paying 70p less per week. Of those paying more, 11.3% will pay 
up to £1.35 more per week, 4.6% will pay 31p per week more, 2.8% will pay 
£1.56 more per week, 2.3% will pay an additional 30p per week, 1.2% will pay 
£2.37 more per week, 0.8% will pay £3.30 more per week and 1.1%  will pay 

Page 112



 

£1.33 more per week. These increases will be funded through Housing Benefit 
for eligible tenants.  

 
9.12 Since all housing priorities are funded through the HRA any variations in the 

rental income stream will impact upon the level of resources that are available 
for the delivery of housing priorities.  Resources will be directed towards key 
priority areas which include fulfilling the plan to improve the homes people live 
in, expanding and improving older person’s housing and improving estates to 
ensure that they are safe and clean places to live.  

 
9.13 In addition to the above, the Housing and Planning Act 2016 which received 

Royal Assent in May 2016 introduces a number of government proposals which 
when implemented are likely to have a significant impact on HRA resources. 
The Act requires local authorities to sell their higher value homes and allows 
the government to estimate the amount of money that they expect each local 
authority to receive from such sales each financial year. Authorities will then be 
required to pay a proportion of these receipts to the Treasury every quarter. 
Details of the definition of higher value homes and the mechanism by which 
government will calculate the amount to be paid by each authority are yet to be 
published. It is also unclear the date from which this legislative change will be 
implemented from.  Since detailed regulations in respect of the Housing and 
Planning Act 2016 have yet to be issued the financial implications of the 
legislation upon the Housing Revenue Account cannot readily be assessed. 

 
9.14 The Council remains committed to prioritising resources to meet the capital 

investment strategy and to replace homes lost through Right to Buy by the 
planned investment in new homes and the buying up of empty homes. The 
council aims to maintain a consistent level of capital expenditure with a view to 
improving the condition of the stock. However, any financial pressures resulting 
from the Housing and Planning Act may impact on the authority’s ability to 
deliver this. 

 
 Table 15 – housing revenue account pressures and savings 
 

 

Income  £m
Reduction in rental income due to stock reduction and 1% 
rent reduction 3.40

Apply 2% rent increase to PFI funded areas (0.35)
Increase service charges (0.95)
Use of Reserves (3.35)
Total (1.25)

Expenditure
Pay and price pressures 0.65
Increase costs of capital (due to fallout of HRA discount and 
increased borrowing) 1.90

Targeted staffing efficiency (0.80)
Reduce Housing Advisory Panel expenditure (0.45)

BITMO - apply staff efficiency target (0.05)

Total 1.25

Page 113



 

10. Capital Programme 
 
10.1        Over the period 2016/17 to 2019/20 the existing capital programme includes 

investment plans which total £1.1bn. The programme is funded by external 
sources in the form of grants and contributions and also by the Council through 
borrowing and reserves. Where borrowing is used to fund the programme, the 
revenue costs of the borrowing will be included within the revenue budget.  Our 
asset portfolio is valued in the Council’s published accounts at £4.3bn, and the 
council’s net debt, including PFI liabilities stands at £2.32bn. 

 
10.2        The initial budget proposals provide for a £2.5m increase in the cost of debt and 

capital financing. This assumes that all borrowing is taken short term at 0.65% 
interest for the remainder of 2016/17 and 2017/18.  

 
10.3        The strategy allows for capital investment in key annual programmes, major 

schemes that contribute to the Best Council Plan objectives and schemes that 
generate income or reduce costs.  Capital investment will continue to be subject 
to robust business cases being reviewed and approved prior to schemes 
approval.  Whilst the capital programme remains affordable, its continued 
affordability will be monitored as part of the treasury management and financial 
health reporting. 

 
10.4        A capital programme update report will be presented to the Executive Board in 

February 2017. 
 
11.    Corporate Considerations 
 
11.1     Consultation and Engagement  

11.1.1 As explained at section 5 above the initial budget proposals have been 
informed through the wealth of consultation evidence gathered in recent years 
on residents’ budget priorities. Since 2012 there has been only minor changes 
to those priorities and, in addition, residents and service users have had 
significant involvement in on-going service-led change projects.  Subject to the 
approval of the board, this report will be submitted to Scrutiny for their 
consideration and review, with the outcome of their deliberations to be reported 
to the planned meeting of this Board on the 8th February 2017.   

11.1.2 Consultation is an ongoing process and residents are consulted on many 
issues during the year. It is also proposed that this report is used for wider 
consultation with the public through the Leeds internet and with other 
stakeholders. Consultation is on-going with representatives from the Third 
Sector, and plans are in place to consult with the Business sector prior to 
finalisation of the budget.  

11.2    Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration  
 
11.2.1 The council continues to have a clear approach to embedding equality in all 

aspects of its work and recognises the lead role we have in the city to promote 
equality and diversity. This includes putting equality into practice taking into 

Page 114



 

account legislative requirements, the changing landscape in which we work and 
the current and future financial challenges that the city faces. 

 
11.2.2  As an example of the commitment to equality, scrutiny will again play a strong 

role in challenging and ensuring equality is considered appropriately within the 
decision making processes. 

 
11.2.3  The proposals within this report have been screened for relevance to equality, 

diversity, cohesion and integration and a full strategic analysis and assessment 
will be undertaken on the revenue budget and council tax 2017/18 which will be 
considered by Executive Board in February 2017. Specific equality impact 
assessments will also be undertaken on the implementation of all budget 
decisions as they are considered during the decision-making processes in 
2017/18.  

 
11.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan 

11.3.1 The refreshed Best Council Plan 2017/18 will set out the council’s priorities 
aligned with the medium-term financial strategy and annual budget.  Developing 
and then implementing the Best Council Plan will continue to inform, and be 
informed by, the council’s funding envelope and staffing and other resources. 

11.4 Resources and Value for Money  

11.4.1 This is a revenue budget financial report and as such all financial implications 
are detailed in the main body of the report. 

 
11.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

11.5.1  This report has been produced in compliance with the Council’s Budget and 
Policy Framework.  In accordance with this framework, the initial budget 
proposals, once approved by the board will be submitted to Scrutiny for their 
review and consideration. The outcome of their review will be reported to the 
February 2017 meeting of this Board at which proposals for the 2017/18 budget 
will be considered prior to submission to full Council on the 22nd February 2017.
  

11.5.2 The initial budget proposals will, if implemented, have significant implications 
for council policy and governance and these are explained within the report. 
The budget is a key element of the council’s budget and policy framework, but 
many of the proposals will also be subject to separate consultation and decision 
making processes, which will operate within their own defined timetables and 
managed by individual directorates. 

 
11.5.3  In accordance with the council’s budget and policy framework, decisions as to 

the council’s budget are reserved to full council. As such, the recommendation 
at 13.1 is not subject to call in, as the budget is a matter that will ultimately be 
determined by full council, and this report is in compliance with the council’s 
constitution as to the publication of initial budget proposals two months prior to 
adoption. 

 
  

Page 115



 

11.6 Risk Management 

11.6.1 The council’s current and future financial position is subject to a number of risk 
management processes. Failure to address medium-term financial pressures in 
a sustainable way is identified as one of the council’s corporate risks, as is the 
council’s financial position going into significant deficit in the current year 
resulting in reserves (actual or projected) being less than the minimum 
specified by the council’s risk-based reserves policy. Both these risks are 
subject to regular review. In addition, financial management and monitoring 
continues to be undertaken on a risk-based approach where financial 
management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget that 
are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans, 
those budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand, key income budgets, 
etc. This risk-based approach has been reinforced with specific project 
management based support and reporting around the achievement of the key 
budget actions plans. 

 
11.6.2 It is recognised that the proposed strategy carries a number of significant risks. 

Delivery of the annual budget savings and efficiencies proposed will be difficult, 
but failure to do so will inevitably require the council to start to consider even 
more difficult decisions which will have far greater impact upon the provision of 
front line services to the people of Leeds.   

 
11.6.3 A full risk assessment will be undertaken of the council’s financial plans as part 

of the normal budget process, but it is clear that there are a number of risks that 
could impact upon these plans put forward in this report; some of the more 
significant ones are set out below.  

 
• The reductions in government grants are greater than anticipated. Specific 

grant figures for the council for 2017/18 will not be known until later in the 
budget planning period. 

• Demographic and demand pressures, particularly in Adult Social care and 
Children’s services could be greater than anticipated.  

• The implementation of the transformation agenda and delivery of the 
consequential savings could be delayed or the savings less than those 
assumed in the budget. 

• Delivery of savings proposals could be delayed and reductions in staffing 
numbers could be less than anticipated. 

• Inflation and pay awards could be greater than anticipated. 
• The level of funding from partners could be less than assumed in the 

budget. 
• Other sources of income and funding could continue to decline. 
• The increase in the council tax base could be less than anticipated. 
• The position on business rates retention, and specifically the impact of 

back-dated appeals, could deteriorate further. 
• Changes in the level of debt and interest rates could impact upon capital 

financing charges. 
• The estimated asset sales and capital receipts could be delayed which 

would impact on the assumed reduction in the minimum revenue budget 

Page 116



 

and which would also require the council to borrow more to fund 
investment. 

• Failure to understand and respond to the equality impact assessment. 
 
11.6.4   A full analysis of all budget risks in accordance will continue to be maintained 

and will be subject to monthly review as part of the in-year monitoring and 
management of the budget. Any significant and new risks and budget variations 
are contained in the in-year financial health reports submitted to the Executive 
Board.  

 
12.  Conclusions 

12.1  This report has shown that the current financial position continues to be very 
challenging.  The council is committed to providing the best service possible for 
the citizens of Leeds and to achieving the ambition for the city of being the best 
in the UK with a firm focus on tackling inequalities. In order to achieve both the 
strategic aims and financial constraints, the council will need to work differently, 
helping people to look after themselves, others and the places they live and 
work by considering the respective responsibilities of the ‘state’ and the ‘citizen’ 
(the social contract).  This approach underpins the medium-term financial 
strategy and the refreshed 2017/18 Best Council Plan.  

 
12.2  Based on the government multi-year settlement there will be a further reduction 

in the settlement funding assessment for 2016/17 of £25.2m which means that 
core funding from government (SFA and other core grants) will have reduced 
by around £240m by March 2018. The initial budget proposals for 2017/18 set 
out in this report, subject to the finalisation of the detailed proposals in February 
2017, will, if delivered, generate savings and additional income of £62.4m to 
produce a balanced budget.   

  
12.3  Clearly savings of this magnitude will require many difficult decisions to be 

taken and these will not be without risk. The level of reductions required for 
2017/18 will impact on front line services which the council has worked, and 
continues to work, extremely hard to protect.  In this context, it is important that 
risks are fully understood and the final budget is robust.  

 
13. Recommendations 

13.1 Executive Board is asked to agree the initial budget proposals and for them to 
be submitted to scrutiny and also for the proposals to be used as a basis for 
wider consultation with stakeholders. 

14. Background documents1  

None 

  

                                                
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 117



 

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

• the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

• whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

• whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Strategy and Resources Service area: Corporate Financial 

Management 
 

Lead person: Doug Meeson 
 

Contact number: 74250 

 
1. Title: Initial Budget Proposals 2017/18 
 
Is this a: 
      Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
The council is required to publish its initial budget proposals two months prior to 
approval of the budget by full council in February 2017. The initial budget proposals 
report for 2017/18 sets out the Executive’s plans to deliver a balanced budget within 
the overall funding envelope. It should be noted that the budget represents a 
financial plan for the forthcoming year and individual decisions to implement these 
plans will be subject to equality impact assessments where appropriate.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

x   

Page 118



 

 
3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
All of the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees 
or the wider community – city-wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

X  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

X  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

X  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

X  

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
• Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
• Advancing equality of opportunity 
• Fostering good relations 

 
X 
 

X 
X 
 

 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

• Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

• Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 
• How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 

Page 119



 

The initial budget proposals identify a savings requirement of £62.4m due to a reduction 
in Government funding and unavoidable pressures such as inflation and 
demand/demography. Savings proposals to bridge this gap will affect all citizens of Leeds 
to some extent. The council has consulted on its priorities in recent years and has sought 
to protect the most vulnerable groups. However, the cumulative effect of successive 
annual government funding reductions, means that protecting vulnerable groups is 
becoming increasingly difficult.  Further consultation regarding the specific proposals 
contained in this report will be carried out before the final budget for 2017/18 is agreed. 
 
• Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
The budget proposals will impact on all communities but those who have been identified 
as being at the greatest potential risk include: 
 

• Disabled people 
• BME communities  
• Older and younger people and 
• Low socio-economic groups  

 
The initial budget proposals have identified the need for significant staffing savings in all 
areas of the council which may impact on the workforce profile in terms of the at-risk 
groups. There will be some impact on our partners through commissioning and/or grant 
support which may have a knock on effect for our most vulnerable groups.  
 
• Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
A strategic equality impact assessment of the budget will be undertaken prior to its 
approval in February 2017.  
 
There will also be further equality impact assessments on all key decisions as they go 
through the decision making process in 2017/18. 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 

Page 120



 

6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Doug Meeson 
 

Chief Officer Financial 
Services 

24/11/16 

Date screening completed  
24/11/16 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or 
a Significant Operational Decision.  
 
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

• Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

• The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and 
Significant Operational Decisions.  

• A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent 
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening 
was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 5/12/16 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 

Page 121

mailto:equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk
mailto:equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk


2017/18 Budget Proposals Adult Social 
Care

Children's 
Services

City 
Development

Environment & 
Housing

Strategy & 
Resources

Citizen's & 
Communities

Civic 
Enterprise 

Leeds

Public 
Health

Strategic 
Budget Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Net Managed Budget 2016/17 (adjusted) 201.3 119.8 37.7 53.3 37.2 29.6 23.6 0.3 (6.5) 496.4

Inflation 2.5 0.6 1.8 0.8 0.4 0.3 0.6 0.1 7.2
Employer's LGPS contribution 0.2 0.4 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.2 1.5
Apprentice levy 1.4 1.4
Leeds CC minimum pay rate 0.02 0.04 0.1 0.002 0.01 0.3 0.4
National Living Wage 2.9 0.3 3.2
Demand and Demography 6.7 5.8 12.5
Specific grants 4.3 1.2 4.7 10.2
Partner funding 4.7 5.6 10.3
West Yorkshire Transport Fund 0.2 0.2
Adult Social Care - charging review (full-year effect) (2.0) (2.0)
Fall-out of Capitalised Pension costs (0.2) (0.2) (0.2) (0.1) (0.1) (0.04) (0.05) (0.8)
Other Pressures 0.9 0.6 (0.1) 1.7 0.4 3.6
Debt - external interest 2.5 2.5
General Reserve 6.2 6.2
Earmarked Reserves 2.2 2.2

Total - Cost and funding changes 14.8 17.8 1.8 1.8 0.5 0.3 1.0 2.9 17.6 58.5

Budget Savings Options;
Accounting - additional capitalisation (2.0) (2.0)
Capital Financing - Minimum Revenue Provision (9.3) (9.3)

Appendix 2:-
Changes to Service (1.9) (3.1) (1.6) (0.5) (0.7) (0.8) (2.9) (11.4)
Efficiencies (6.7) (1.9) (1.5) (5.4) (4.7) (2.7) (2.0) (24.9)
Income - Fees & Charges (0.5) (3.4) (1.8) (0.2) (6.0)
Income - Traded Services, Partner & Other Income (7.0) (0.2) (1.3) (0.2) (0.2) (8.9)

Total - Appendix 2 (9.1) (12.0) (6.7) (9.0) (4.9) (3.6) (1.0) (2.9) (2.0) (51.1)

Total - Budget Savings (9.1) (12.0) (6.7) (9.0) (4.9) (3.6) (1.0) (2.9) (13.2) (62.4)

Target 2017/18 Net Revenue Budget 206.9 125.6 32.8 46.1 32.8 26.4 23.6 0.4 (2.2) 492.4

Increase/(decrease) from 2016/17 5.7 5.8 (4.8) (7.3) (4.4) (3.3) 0.0 0.0 4.4 (4.0)

APPENDIX 1

P
age 122



Adult Social Care - savings options 2017/18 Appendix 2

Savings Proposal Comments 2017/18 2018/19 
fye

Is this relevant 
to Equality & 

Diversity?

£m £m

A) Efficiencies
Assessment and Care Management Review of business processes and staff skills mix (0.5) 0.0 N

Older People Care Packages Reduction in the number of customers going into residential care through increased use of 
reablement, telecare and recovery services (1.3) 0.0 Y

Physical Impairment Care Packages Review of care package costs, increased use of community based services rather than 
residential care and the promotion of 'ordinary lives' (0.5) 0.0 Y

Mental Health Care Packages Review of care package costs to ensure they are the most cost effective way of meeting 
people's needs, including in-house services, and promoting 'ordinary lives' (0.8) 0.0 Y

Learning Disabilities Care Packages 
Review of care package costs to ensure they are the most cost-effective way of meeting 
people's needs and that services commissioned through block contracts deliver best value 
outcomes.  Promoting 'ordinary lives

(1.5) 0.0 Y

Aspire / Independent Living Programme A review of practice re high cost out of area packages and low level need packages (Aspire) 
and a review of practices at ILP establishments (1.0) 0.0 Y

Running Cost savings Review and reduction of non-essential spend budgets (0.1) 0.0 N

Direct Payments Auditing & targeting additional recovery of unused direct payments (0.2) 0.0 N

Legal Fees Reduction in legal fees (representing trend of expenditure) (0.3) 0.0 N

Staffing Review of current posts being held vacant (0.6) 0.0 N

(6.7) 0.0Sub-Total Efficiencies

P
age 123



Adult Social Care - savings options 2017/18

Savings Proposal Comments 2017/18 2018/19 
fye

Is this relevant 
to Equality & 

Diversity?

£m £m

B) Changes to Service

Community Support Service Ceasing the Community Support Service (0.9) 0.0 Y

Residential and Day Support for Older People Closure of residential homes and day services (1.0) 0.0 Y

(1.9) 0.00

C) Additional Income - Fees and Charges

Income Leeds income levels lower than comparators, particularly regarding residential service user 
contributions. (0.5) 0.00 Y

(0.5) 0.0

D) Additional Income - Traded Services, Partner and Other Income

0.0 0.0

(9.1) 0.0

Sub-Total Service Changes

Sub-Total Additional Income (Fees & Charges)

Sub-Total Additional Income (Traded Services, Partner and Other Income)

Total Savings Options - Adult Social Care

P
age 124



Children's Services - savings options 2017/18

Savings Proposal Comments 2017/18 2018/19 fye Is this relevant to 
Equality & 
Diversity?

£m £m

A) Efficiencies

Social Work Services Remodelling of the service to reduce agency spend by £0.6m and non front line staffing by 
£0.3m (0.9) 0.0 Y

Other staff savings
Review and reshape of services provided by Children's Services, other than those specifically 
identified on this document. Includes vacancy management across the directorate and 
specific savings in Employment and Skills and Workforce Development.

(0.4) 0.0 Y

Running Cost savings On-going review of running cost budgets. (0.1) 0.0 N

Targeted Services Review of staffing in Targeted Services including Family Intervention Service and Signpost, 
vacancy management and review of secondment arrangements. (0.2) 0.0 Y

Integrated Safeguarding Unit - staff savings Review the Education Safeguarding Team and reduced staffing through vacancy 
management within the team. (0.3) 0.0 Y

(1.9) 0.0
B) Changes to Service

Remodelling of Children's Centre Family Services Reshape of the provision of family services, to include a review of the core offer and 
additional services currently funded by partners where the funding will either reduce or cease. (0.6) 0.0 Y

Commissioned Services
Review all current contracts with the aim to reduce spend on commissioned services. 
Includes specific saving proposals in Employment and Skills, Targeted Services and Complex 
Needs (short breaks contract)

(1.3) 0.0 Y

Education Services Grant funded activities
Reduced spend and additional income to help offset the reduction in grant funding. Includes 
staff savings in administration and Learning Improvement, running cost savings in IMT, 
Learning Improvement, Learning Management and Learning Systems.

(1.0) 0.0 Y

Complex Needs Service Review of Complex needs and Targeted Services staffing (0.2) 0.0 Y

(3.1) 0.0

Sub-Total Efficiencies

Sub-Total Service Changes

P
age 125



Children's Services - savings options 2017/18

Savings Proposal Comments 2017/18 2018/19 fye Is this relevant to 
Equality & 
Diversity?

£m £m

C) Additional Income - Traded Services, Partner and Other Income

Adel Beck Secure Children's Home Additional income from increase in demand for placements from the Youth Justice Board. (0.2) 0.0 N

Traded Services
Specific proposals in Workforce Development, Youth Services (Activity Centres), Learning 
Systems and Complex Needs with other proposals being developed as part of a Trading 
Review across the directorate.

(1.3) 0.0 N

Innovations bid Additional funding from a new Innovations Bid, subject to final approval. (2.5) 0.0 N

Anti Social Behavioural Services Additional funding from the Housing Revenue Account (0.3) 0.0 N

Family Services Best Start. Additional 3 year funding agreed. (0.2) 0.0 N

Children's Centres Increase in nursery fees and Free Early Education Entitlement hourly rates. (0.3) 0.0 Y

Free Early Education Entitlement nursery payments New ability to top slice 5% from the Free Early Education Entitlement payments to nursery 
providers. (1.0) 0.0 N

Other income General increases and additional non-traded income.  (0.8) 0.0 N

Families First Reflects current income position although assumes that the programme will continue. (0.5) 0.0 N

(7.0) 0.0

(12.0) 0.0

Sub-Total Additional Income (Traded Services, Partner and Other Income)

Total Savings Options - Children's Services

P
age 126



City Development - savings options 2017/18 

Savings Proposal Comments 2017/18 2018/19 fye Is this relevant 
to Equality & 

Diversity?

£m £m

A) Efficiencies

Asset Management Reduced borrowing costs at the Leeds Arena (0.5) 0.0 N

Economic Development Review and reduce non staffing budgets to deliver efficiencies and expenditure savings (0.1) 0.0 N

Highways Capitalisation of maintenance costs and extension of street lighting switch off (0.7) 0.0 N

Sport and Active Lifestyles Further efficiencies within the rotas and operating methods within leisure centres and 
review of the work of the Sport and Active Lifestyles Development function. (0.1) 0.0 N

Events Review Review of Leeds lights budgets to reflect increased external commercial work and review 
other city centre events (0.1) 0.0 Y

Culture Reduction of non staffing budgets to deliver efficiencies and expenditure savings (0.1) 0.0 N

(1.5) 0.0

B) Changes to Service

Highways Recruit more engineers to retain more work in-house and reduce external spend on 
contractors. (0.7) 0.0 N

Sport and Active Lifestyles Review of the future of the Sailing and Activity Centre and review and reduction of 
operating hours in some Leisure Centres (0.3) 0.0 Y

Museums Review of operations at Thwaite Mills to reduce opening hours and develop new income 
streams. (0.2) 0.0 Y

Tour de Yorkshire Leeds not hosting a stage in 2017 (0.3) 0.0 N

International Young Peoples Festival Cease holding the festival realising staffing and operational cost savings (0.1) 0.0 Y

(1.6) 0.0

Sub-Total Efficiencies

Sub-Total Service Changes

P
age 127



City Development - savings options 2017/18 

Savings Proposal Comments 2017/18 2018/19 fye Is this relevant 
to Equality & 

Diversity?

£m £m

C) Additional Income - Fees and Charges

Asset Management New rental income from the purchase of commercial assets and additional fee income 
from asset sales (2.3) 0.0 N

Economic Development Additional income from events and licences, street trading and speciality markets, and 
from marketing and advertising (0.3) 0.0 N

Highways Additional income from developers, utility companies, and park and ride sites. (0.1) 0.0 N

Planning Services

Additional fee income from planning application fee increases and the provision of 
premium services.  Introduction of new charges for Street Naming and Numbering.  
Income from charging fees for Environment and Design work to capital schemes and 
external clients.

(0.4) 0.0 N

Sport and Active Lifestyles Increased income across all leisure centres through improvements to commercial 
marketing, retention and sales processes. (0.3) 0.0 N

Culture Additional income across functions including increased rental income, increased income 
from ticket sales via a new box office system, increased income from cultural events. (0.2) 0.0 N

(3.4) 0.0

D) Additional Income - Traded Services, Partner and Other Income

Building Control Increased income through increased demand for building control services (0.2) 0.0 N

(0.2) 0.0

(6.7) 0.0

Sub-Total Additional Income (Fees & Charges)

Sub-Total Additional Income (Traded Services, Partner and Other Income)

Total Savings Options - City Development

P
age 128



Environment & Housing - savings options 2017/18
Savings Proposal Comments Saving

2017/18 2018/19 
fye

Is this 
relevant to 
Equality & 
Diversity?

£m £m

A) Efficiencies

Leeds Building Services - consolidation of Construction/Property Maintenance
Cost savings will be realised though both a reduction in the number of managers and supervisors and a targeted 
reduction in running costs. In addition the roll out of the Total Mobile software combined with improved job 
scheduling will deliver efficiencies which will result in a reduction in the use of sub-contractors.

(1.8) 0.0 Y

Refuse Collection - review of routes Increased productivity will facilitate a revision to the current number of collection routes and the anticipated 
reduction in the number of rounds and management costs will result in cost savings.  (1.6) 0.0 Y

Strategic Housing - integration of functions Closer working arrangements for the different functions within Strategic Housing will facilitate a reduction in the 
number of budgeted posts. (0.1) 0.0 N

Environmental Action - revision to the level of resources Street cleansing and enforcement expenditure and posts will be reduced, with resources reviewed & deployed 
differently across the city in line with the Council-wide review of Locality Working. (0.4) 0.0 Y

Environmental Action - locality working Managerial posts will be reduced as operational teams are reconfigured in line with the Council-wide review of 
Locality Working. (0.4) 0.0 Y

Community Safety - reduction in area coordinator posts Following a review of the delivery of the Community Safety function it is proposed to reduce the number of area 
co-ordinator posts. (0.2) 0.0 Y

Housing Related Support - reduction in contract payments Savings to be realised through the ongoing review and retendering of contracts (0.4) (0.2) Y

Parks & Countryside - reduce grants to the Third Sector Grants to support 3rd sector organisations will reduce at the same level as the reduction in resources to the 
Council. (0.02) 0.0 Y

Parks & Countryside - revised security at the new nursery The relocation of the nursery from Redhall to Whinmoor will result in revised security arrangements. (0.1) 0.0 N

All services -  review of running costs Review of running cost budgets across the directorate (0.5) 0.0 N

(5.4) (0.2)

B) Changes to Service

Parks & Countryside - reduction in front line horticultural staff
In discussion with Community Committees, this will mean a reduction in the area of maintained flower beds, shrub 
beds and hedges along with some increased relaxed mowing as appropriate in parks/green spaces and at 
graveyards/closed churchyards

(0.4) 0.0 Y

Parks & Countryside - reduction in grass/hedge cuts on highways assets Reduce grass verge maintenance on high speed roads and reduce hedge cuts from 3 times each year to 2 on 
highway assets (0.1) 0.0 N

(0.5) 0.0

C) Additional Income - Fees and Charges

Car Parking - Woodhouse Lane car park price increase The 50p increase implemented at Woodhouse Lane car park in June 2016 will generate an additional £120k in a 
full year (0.1) 0.0 N

Car Parking - price increases 
Additional income from a £1 increase on Sunday/evening tariffs, the introduction of charging on bank holidays 
(excl xmas day), and increase of 10p on all on street tariffs. It is also assumed that activity levels experienced in 
2016/17 will continue and generate an additional £200k in 17/18

(0.6) 0.0 N

Car Parking - mobile enforcement/increase in permit charges Mobile CCTV monitoring to enforce offences at schools/bus stops/bus lanes. Increase cost of business and trade 
permits. (0.1) 0.0 N

Sub-Total Efficiencies

Sub-Total Service Changes

P
age 129



Environment & Housing - savings options 2017/18
Savings Proposal Comments Saving

2017/18 2018/19 
fye

Is this 
relevant to 
Equality & 
Diversity?

£m £m

Parks & Countryside - review of charges at Lotherton Bird Garden In recognition of the enhancements to the Bird Garden admission prices will increase from £5.50 to £6 from April 
1st. It is also anticipated that the improved attraction will experience an increase in visitor numbers. (0.1) (0.0) Y

Parks & Countryside - review of charges at Tropical World
Following further development of the attraction prices will increase from £5 to £6 per visit for adults with other 
charges to increase in the same proportion.  There will we significant discounts for Leedscard and Leedscard 
Extra holders and under 5s will continue to gain free entry.

(0.3) (0.1) Y

Parks & Countryside - review of charges at Temple Newsam Home Farm Review of charging following significant investment in indoor play facility with integral café/retail space. Price would 
increase from £3.60 to £5 from 2018/19. 0.1 (0.1) Y

Parks & Countryside - introduce parking charges at visitor attractions Introduction of car parking charges at Roundhay Park, Golden Acre Park and Temple Newsam (0.2) (0.1) Y

Bereavement Services - review of charges to eliminate subsidy Removal of subsidy would require a 5% increase in prices (0.1) 0.0 Y

Waste Management - introduce charges for replacement wheeled bins Implement charging for replacement wheeled bins that have been stolen or destroyed. (0.2) (0.1) Y

Waste management - introduce charges for inert waste/plasterboard waste The introduction of charges for disposal of inert (soil/rubble) and plasterboard waste at Household Waste sites 
would eliminate the current level of subsidy for disposal of these types of waste (0.1) 0.0 Y

Environmental Action - introduce charges for bulky waste collections Introduction of a charge to households choosing to use the bulky waste collection service over other disposal 
options which will remain free of charge. (0.1) 0.0 Y

Environmental Health - introduce new pest control fees Implement charges to eliminate the subsidy in pest control services. This would include introducing a charge for 
treating rats in domestic properties. (0.1) 0.0 Y

(1.8) (0.4)

D) Additional Income - Traded Services, Partner and Other Income
Community Safety - review partner funding arrangements of community safety activities Working with West Yorkshire Police and Crime Commissioner to review the funding arrangements of community 

safety activities (0.8) 0.0 N

Strategic Housing - review of charging arrangements In respect of adaptations review charges to both the capital programme and Housing Leeds. (0.2) 0.0 N

Parks & Countryside - review of the allocation of costs relating to mowing amenity grass Increase the level of charges to Housing Leeds to reflect the fact that housing assets are typically smaller with 
more access restrictions (e.g. gates/fences) resulting in smaller machines and more operators.    (0.2) 0.0 N

Parks & Countryside - income from partnership with Askham Bryan college Contribution from Askham Bryan college in respect of the use of buildings and facilities at Parks and Countryside 
sites for student learning (0.1) 0.0 N

Parks & Countryside - additional retail income from nursery Increase in plant and other retail sales following move to new nursery facility at Whinmoor (0.1) 0.0 N

Parks & Countryside - additional landscaping income Review the appropriateness of the allocation of costs associated with landscaping work. (0.1) 0.0 N

(1.3) 0.0

(9.0) (0.6)Total Savings Options - Environment & Housing

Sub-Total Additional Income (Fees & Charges)

Sub-Total Additional Income (Traded Services, Partner and Other Income)

P
age 130



Strategy & Resources - savings options 2017/18

Savings Proposal Comments 2017/18 2018/19 fye Is this relevant 
to Equality & 

Diversity?

£m £m

A) Efficiencies

Business Administration, transactional and operational activities

Following the first phase of Better Business Management where all 'core' business 
admin staff were transferred into the central service, the main initiative in progress 
is to achieve further efficiencies by consolidating 'specialist' admin staff under one 
professional lead.

(1.0) (1.1) Y

ICT, Information Management and Technology (IM&T), Information 
Governance(IG) and Intelligence

Introduce a new operating model for coordinated, shared cross Council digital and 
intelligence services. Establish 2 Hubs for IM&T and IG complemented by 
Business Partners who will work with Council services. The new Intelligence 
function will be brought alongside the corporate policy and insight function to form 
a single lead through the Chief Officer, Strategy and Improvement.

(1.1) (0.5) Y

Programme, Project and Portfolio Management

The review has sought to identify savings through the development of a portfolio 
approach which includes the development of a prioritisation tool. This will lead to 
greater efficiency with more of the right projects / programmes being delivered to 
time, cost and quality.

(0.6) (0.3) Y

Workforce Development
April 2017 move to a single professional line of leadership model. Consolidation of 
training budgets into one single pot combined with a comprehensive review of all 
Organisational/Workforce Development activity. 

(0.3) (0.2) Y

Compliments and Complaints
Bring existing staff performing this function together into 2 teams. Implement de-
escalation of complaints at the first point of contact and realise efficiencies through 
reduction in the duplication of process and IT system changes.

(0.1) (0.1) Y

Financial Services

Implement new operating model from September 2017 based on a centralised 
approach in one physical location. Finance Business Partner teams would 
continue to be aligned to specific directorates and organisational priorities and 
focus on supporting transformational change across the organisation.

(0.9) (0.5) Y

Human Resources Continuation of implementation of new ways of working within the service. (0.3) (0.1) Y

P
age 131



Strategy & Resources - savings options 2017/18

Savings Proposal Comments 2017/18 2018/19 fye Is this relevant 
to Equality & 

Diversity?

£m £m

Strategy and Improvement
Further staffing savings and efficiencies within Communications, Marketing and 
Emergency Planning. (Strategy and Policy and Business Improvement are  
included in scope of the Intelligence review).

(0.1) (0.1) Y

Legal and Democratic Services Staffing efficiencies to fund cost of pay award (0.1) (0.2) Y

Corporate Leadership Team Changes to Corporate Leadership Team (0.2) 0.0 N

Sub-Total Efficiencies (4.7) (3.0)

B) Additional Income - Traded Services, Partner and Other Income

Financial Services Additional traded income (0.2) 0.0 N

(0.2) 0.0

(4.9) (3.0)Total Savings Options - Strategy & Resources

Sub-Total Additional Income (Traded Services, Partner and Other Income)

P
age 132



Citizens & Communities - savings options 2017/18

Savings Proposal Comments 2017/18 2018/19 fye Is this relevant 
to Equality & 

Diversity?

£m £m
A) Efficiencies

Communities Communities teams and associated activity: review management & leadership; 
review grants & contributions to 3rd sector (0.2) (0.1) Y

Corporate Contact Centre Fewer calls due to channel shift (dependent on technology) and general 
improvement in productivity (0.3) 0.0 Y

Corporate Contact Centre Council Tax/Benefits/Contact Centre Integration (savings within Customer Access 
and Welfare and Benefits) (0.2) 0.0 Y

Corporate Contact Centre Reduce service failure: target to reduce by 25% (0.1) (0.04) N

Corporate Contact Centre Review the Out of Hours Service allow contact to be directed straight to the 
relevant service (0.1) 0.0 Y

Customer Access Reduce Helpdesk function through development of professional Tier 2 (rather than 
C1 Helpdesk Customer Services Officer) support (0.1) 0.0 Y

Customer Access Merge support and development functions (0.2) 0.0 Y

Elections No local elections in 2017/18 (0.7) 0.7 N

Welfare and Benefits Reduction in off-site processing and overtime (0.2) 0.0 Y

Advice Consortium Deliver greater efficiencies; to be addressed as part of re-tendering on contract in 
2017/18 (0.1) (0.1) Y

Libraries Staffing review, running cost savings, and increased income (0.4) 0.0 Y

All services Review of running cost budgets across the directorate (0.3) 0.0 N

Sub-total Efficiencies (2.7) 0.5

P
age 133



Citizens & Communities - savings options 2017/18

Savings Proposal Comments 2017/18 2018/19 fye Is this relevant 
to Equality & 

Diversity?

£m £m
B) Changes to services

Communities Well Being grants - further reductions (0.2) (0.1) Y

Library Service Reprovision delivery of mobile library service (0.1) 0.0 Y

Local Welfare Support Scheme Reduction in existing £1.1m budget provision by £300k (0.3) 0.0 Y

Leeds City Credit Union Working with Credit Union to agree options to save £50k (0.1) 0.0 N

Sub-total Changes to Services (0.6) (0.1)

C) Additional income - Fees and Charges

Community Centres Restrict free lets to 75% of present level (0.1) 0.0 Y

Community Hubs Charge for events (currently free) (0.1) 0.0 Y

Registrars service Charging/income proposals (Passport checking service; additional appointments; 
Saturday appointments; general fee increase) (0.1) (0.0) N

Sub-total Fees and Charges (0.2) (0.0)

Total Savings Options - Citizens and Communities (3.6) 0.4

P
age 134



Civic Enterprise Leeds - savings options 2017/18

Savings Proposal Comments 2017/18 2018/19 
fye

Is this 
relevant to 
Equality & 
Diversity?

£m £m

A) Efficiencies

Cleaning Civic Hall Changes to the times and frequency at which cleaning is provided resulting in a 
reduced staffing requirement and expanding the mobile operation for cleaning. (0.1) 0.0 N

Cleaning - other office accommodation
As with changes at the Civic Hall, these are changes to the times and frequency at 
which cleaning is provided resulting in a reduction in the number of staff required 
to deliver the service combined with expanding the mobile cleaning operation.

(0.4) 0.0 N

Management/staff reductions Reduction in level of JNC management support, delivered through reconfiguration 
of roles and responsibilities within the service. (0.2) 0.0 Y

Facilities Management savings Planned realignment of the service to be delivered through a restructure resulting 
from a review of roles and responsibilities. (0.1) 0.0 N

Sub-Total Efficiencies (0.8) 0.0

B) Additional Income - Traded Services, Partner and Other Income

Fleet Combination of attempting to maximise existing income streams whilst developing 
new ones together with the aim of reducing costs. (0.1) N

Commercial Catering Based on internalising commercial catering for some of the services within the 
Civic quarter and expanding retail offer. (0.1) N

(0.2) 0.0

(1.0) 0.0

Sub-Total Additional Income (Traded Services, Partner and Other Income)

Total Savings Options - Civic Enterprise Leeds

P
age 135



Public Health - savings options 2017/18

Savings Proposal Comments 2017/18 2018/19 
fye

Is this 
relevant to 
Equality & 
Diversity?

£m £m

A) Changes to Service

Third sector commissioned service
Recommissioning new services with a 5% reduction for contracts in scope.  
Integrated Healthy Living Service (October 2017), Community Health Development 
& Improvement (April 2017) and Cancer Screening (April 2017).

(0.1) 0.0 Y

Third sector/statutory drugs and alcohol services 8% reduction in drug and alcohol treatment contract, work is underway with 
provider to develop options to achieve the saving (0.7) 0.0 Y

NHS Healthy Lifestyle services Recommissioning new Integrated Healthy Living Service due to start October 
2017, 5% reduction in contracts in scope. (0.3) 0.0 Y

Family Nursing Partnership Family Nurse Partnership contract will not be extended beyond March 2017 (0.8) 0.0 Y

School Nursing and Health Visiting Reduction in contract values for 0-19 services - School Nursing and Health visiting (0.4) 0.0 Y

Children's Centres Reduction in funding contribution to Children's Centres (0.5) 0.0 Y

Joint commissioning with other directorates
Reduction in funding to other Council directorates for joint commissioning including 
HIV social care, Neighbourhood Networks, Advice Services, Luncheon Clubs and 
Home adaptations

(0.1) 0.0 Y

Sub-Total Service Changes (2.9) 0.0 0.0

Total Savings Options - Public Health (2.9) 0.0 0.0

P
age 136



Report of Head of Governance and Scrutiny Support

Report to Scrutiny Board (Environment and Housing)

Date: 19th January 2017

Subject: Work Schedule

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. The Board’s work schedule is attached as appendix 1. This will be subject to change 
throughout the municipal year.

2. Also attached at appendix 2 are the minutes of the Executive Board meeting held on 
14th December 2016.

Recommendation

3.    Members are asked to consider the work schedule and make amendments as 
appropriate.

Background documents1

4. None used

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Report author:  Angela Brogden
Tel:  247 4553

Page 137

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Scrutiny Board (Environment and Housing) Work Schedule for 2016/2017 Municipal Year

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Environment and Housing) Meeting WG – Working Group Meeting

Appendix 1

Schedule of meetings/visits during 2016/17
June July August

Main Theme – Community Safety

Refreshed Safer Leeds Plan 2016-2017
SB 07/07/16 @ 10 am

Inquiry into Air Quality Scope terms of reference
WG meeting – 21/07/16

General Briefings Scrutiny Board Terms of Reference and 
Sources of Work
SB 09/06/16 @ 10 am

Crime and Disorder Scrutiny in Leeds
SB 09/06/16 @ 10 am 

Budget and Policy 
Framework/Pre-decision 
Scrutiny

Lettings Policy Review - Consultation 
Update
SB 07/07/16 @ 10 am

Recommendation Tracking Domestic Violence
SB 07/07/16 @ 10 am

Performance Monitoring General performance update
SB 07/07/16 @ 10 am

 

P
age 139



Scrutiny Board (Environment and Housing) Work Schedule for 2016/2017 Municipal Year

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Environment and Housing) Meeting WG – Working Group Meeting

Schedule of meetings/visits during 2016/17
September October November

Main Theme - Environment Main Theme – Housing Main Theme – Community Safety
To consider the following matters:

 Addressing areas of underperformance in 
recycling

 Engaging communities in the recycling 
agenda

 Reviewing existing recycling services and 
recyclates

 Maintenance of gullies

SB 22/09/16 @ 10 am

To consider the following matters:

 Implications and progress surrounding 
the Housing and Planning Bill 2015

 The quality of private rented sector 
housing in Leeds

 Turnaround times for filling void council 
properties

SB 13/10/16 @ 10 am

To consider the following matters:

 Tackling begging across the city
 The future provision of CCTV
 Addressing anti-social behaviour
 Addressing youth offending

SB 24/11/16 @ 10 am

Inquiry into Air 
Quality

Agree terms of reference
SB 22/09/16 @ 10 am

Session 1 of the inquiry
WG 17/11/16 @ 12.30 pm

General Briefings Air quality management and monitoring of the 
Recycling and Energy Recovery Facility and 
surrounding area.
SB 22/09/16 @ 10 am

Budget and Policy 
Framework/Pre-
decision Scrutiny

Lettings Policy Review
SB 13/10/16 @ 10 am

Recommendation 
Tracking

Peckfield Landfill Site
SB 22/09/16 @ 10 am

Performance 
Monitoring

P
age 140



Scrutiny Board (Environment and Housing) Work Schedule for 2016/2017 Municipal Year

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Environment and Housing) Meeting WG – Working Group Meeting

Schedule of meetings/visits during 2016/17
December January February

Main Theme - Environment Main Theme - Housing Main Theme – Community Safety
To consider the following matters:

 A general update on Peckfield Landfill Site, 
including a response from the Environment 
Agency.

SB 08/12/16 @ 10 am

To consider the following matters:

 Implications and progress surrounding 
the Housing and Planning Bill 2015

 The quality of private rented sector 
housing in Leeds

 Turnaround times for filling void council 
properties

 Tenant Scrutiny Board

SB 19/01/17 @ 10 am

To consider the following matters:
(these are subject to change)

 Tackling begging across the city
 The future provision of CCTV
 Addressing anti-social behaviour
 Addressing youth offending
 Pubwatch scheme

SB 16/02/17 @ 10 am

Inquiry into Air 
Quality

Session 2 of the inquiry
SB 08/12/16 @ 10 am

Sessions 3 & 4 of the inquiry (tbc)

General Briefings

Budget and Policy 
Framework/Pre-
decision Scrutiny

Financial Health Monitoring
SB 19/01/17 @ 10 am

Initial budget proposals 2017-2018
SB 19/01/17 @ 10 am

Recommendation 
Tracking
Performance 
Monitoring

General performance update
SB 19/01/17 @ 10 am

P
age 141



Scrutiny Board (Environment and Housing) Work Schedule for 2016/2017 Municipal Year

Key: SB  – Scrutiny Board (Environment and Housing) Meeting WG – Working Group Meeting

Schedule of meetings/visits during 2016/17
March April May (tbc)

Main Theme – Environment Main Theme - Housing
To consider the following matters:
(these are subject to change)

 Addressing areas of underperformance in 
recycling

 Engaging communities in the recycling 
agenda

 Reviewing existing recycling services and 
recyclates

 Maintenance of gullies

SB 23/03/17 @ 10 am

To consider the following matters:
(these are subject to change)

 Implications and progress surrounding 
the Housing and Planning Bill 2015

 The quality of private rented sector 
housing in Leeds

 Turnaround times for filling void council 
properties

SB 20/04/17 @ 10 am

Inquiry into Air 
Quality

Session 5 of the inquiry (tbc) Agree final report
SB 20/04/17 @ 10 am

General Briefings

Budget and Policy 
Framework/Pre-
decision Scrutiny
Recommendation 
Tracking

Performance 
monitoring

P
age 142



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 8th February, 2017

EXECUTIVE BOARD

WEDNESDAY, 14TH DECEMBER, 2016

PRESENT: Councillor J Blake in the Chair

Councillors R Charlwood, D Coupar, 
S Golton, J Lewis, R Lewis, L Mulherin, 
M Rafique and L Yeadon 

SUBSTITUTE MEMBER:  Councillor B Anderson

APOLOGIES:  Councillor A Carter

110 Substitute Member 
Under the provisions of Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rule 3.1.6, 
Councillor B Anderson was invited to attend the meeting on behalf of 
Councillor A Carter, who had submitted his apologies for absence from the 
meeting.

111 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public 
RESOLVED – That, in accordance with Regulation 4 of The Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the agenda designated as exempt on 
the grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public 
were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information so 
designated as follows:-

(a) Appendix 2 to the report entitled, ‘Supporting the Delivery of Housing 
Mix: Outcome of Marketing of Council Owned Sites’, referred to in 
Minute No. 122 is designated as exempt from publication in 
accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that it relates to the financial or 
business affairs of a particular person, and of the Council. This 
information is not publicly available from the statutory registers of 
information kept in respect of certain companies and charities. It is 
considered that since this information was obtained through the inviting 
of best and final offers for the property/land then it is not in the public 
interest to disclose this information at this point in time as this could 
lead to random competing bids which would undermine this method of 
inviting bids and affect the integrity of disposing of property/land by this 
process.

It is also considered that the release of such information would or 
would be likely to prejudice the Council’s commercial interests in 
relation to other similar transactions in that prospective purchasers of 
other similar properties would have access to information about the 
nature and level of offers which may prove acceptable to the Council. It 

Page 143



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 8th February, 2017

is considered that whilst there may be a public interest in disclosure, 
much of this information will be publicly available from the Land 
Registry following completion of this transaction and consequently the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing this information at this point in time.

(b) Appendix 1 to the report entitled, ‘Design and Cost Report for the 
Acquisition of a Property for the Council’s Investment Portfolio’, 
referred to in Minute No. 123 is designated as exempt from publication 
in accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that it contains information 
relating to the financial or business affairs of a particular organisation 
and of the Council. The property has been offered to the Council to 
acquire on a one to one basis off the market, rather than being put to 
the open market. It is considered that the public interest in maintaining 
the content of the appendix as exempt outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information due to the impact that disclosing the 
information would have upon the Council and third parties.

112 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
There were no declarations of interest made at the meeting.

113 Minutes 
RESOLVED - That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 16th 
November 2016 be approved as a correct record.

HEALTH, WELLBEING AND ADULTS

114 Time to Shine Project 
Further to Minute No. 102, 16th December 2015, the Director of Adult Social 
Services and the Director of Public Health submitted a joint report providing 
details on the ‘Time to Shine’ project and the progress which had been made 
in tackling social isolation and loneliness in Leeds. The report also described 
the work which had been undertaken since the previous update report and the 
impact that it has had so far.

In considering this item, the Board received a presentation entitled, ‘Time to 
Shine: Leeds Community Connect: The Asset Based Community 
Development (ABCD) Approach’ and viewed a short film entitled, ‘Loneliness 
and Me’.  As part of this presentation, the Board also received further 
information from Bill Rollinson, Chair of Leeds Older People’s Forum; Sharon 
Middling, of Community Connect at Rural Action Yorkshire and Jude Woods 
of Sage at Yorkshire MESMAC on the role that their respective organisations, 
as delivery partners, were playing in tackling social isolation and loneliness in 
Leeds as part of the Time to Shine programme.

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received further information on 
the actions being taken to monitor and evaluate the outcomes from the 
schemes involved in the programme, and how that data was being utilised for 

Page 144



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 8th February, 2017

the purposes of future provision. Officers undertook to provide the Member in 
question with further information, if required. 

Emphasis was also placed on the importance of Community Committees’ 
continued involvement in this field at a local level, whilst also noting some 
examples of such involvement, as detailed within the submitted report. 

Members also discussed the potential for widening the scope of the Asset 
Based Community Development (ABCD) approach, and considered how such 
innovative approaches could become more established. Officers also 
provided further information on the extent to which the funding received for 
the Time to Shine programme had attracted further investment into this area 
of work. 

In conclusion, the Chair thanked those present, together with all those 
involved in the programme for the valuable work they undertook. The Chair 
also highlighted the huge potential of the programme and emphasised how 
tacking social isolation and loneliness continued to be a key priority for the 
Council.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the submitted report, together with the presentations and film,  

updating the Board on the progress of the project, be noted;

(b) That the progress made in the development and delivery of the ‘Time 
to Shine’ project, be welcomed;

(c) That the positive impact that the work on tackling loneliness and social 
isolation will have, together with the contribution it will make towards 
the breakthrough project ‘Making Leeds the Best City to Grow Old In’, 
be recognised;

(d) That the excellent work of the Leeds Older People’s Forum in leading 
the project be commended;

(e) That it be noted that the lead officers responsible for ensuring updates 
are brought are the Consultant in Public Health (Older People) and the 
Interim Chief Officer Commissioning, Adult Social Care;

(f) That the added value and impact that this area of work has had in local 
communities be noted.

EMPLOYMENT, SKILLS AND OPPORTUNITY

115 West Yorkshire Area Based Review of Post 16 Education and Training 
The Director of Children’s Services submitted a report providing the 
background to the national framework and process of Area Based Reviews for
Post 16 education and training. In addition, the report also presented 
information on the recommendations arising from the West Yorkshire Area 

Page 145



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 8th February, 2017

Based Review, with particular reference to the recommendations that relate to 
Leeds based providers.

In considering the report, Members noted the limited scope of the review 
which had taken place, and highlighted the need to continue the collaborative 
working at a local level in order to further develop a place based approach 
towards post 16 education and training, with the aim of ensuring that such 
provision was as effective as possible.

RESOLVED –That the outcome of the West Yorkshire Area Based Review of 
Post 16 education and training be noted.

RESOURCES AND STRATEGY

116 Financial Health Monitoring 2016/17 - Month 7 
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report setting out the Council’s 
projected financial health position for 2016/17 as at month 7 of the financial 
year. The report also reviewed the position of the budget and highlighted any 
potential risks and variations after 7 months of the year.

RESOLVED –That the Council’s projected financial position for 2016/17, at 
month 7 of the financial year, as detailed within the submitted report, be 
noted.

117 Safeguarding in Taxi & Private Hire Licensing - 12 month review of 
progress to December 2016 
Further to Minute No. 109, 16th December 2015, the Assistant Chief Executive 
(Citizens and Communities) submitted a report outlining the progress which 
had been made in respect of safeguarding policies and improvements in the 
area of Taxi and Private Hire Licensing, and highlighted how this service was 
contributing towards public safety generally.

The Board received an update upon the work which continued to be 
undertaken at a West Yorkshire level in order to improve safeguarding 
arrangements in the field of taxi and private hire licensing. Also, responding to 
a Member’s specific enquiry, the Board received further information on the 
actions being taken to work collaboratively with Local Authorities outside of 
the West Yorkshire boundary on such matters, and the progress which had 
been made as a result. 

Members were provided with assurances around the consistency of approach 
taken in respect of driver checking processes, whilst the Board was also 
provided with further information and assurances on the actions which had 
been taken since the submission of the last update report in order to ensure 
that improved mechanisms had been put in place around Police disclosure of 
information.

In conclusion, the Board noted that the issue of safeguarding, together with 
ensuring the highest standards in terms of licensing remained a key priority of 
the Council, with emphasis being placed upon the robust and cross-party 

Page 146



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 8th February, 2017

approach which was taken by the Licensing Committee in dealing with such 
matters.

RESOLVED – That the direction which the relevant officers and Members of 
Licensing Committee have taken, be noted and endorsed, together with the 
progress which has been made towards beneficial safety improvements for 
safeguarding in the area of Taxi and Private Hire Licensing.

118 Health, Safety and Wellbeing Performance and Assurance Report 
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report which provided a review on 
the Council’s performance throughout 2015/16 with regard to health, safety 
and wellbeing matters. In addition, the report detailed the improvements that 
had been made during this period and also highlighted priorities, together with 
any potential future challenges.

Emphasis was placed upon the importance of this area of work, whilst 
Members noted a number of key priorities for the coming year. 

RESOLVED – That the contents of the submitted report be noted, with the 
recognition that a sensible approach towards the management of health and 
safety risk will continue to be applied.

119 Vision for Leisure and Wellbeing Centres 2016 
The Director of City Development submitted a report outlining the current 
challenges faced in terms of investment in leisure centres and proposed a 
revised “Vision for Leisure and Wellbeing Centres” for 2016 onwards, which 
together with an accompanying set of proposals, aimed to take the service 
forward by meeting wider Council outcomes, meeting austerity challenges 
whilst also responding to future demands.

In presenting the report, the Executive Member for Resources and Strategy 
proposed the establishment of a cross-party working group in order to ensure 
that moving forward all political groups were involved in the development of 
the vision.

Members welcomed the proposals detailed, and discussed the nature of the 
fitness market, and the future role that the Council could play in that market.

In conclusion, the Chair took the opportunity to pay tribute to the City of Leeds 
Diving Club based at the Council’s John Charles Centre for Sport, highlighting 
the extraordinary sporting success and recognition that the club had brought 
to the city.

RESOLVED –
(a) That a long term vision to secure a network of high quality, affordable, 

accessible and financially sustainable leisure and wellbeing centres (in 
particular public swimming pools) for the benefit of all the people of 
Leeds, be endorsed;

Page 147



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 8th February, 2017

(b) That the principles for determining the location of leisure and wellbeing 
centres be agreed, as follows:- 
(a) on a main arterial route; 
(b) in a town or district centre; and 
(c) co-located and in partnerships with schools, health services, day 

centres, libraries or other complementary community facilities;

(c) That the Director of City Development be requested to bring forward 
detailed proposals in 2017 for two new Wellbeing Centres to be built: 
one in Inner East Leeds and one in Rothwell, and that approval be 
given for the provision of £100k to be made within the Capital 
Programme in order to support the feasibility studies to this end;

(d) That approval be given for the hours of operation at Kippax Leisure 
Centre to be reduced to approximately 58 hours, to commence from 
April 1st 2017, and that the Director of City Development be requested 
to bring forward a feasibility report into the re-provision of a swimming 
pool within the catchment area.

(e) That the realising of the capital receipt from the sale of the existing 
Kippax Leisure Centre be approved, and that approval also be given to 
bringing forward new investment proposals in line with the overall 
strategy, as set out within the submitted report;

(f) That the need to support continued prioritised investment in the other 
existing leisure centres, in order to maximise income and usage, as set 
out within section 4 of the submitted report, be noted;

(g) That approval be given to extend the existing capital provision for sport 
maintenance of £500k per annum for a further 3 years from 2017/18;

(h) That a cross-party working group be established in order to ensure that 
moving forward all political groups are involved in the development of 
the vision.

120 Best Council Plan Refresh for 2017/18 - Initial Proposals 
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report which set out an approach for 
the refresh of the Best Council Plan, which was aligned to the Initial Budget 
Proposals for 2017/18.

Members welcomed the proposed refresh of the Plan, together with the 
proposal to incorporate into this process any findings from the planned refresh 
of the Commission on the Future of Local Government. 

RESOLVED – That the following be approved:-
(a) Engagement with Scrutiny Boards on the emerging Best Council Plan, 

in accordance with the Budget & Policy Framework Procedure Rules;

Page 148



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 8th February, 2017

(b) That the revision of the longer-term contextual narrative section of the 
Best Council Plan be brought forward to next year as part of the 
2018/19 refresh;

(c) The approach, as set out in the submitted report, to update the annual 
section of the Best Council Plan for 2017/18 which balances continuity 
of the Best City (Strong Economy and Compassionate City) / Best 
Council (Efficient and Enterprising Organisation) vision and ambitions 
with further refinement of the Council’s priorities;

(d) That the Deputy Chief Executive will be responsible for developing the 
Best Council Plan for 2017/18 for its consideration by this Board and 
Full Council alongside the supporting 2017/18 Budget.

REGENERATION, TRANSPORT AND PLANNING

121 Transport Conversation update and Leeds Public Transport Investment 
Programme 
The Director of City Development submitted a report which set out the 
strategic case and emerging proposals for the Leeds Public Transport 
Investment Programme.  The report also provided an update on the progress 
in taking forward the city’s longer term transport strategy which would be 
developed next year, including a clear ambition to consider again the case for 
mass transit provision in order to meet the future needs of the city. 
Furthermore, the report also set out the results so far from the ‘Transport 
Conversation’ and showed how this process had guided the approach for 
scheme selection within the Leeds Public Transport Investment
Programme.

Given the significant nature of this matter, it was requested that consideration 
be given to a period of time being designated at full Council in order to provide 
Political Group Leaders with an opportunity to discuss key issues arising from 
the Transport Conversation and the Leeds Public Transport Investment 
Programme. In response, it was undertaken that liaison would take place with 
Political Group Leaders in order to discuss this matter further.

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board discussed the actions and 
approach to be taken with bus operators in the city with a view to ensuring 
that improved service provision was achieved in Leeds.

Members discussed how the proposals, amongst other things, aimed to 
significantly improve air quality and reduce carbon emissions, whilst also 
reducing congestion.  

The Board received further information on the associated wide ranging 
consultation and communications process which had taken place to date in 
terms of getting to the current position regarding the Leeds Public Transport 
Investment Programme, with the restricted timescales associated with this 
process being noted. Assurances were also provided in respect of the 
inclusive consultation exercise which would continue as part of the Transport 

Page 149



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 8th February, 2017

Conversation, which would play a key role in developing a long term transport 
strategy for the city, and which would help to maintain and develop strong 
relationships with partners, which would be key to the successful delivery of 
the strategy.

RESOLVED –
(a) That the programme of schemes to be included in the Leeds Public 

Transport Investment Programme (as detailed within the submitted 
report), which will utilise the £173.5m of Department for Transport 
funding and bring in significant complementary private sector 
investment, be agreed;

(b) That the submission of an Outline Strategic Case to the Department for 
Transport for spending the £173.5m allocated to Leeds, be approved;

(c) That the feedback from the ‘Transport Conversation’ and how this has 
shaped the proposed Leeds Public Transport Investment Programme, 
be noted;

(d) That approval be given for officers to return to Executive Board in 
Autumn 2017 with a further update on the ‘Transport Conversation’ and 
the draft 20 year Transport Strategy, including commentary on the 
progress on development of mass rapid transit options;

(e) That approval be given for £8.8m of Leeds City Council capital monies 
earmarked for NGT to be included in this programme, excluding an 
allowance for NGT funding which is committed to the Clay Pit Lane 
junction scheme;

(f) That approval be given for the monies identified in resolution (e) 
(above) be made available immediately in order to commence work on 
the preliminary designs of some of the schemes identified in resolution 
(a) (above);

(g) That approval be given for negotiations to continue with bus operators, 
developers and partners in order to leverage significant additional 
financial investments to support the Leeds Public Transport Investment 
Programme;

(h) That it be noted that the Chief Officer Highways and Transportation is 
responsible for the delivery of the programme.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor Golton 
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions 
referred to within this minute. Also, in relation to such matters, as Councillor B 
Anderson was in attendance as a non-voting Member, he drew the Board’s 
attention to the fact that if he were able to, he would abstain from voting on 
the decisions referred to within this minute)

Page 150



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 8th February, 2017

122 Supporting the delivery of housing mix: Outcome of marketing of 
Council owned sites 
The Director of City Development submitted a report presenting the outcomes 
from a marketing exercise undertaken in respect of five Council owned sites. 
The report detailed the range of offers received, invited the Board to consider 
those offers and made recommendations in respect of progressing the matter. 

Members welcomed the proposals detailed within the submitted report, 
including those to help deliver extra care housing. Also, responding to a 
Member’s comment, it was undertaken that consideration would be given to 
alternative ways in which brownfield sites could potentially be marketed in the 
future.

Following consideration of Appendix 2 to the submitted report, designated as 
exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information 
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of 
the meeting, it was

RESOLVED –
(a) That the contents of the submitted report be noted;

(b) That the recommended offers, as contained within exempt appendix 2 
to the submitted report, be approved;

(c) That the Director of City Development, in consultation with the 
Executive Member for Regeneration, Transport and Planning, be 
requested to progress the scheme proposals and the disposal of the 
Council sites, as set out within the submitted report;

(d) That a further report be submitted to the Executive Board outlining the 
Council’s strategy to facilitate and support the delivery of housing with 
care.

123 Design and Cost Report for Acquisition of a Property for the Council's 
Investment Portfolio 
The Director of City Development and the Deputy Chief Executive submitted a 
joint report which sought approval for the purchase of an investment property 
that had been offered to the Council which would generate additional income 
in order to support the revenue requirements of the Council, as set out in the 
Initial Budget Strategy. 

Following consideration of Appendix 1 to the submitted report, designated as 
exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information 
Procedure Rule 10.4(3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of 
the meeting, it was

RESOLVED –
(a) That the acquisition of the property, on the terms outlined within 

exempt appendix 1 to the submitted report, be approved;

Page 151



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 8th February, 2017

(b) That the injection into the Capital Programme of the sums detailed 
within exempt appendix 1 be approved, with the ‘authority to spend’ 
such sums also being approved;

(c) That the Director of City Development, under the scheme of delegation, 
be authorised to approve any changes to the recommended terms 
which may be necessary prior to completion, and that the Director of 
City Development also be authorised to complete the acquisition;

(d) That the submitted report, together with the resolutions above, be 
designated as exempt from the Call In process for those reasons as set 
out in paragraph 4.5.3 of the submitted report (detailed below).

(The Council’s Executive and Decision Making Procedure Rules state that a 
decision may be declared as being exempt from Call In by the decision taker if 
it is considered that any delay would seriously prejudice the Council’s, or the 
public’s interests. In line with resolution (d) above, the resolutions contained 
within this minute were exempted from the Call In process, given that the 
terms provisionally agreed for the property (detailed in the exempt appendix to 
the submitted report) have been concluded on the basis that contracts are 
exchanged before the end of December 2016. In addition, this particular 
property was put to the Council very recently. Should the Council seek to 
delay the consideration of the acquisition to next year it is likely that the seller 
will offer the property to other parties. Also should the sale not complete within 
the above timescale, then the Council would be at risk of the sale and the 
purchase price being re-opened for negotiation in open competition with other 
parties)

124 Renewing Planning Applications for City Centre Commuter Car Parks 
The Director of City Development submitted a report presenting a proposed 
approach towards dealing with those planning applications which may be 
expected to be received by the Council in order to extend the temporary 
planning permissions which had been given in 2012 for 12 cleared sites in the 
city centre to be used for commuter car parking provision, contrary to planning 
policy. The report noted that the temporary permissions were due to come to 
an end in 2017, and as such, the report also sought endorsement of this 
approach as a material consideration for determining the renewal planning 
applications.

In noting that the expectation was for these sites to be gradually developed, 
Members discussed the process by which the overall level of city centre car 
parking provision would be managed in the longer term.

RESOLVED – That approval be given to the following approach, as set out 
below, as a material consideration in the determination of any renewal 
planning applications for the 12 temporary City Centre commuter car parks 
approved in 2012:-

i. Subject to the full range of planning considerations appropriate for each 
site, renewals of consent on the sites previously granted temporary 

Page 152



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 8th February, 2017

planning permission will be favourably considered in principle for a 
further period of up to 5 years from April 2017;

ii. In each case there will be an expectation that developers will continue 
to bring forward the sites for development as soon as possible and that 
as a result car parking will remain a temporary and diminishing use of 
the site;

iii. Each consent will include conditions and/or be subject to a S106 
agreement to set out a phased programme of reducing long stay 
commuter spaces as improvements in public transport come forward 
and in light of landowner’s own development plans during the life of the 
extended permission;

iv. The Council will reserve the right to take enforcement action if 
appropriate phasing reductions are not met, and to refuse to grant 
further renewals in due course if it considers that development is not 
progressing as expected.

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

125 Regionalisation of Adoption 
The Director of Children’s Services submitted a report providing information 
on the progress made in respect of the regionalisation of adoption services 
and which sought a formal decision regarding the arrangements for the 
delegation of the adoption service to a Regional Adoption Agency (RAA).

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the arrangements for the new Regional Adoption Agency, as 

detailed within the submitted report, be endorsed, and that, contingent 
upon all the other partner authorities also agreeing these 
recommendations, the following be agreed:-

(i) With effect from 10th January 2017:
o Formally appoint the West Yorkshire Adoption Joint Committee (‘the 

Joint Committee’);
o Approve and delegate to the Joint Committee the functions, as set 

out in the Terms of Reference document, as detailed at Appendix 
1C to the submitted report;

o Approve the Constitution and Procedure Rules of the Joint 
Committee, as detailed at Appendices 1A and 1B to the submitted 
report;

(ii) Formally agree that Leeds City Council hosts the West Yorkshire 
Adoption Agency that is a shared service and that the name of the 
Agency is ‘One Adoption West Yorkshire’;

(iii) Authorise the Director of Children’s Services to progress this matter 
with the other local authorities in order to implement the Regional 
Adoption Agency;

Page 153



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 8th February, 2017

(b) That the following be noted:-
(i) That the Leader will appoint the Executive Member for Children 

and Families as a principal Elected Member to the Joint 
Committee, and the Deputy Executive Members for Children and 
Families as substitutes;

(ii) The principles of the partnership agreement, as set out in Section 
4.5 of the submitted report, together with the process for setting the 
budget, as set out in section 3.21 of the submitted report. It also be 
noted that the Director of Children’s Services has the authority to 
approve the Regional Adoption Agency funding formula, terms and 
signature of the partnership agreement through their existing 
delegated powers;

(iii) That the Joint Committee will be invited to delegate responsibility to 
the Director of Children’s Services for adoption services including:
o the recruitment and approval of potential adopters;
o identification of potential matches between children and 

adopters; 
o provision of adoption panels; and
o provision of adoption support services to adopters, adoptees, 

birth families and relevant professionals;

(iv) The transfer of staff via TUPE from other Local Authorities into the 
employment of Leeds City Council to work within the RAA;

(v) The creation of an organisational unit within Leeds City Council for 
the West Yorkshire Adoption Agency. The lead officer for this will 
be the Director of Children’s Services (DCS) and the unit will sit 
within Children’s Services;

(c) That it be noted that the submitted report discusses further work 
required regarding non agency adoption and support for special 
guardians, and therefore, agreement be provided that the DCS can 
make further arrangements for extending the breadth of the delegation 
to this aspect of the function following agreement by the management 
board and the Joint Committee, as the project develops.

126 Outcome of Statutory Notices on proposals to increase primary learning 
places in Hunslet, Kirkstall and Gipton & Harehills 
The Director of Children’s Services submitted a report detailing proposals 
brought forward in order to meet the Local Authority’s duty to ensure 
sufficiency of school places. Specifically, this report was divided into sections 
in order to describe the outcome of each of the statutory notices published in 
respect of proposals to expand: Hunslet St Mary’s Church of England 
(Voluntary Aided) Primary School; Beecroft (Community) Primary School and 
Hovingham (Community) Primary School. The report sought final decisions on 
each of those proposals.

Page 154



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 8th February, 2017

RESOLVED –
(a) That the proposal to expand Hunslet St Mary’s Church of England 

(Voluntary Aided) Primary School by increasing its capacity from 210 
pupils to 315 pupils, which would increase the admission number from 
30 to 45, with effect from September 2017, be approved;

(b) That the proposal to expand Beecroft (Community) Primary School by 
increasing its capacity from 210 pupils to 315 pupils, which would 
increase the admission number from 30 to 45, with effect from 
September 2017, be approved;

(c) That the proposal to expand Hovingham (Community) Primary School 
by increasing its capacity from 420 pupils to 630 pupils, which would 
increase the admission number from 60 to 90, with effect from 
September 2017, be approved;

(d) That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of 
such matters is the Head of Learning Systems.

127 Learning Places Programme - Capital Programme Update 
Further to Minute No. 9, 22nd June 2016, the Director of Children’s Services, 
the Deputy Chief Executive and the Director of City Development submitted a 
joint report presenting an update on the three year strategy for the provision of 
sufficient school places in the city. The report also provided an update on the 
progress of those projects currently forming part of the Learning Places 
Programme and the Social, Emotional & Mental Health (SEMH) Programme; 
and sought approval for further authority to spend, and also to reset the 
capital risk fund. 

In presenting the report, the Executive Member for Children and Families 
highlighted the overall deficit in funding which existed in this area.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That ‘Authority to Spend’ on the Learning Places Programme for the 

ten schemes, as detailed within the submitted report, at a total value of 
£40.5m, be approved;

(b) That approval be given for the balance of the programme capital risk 
fund to be reset from £4.068m to £6.7m, in order to facilitate effective 
risk management at programme level, whilst approval also be given for 
the ‘Authority to Spend’ on the increase of £2.632m;

(c) That it be noted that Children’s Services Projects in 2014 onwards and 
called off through YORbuild have supported 69 new and existing 
apprentices and 92 people into employment;

(d) That the projected funding deficit which currently stands at £84.6m, 
based on Education Funding Agency rates, be noted, with Members 

Page 155



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 8th February, 2017

also noting that this is likely to increase due to a number of factors, as 
set out within the submitted report;

(e) That it be noted that in the current reporting period there has been one 
request to access the programme capital risk fund for Hovingham 
Primary School, totalling £287,868, which was approved in accordance 
with the Executive Board governance arrangements;

(f) That it be noted that any savings made from applications on the 
programme capital risk fund are returned to the risk fund in order to 
support continued management of programme risks;

(g) That it be noted that the Head of Learning Systems is responsible for 
capacity and sufficiency planning of school places and delivery of the 
Bulge Cohort programme, and that the Chief Officer, Projects, 
Programmes & Procurement Unit (PPPU) is responsible for the 
delivery of permanent Learning Places expansion projects once the 
viability and scope has been agreed between the Schools and 
Children’s Services.

COMMUNITIES

128 Consultation outcomes on Local Council Tax Support scheme 2017/18 
Further to Minute No. 16, 22nd June 2016, the Assistant Chief Executive 
(Citizens and Communities) submitted a report providing the Board with 
information to recommend a local Council Tax Support Scheme for adoption 
by Full Council by 31st January 2017, which looked to reflect both the 
consultation feedback received together with the budget position facing the 
Council. In addition, the report also set out a series of scheme options which 
had been considered as part of the process to develop a recommended 
scheme.

The Board thanked the Scrutiny Board (Citizens and Communities) for the 
comprehensive and valued work which it had undertaken as part of the review 
into the Council Tax Support Scheme.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That in considering the work of the Scrutiny Board (Citizens and 

Communities):
(i) the support of the Scrutiny Board (Citizens and Communities) to 

the proposed new changes to the Council Tax Support 
scheme, as presented as part of its review, be 
acknowledged;

(ii) agreement be given to undertake a further review of the new 
Council Tax Support Scheme during the summer of 2018, 
when the number of Universal Credit claimants is expected 
to be more significant in Leeds and the Council will be in a 
good position to gauge the extent to which the new scheme 
is achieving its overall aim;

Page 156



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 8th February, 2017

(iii) agreement be given to explore other potential scheme saving 
options when undertaking a wider review of the new Council 
Tax Support scheme during 2018.

(b) That in considering recommendation 3 of the Scrutiny Board Inquiry 
Report (as detailed at Appendix D to the submitted report), and in 
noting the comments of the Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and 
Communities) in paragraphs 3.14 to 3.18 of the submitted report, 
approval be given not to support the removal of protections for all 
customers on 1 April 2017;

(c) That in taking into account the consultation process undertaken, 
including the work of the Scrutiny Board (Citizens and Communities), 
and in light of the above resolutions, approval be given for the Board to 
recommend to Full Council the adoption of a new Local Council Tax 
Support Scheme that: 

a) Replaces the current Council Tax Support scheme with a Council 
Tax Support that is aligned with Universal credit, as set out in 
appendix B to the submitted report;

b) Moves customers onto the new scheme when they are due to 
transfer to Universal Credit and maintains the current scheme in 
the meantime;

c) Replaces the scheme of automatic protections with a discretionary 
hardship scheme with the exception of customers in receipt of 
Armed Forces Compensation Payments;

d) Moves eligible customers off the scheme of automatic protections 
when they are due to transfer to Universal Credit;

e) Delegates the design and value of the discretionary hardship 
scheme to the Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and 
Communities) with a requirement that the hardship scheme is 
taken to Scrutiny Board;

f) Aligns the treatment of changes in Council Tax Support with the 
treatment of changes in Housing Benefit; and

g) Delegates the development of an operational policy for the 
treatment of fluctuating income to the Assistant Chief Executive 
(Citizens and Communities).

(d) That if Full Council supports the adoption of the proposed scheme, the 
decision will be implemented by the Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens 
and Communities) and will take effect from 1st April 2017, with 
implementation commencing as part of the 2017/18 annual billing 
process in order for the new scheme to be effective from 1st April 
2017.

Page 157



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 8th February, 2017

ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

129 Cutting Carbon Breakthrough Project Annual Report 
Further to Minute No. 109, 16th November 2016, the Director of Environment 
and Housing submitted a report outlining future carbon reduction priorities, 
strategy and targets for the period up to 2030. In addition, the report also 
presented information on the creation of the university-led Leeds Committee 
on Climate Change (LCCC), outlined the progress which the Council had 
made in reducing carbon emissions through the schemes in the Cutting 
Carbon Breakthrough Project and provided some insight into the progress 
made across the city as a whole. Furthermore, the report presented the 
updated Affordable Warmth Strategy 2017-30 for the purposes of adoption.

Responding to a Member’s enquiry, the Board received further information on 
the range of actions that the Council was taking as part of the Cutting Carbon 
Breakthrough Project, with the leading role it played in this field being 
highlighted.

Members also highlighted the importance of collaborative, cross-party working 
in this area and emphasised the importance of effective communications 
processes to accompany the delivery of those initiatives which formed part of 
this breakthrough project. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the Board continue to support the delivery of the carbon reduction 

schemes within Cutting Carbon and Improving Air Quality 
Breakthrough Project, and that the progress made to date in this area, 
be noted;

(b) That approval be given to supplement the city’s Climate Change 
Strategy with an interim target to reduce citywide CO2 emissions by 
60% by 2030 from a 2005 baseline;

(c) That the creation of the university-led Leeds Committee on Climate 
Change be supported, with the Council working with the LCCC and 
partners in order to advise on how the city’s carbon reduction targets 
can be achieved;

(d) That the updated Affordable Warmth Strategy 2017-30, as appended to 
the submitted report, be adopted;

(e) That it be noted that all of the resolutions (above) will be delivered from 
2017 onwards by the Sustainable Energy & Climate Change team, led 
by the Executive Programme Manager, within the Projects, 
Programmes & Procurement Unit.

Page 158



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 8th February, 2017

ECONOMY AND CULTURE

130 Initial Budget Proposals for 2017/18 
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report which sought the Board’s 
agreement to the Council’s initial budget proposals for 2017/18, as detailed 
within the submitted paper.  The report sought approval for those proposals to 
be submitted to Scrutiny and also used as a basis for wider consultation with 
stakeholders.

In presenting the submitted report, the Chair highlighted the scale of the 
financial challenge which the Council continued to face.  It was noted that 
whilst the 2017/18 Local Government Finance Settlement was still to be 
received, the Board received an update on a Government announcement 
regarding proposals to enable local authorities to increase the ‘Adult Social 
Care precept’ from 2% to 3%, and it was noted that all such matters, when 
confirmed, would be taken into consideration when developing the final 
budget proposals, which were scheduled to be submitted to Executive Board 
and Council in February 2017, following the associated consultation exercise. 

RESOLVED – That the initial budget proposals, as set out within the 
submitted report, be agreed, and that approval be given for the proposals to 
be submitted to scrutiny and also used as a basis for wider consultation with 
stakeholders.

(In accordance with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework Procedure
Rules, decisions as to the Council’s budget are reserved to full Council. As 
such, the resolution above is not subject to call in, as the budget is a matter 
that will ultimately be determined by full Council, and the submitted report is in 
compliance with the relevant Procedure Rules as to the publication of initial 
budget proposals two months prior to adoption).

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor Golton 
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the decisions 
referred to within this minute)

DATE OF PUBLICATION: FRIDAY, 16TH DECEMBER 2016

LAST DATE FOR CALL IN 
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS: 5.00 P.M. ON FRIDAY, 23RD DECEMBER 

2016

Page 159



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Minutes - 8 December 2016
	7 Housing Related Matters
	item 7 - Appendix 1-Tenant Involvement Framework Wheel
	item 7 - appendix 2 - Tenant Scrutiny Board TOR and procedure rules

	8 Performance Update
	item 8 - appendix 1 - EH Scrutiny Performance Summary
	item 8 - appendix 2 - EH Scrutiny Performance Summary

	9 Financial Health Monitoring
	item 9 - appendix 1 - Financial Health Monitoring 201617 - Month 7

	10 2017/18 Initial Budget Proposals
	item 10 - appendix A - Initial Budget Proposals for 201718
	6.4.1 The council has operated a voluntary retirement and severance scheme since 2010/11 which has already contributed significantly to the reduction in the workforce of around 2,500 ftes to March 2016, generating savings of £55m per year.
	6.4.2 Following the 2015 spending review the council re-issued a Section 188 notice (notice to collectively consult to avoid redundancies issued under s.188 TULRCA 1992) stating that it is anticipated the council will need to downsize by 1,000 – 2,000...
	6.4.3 Since May 2016, the council has been positively and constructively engaging and working with our trade unions partners.
	6.4.4 The council will continue to strive to avoid compulsory redundancies – through natural turnover, continuing the voluntary early leaver scheme, staff flexibility and continuing the positive working with the trade unions.
	6.4.5 The initial budget proposals provide for an estimated gross reduction up to 800 in staff numbers by 31st March 2018, although there will be some opportunities for recruitment and redeployment, for example in highways, Children’s Services, Civic ...
	7.4 The council’s reserves are relatively low and whilst they afford some flexibility between years, the intention is to increase the level of general reserve in the medium-term, as reflected in the financial strategy.
	13. Recommendations
	IBP 2017-18 Appendix 1.pdf
	Appendix 1

	IBP 2017-18 Appendix 2.pdf
	Adults
	Children's
	City Dev
	E&H updated 1.12 
	S&R
	C&C
	CEL
	Public Health



	11 Work Schedule
	item 11 - appendix 1 - E&H work schedule
	item 11 - appendix 2 - Printed minutes 14th-Dec-2016 13.00 Executive Board




